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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERBE

Song Qing K&
Chairman E5 &

Dear Shareholders, ZIRRE :

In 2024, the medical industry faced with significant challenges 2024 fEE ¥ @ 155 FMEN « 1TEMERDE -
such as intensifying regional competition, accelerating industry BRI ELEITHEE AE ) EBHREE
differentiation and the reform of medical insurance payment. 4&Z0OEEIER » UEHELEIE £EE(LE
Focusing on the building of core capabilities and taking & &HF > BEE GERIH ZTEH > B
professional management and group operations as the key T A& MGEEZOBEIBIR ©

levers, China Resources Medical achieved further improvement

in operational efficiency and core competencies by optimizing

structure, strengthening internal competencies, and tapping

potential.
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With the introduction of convenience out-patient business and
improvement of medical environments, the Group increased
the number of conventional out-patient visits to 10.32
million, representing a year-on-year growth of 1.9%. Through
strengthened regional integration, optimized processes for
seeking medical treatment, and enhanced discipline technology
and service quality, the Group increased the number of in-
patient visits to 0.56 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 1.0%. However, average per-visit costs declined due
to medical insurance cost controls. In 2024, the Group achieved
operating revenue of RMB9.855 billion, a year-on-year decrease
of 2.56%. The net profit attributable to the parent amounted to
RMB566 million, a year-on-year increase of 119.6%. The Group
proposed to distribute a dividend of RMBO0.132 per share in
2024 as a return to shareholders. Among which, an interim
dividend of RMBO0.05 per share has already been distributed,
and a final dividend of RMBO0.082 per share is to be proposed.

In 2024, China Resources Medical achieved positive
results in hospital construction, discipline construction, and
patient services. Firstly, we made breakthroughs in hospital
construction. In November 2024, Xuzhou Mining Hospital
was accredited as Xuzhou Hospital of Integrated Traditional
Chinese and Western Medicine. By the end of 2024, Beijing
Jian Gong Hospital underwent accreditation for Grade Ill
A for integrated traditional Chinese and Western medicine
hospitals, and was officially accredited as a Grade Il A hospital
for integrated traditional Chinese and Western medicine in
February 2025. Secondly, we made advancements in discipline
construction. In 2024, the Group achieved the addition of 10
provincial key specialties, 15 municipal key specialties, and
26 national-level centralized certification projects. By the end
of 2024, China Resources Medical had a total of 42 provincial
key specialties and 104 municipal key specialties. Thirdly, we
reached high standards in patient services. Member institutions
participating in the 2024 National Performance Evaluation saw
out-patient satisfaction rise by 1.4 percentage points and in-
patient satisfaction by 2.5 percentage points, both achieving full
marks in respective categories. Fourthly, we accelerated smart
hospital construction. Fushun Mining Bureau General Hospital
passed the accreditation for National Electronic Health Records
— Level 5, ranking among the top 10% nationally. Wugang
Hospital, Huaibei Miner General Hospital, and Beijing Jian Gong

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EERBE

AEFBIBIGFES B  ASHBRIES
B BRFAZENREE1028 AKX H
B2 E1.9% ; BiEsR b @I —fs{b &% -
BLERERRE  BABZRHNENERBEES
B ERERAEEEB AR BILLLIEE
1.0%; BESBREEFE XHERAM
TR% 02024 FAEBEIRE E WA 98.551F
7t B THE25% ; BIRE %) H5.66
B FELEEE119.6% c KEE2024FF
RN IR ARE0.132;cRERFHRRE » H
o AR EBEIREARK0.05 TR K
IR R E AR 0.082 7T, 8% ©

2024 FEHEBBEITERES  2RESL 2
ERBELIEDIRETHRIBERE - —2 8Bk
FRERENIS IR 0 2024FE 11 8 HMNEE LB
Pt AR RN PR B A4S S BE Pe 0 2024 FF[RIE R
MmEZBRIRTABAESBR=-FTE
WH 2025 F 2 A ENEMARA=FHHE
HEEEk o —EBRREREGEY » 2024F
REBEFIEERELHER10E s TREHKE
L1518 > FrIGE xR 4Rk OB R 58 2618 ©
FOUFK EHEBELALEMER42
B> mEHER104E =2 EERFBEES
=R 202024 F TH =) B B B EH
BoEMYREERAI14ER DM F6
MERERA25EE DR HEINBIERD
ZHE o [N IR BB © 2024 FFHETE
MERBBERE FRERLREFTSE
B2ER110% o Hif488&0r « HILIE T 488
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEREBS

Hospital passed Tier-4 accreditation for Healthcare Information
Interoperability. Fifthly, we enhanced brand influence. In 2024,
China Resources Medical was ranked 24th in the “China Top
100 ESG Pioneers” list and remained the top one in the health
and social work sector. Sixthly, we resolved historical issues. In
2024, Huaiyin Hospital ceased operations, and won the breach-
of-contract lawsuit against Yanhua, recovering RMB209 million
in February 2025 through court enforcement.

On behalf of the Board of China Resources Medical, | would like
to express my sincere gratitude to all shareholders, partners,
and employees. Thanks to your long-term trust and steadfast
support, we have taken solid strides in building a healthcare
operation model with unique China Resources characteristics
and advancing toward becoming a leading healthcare group in
China.

In 2025, by upholding the pivotal management theme of
“deepening structural reforms and continuously improving
quality and efficiency”, the Group will stabilize existing
operations while expanding new ones, continue to strengthen
its core competencies including discipline construction, patient
services, operational management, organizational talents, and
digital intelligence, and strive to develop a medical operation
model with unique China Resources characteristics through
professional management and group operations.

oIt RTmREEBREIRERBEERE
BUNFAYE - ARIETT MR ET] » 2024 F
EHEBRAEPEESG EHAFL#E100]
BEF24M BEMEBEENMHEEITHFTES
— o NERRELIEBEREE > 2024 FNHERE
BiiRIL&E  FTRACENBEFRRLR
20254 2 BWEERERITRA R 2.09 87T ©

Fit REAXRERBREFTEORIUKR
R GEBHURERE THRUSRHENRK
H o FENARNEMEEMNRESFF » &
MRATEARERFaNBEREGRA - 2
REABFTHNBFRERERBL TEEDX -

2025 FEHBEREZE RCERIE
BROAEMNFAREETE REE -
e EENER BERD EBEEEE-
EBAS - BRCEZOENBR EFES
1 BEEXECEE - EEBCES  TEH
EHRENBREBEERI -
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In 2025, China Resources Medical will further leverage its
value as a state-owned medical group to achieve high-quality
development, and give full play to the synergistic value of
China Resource’s big health sector to deliver both social and
economic benefits. Additionally, the Group will continue to fulfill
its social responsibilities, strengthen market value management,
and convey the investment value of China Resources Medical,
providing solid performance to repay the trust and support of all
shareholders.

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited
SONG Qing
Chairman

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EERBE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEF A

Business review

In 2024, the medical industry faced significant challenges such
as intensifying regional competition, accelerating industry
differentiation and the reform of medical insurance payment.
Adhering to the annual management theme of “expediting
structural reforms and continuously improving efficiency”,
the Group vigorously strengthened the building of its core
capabilities and created a medical operation model with the
characteristics of China Resources, in a bid to strive for lasting
stability amidst ever-changing competitive landscape of the
industry.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s member hospitals
actively assessed and analyzed risks and challenges to
overcome the impacts of external environment, such as the
reform of medical insurance payment and intensifying regional
competition, and continued to improve their medical service
capabilities to continuously enhance their competitiveness in
the region. In 2024, the number of out-patient visits and in-
patient visits of the Group’s self-owned hospitals increased by
1.3% and 1.0% year-on-year, respectively.

The consolidated revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period
amounted to RMB9.855 billion (FY2023: RMB10.108 billion),
and the consolidated net profit of the Group for the Reporting
Period amounted to RMB672 million (FY2023: RMB328 million).
Earnings per share of the Company amounted to RMBO0.45
(FY2023: RMB0.20).

Scale of our operation

As of December 31, 2024, the Group managed and operated a
total of 105 medical institutions in 10 provinces and cities in the
PRC. During the Reporting Period, the number of conventional
out-patient visits and in-patient visits of self-owned hospitals
were approximately 10,320,000 and 560,000, respectively,
representing the respective year-on-year increase of 1.9% and
1.0%.

750l B8

2024 FBBRTEEBEEREHRIME ~17F
MEDE s BRI LEFERKSE > %
BB UINRG B R - R NF
EEEXE BMOENER  TERAR
EHRENBREZSREN » NRETEEE
NITERFBRTITREE -

WEHA > AEEE T EBEARRHT A E
BB > RARE RSO E S R R FE A
FHNEPIRIRHE > FERABRIRBES
TEE R B BRI PAIFRFE /] 0 2024 5F
AEEBR BRIPIZ ARRERARD A
ELEIER1.3% M 1.0% o

REBRSHHERGEAEEBARE
98.5518 7T (2023 FHMHBFE : AR
101.081270) > MRS HAEB TS FFH
ABARIE6. 72T Q023FEHHEE: AR
% 3.281&7) EBRAEF AR 0.457T (2023
FHHFEE | AR¥0.207T) °

REHIR

EHZE2024F 128310 ZEBEFE101E
Z -MHEBEE 106 REEEE - NIRE
B AEEBEERERZBEMZEMNE
2N R4 41,0328 AXME68 AR
BB AEFRHAIER1.9% 5 1.0%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEREmANN

List of Medical Institutions under the Group’s ZAEEESESEREBEEIBESOMHR
Management and Operation

Grade |

Hospitals Clinics &

and Other

Grade Il Grade Il Community Medical

Hospitals Hospitals Centres  Institutions

—RBRE  PRREM

Province/City &1/ H =4 Bz B BEkE
Beijing IR 2 7 8 20
Liaoning EE 5 11 9 5 30
Jiangxi L 1 3 4 3 1
Shandong WE - 1 1 3 5
Shanxi L7 = 1 - - 1
Jiangsu LB - 1 = = 1
Anhui ZH# 1 1 16 2 20
Hubei 3k 2 - 3 6 1
Guangdong BR 1 1 = 2 4
Guangxi i - 1 1 = 2
Total At 13 22 41 29 105

Note: Wit :

(1 The hospital grading system in Chinese Mainland is a review system ) RN ERNERE D E2DEAREINREET
implemented by the health administrative departments of the People's HEENETHE BN R R ENTES
Republic of China for medical institutions within their administrative jurisdiction, B A THERSENEZIEE . BRTRET=
including the criteria for reviewing hospital qualifications. Currently, China REERFER SRR EABRERESE ) A
operates a three-tier medical service system; Grade Ill hospitals, as high-quality BN ERNRSEE R o

medical resources, represent the highest level of medical qualifications in
Chinese Mainland.

ENREERERAT T RS 13 ‘



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENmEAS
Operating data for Year 2024 2024 FEESIE
Number of patients Revenue from medical business (RMB'000)
BEEHWA (NRET )
Revenue ~ Revenue  Revenue
Number of  Utilization from from from
beds in rateof  Numberof ~Numberof out-patient  in-patient physical
operation beds outpatients  in-patients visits visits  examination
EERE RUEBE MZAR fRAR  BZWA  dREA BREA
Self-owned Hospitals BEER 18,567 829% 10,325,639 560,149 3,664597 5293544 226,819 9,184,960
Operating data for Year 2023 2023 FEEIE
Number of patients Revenue from medical business (RMB'000)
DBEAR BREHWA (ARETT)
Revenue  Revenue  Revenue
Number of  Utilization from from from
beds in rateof Numberof Numberof out-patient  in-patient physical
operation beds out-patients  in-patients visits visits ~ examination
EERE RUEBE MZAR #RAR  BZWA  dREA  BREA
Self-owned Hospitals BEER 18,617 837% 10191416  B54547 3706247 5473459 226447 9,406,153
Note: 5t

(1) In respect of the operating data statistics, the abovementioned self-owned (1 MEEHBERAEN > L EBRAIEAERZ
hospitals refer to all consolidated hospitals. FrA KRB o

> 14 China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2024



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEREmANN

Financial data BT TS5 2B
The table below sets out the key financial figures of the Group  FREVIFAREE R EBEIZERLER 2 DN
by business segments for the specific years: RERE IS E R
2024 2023 Year-on-Year Change
20245 20235 FILL&1E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 Percentage
ARETT AR®TR ARETR B
Hospital Business'" BRER
Revenue EXE 9,184,960 9,406,153 -221,193 -24%
— Revenue from out-patient visits ~ — PIZEFEIA 3,891,416 3,932,694 -41,278 -1.0%
— Revenue from in-patient visits — ERRER A 5,293,544 5,473,459 -179,915 -3.3%
Segment gross profit DEEF 1,653,299 1,734,835 -81,536 -4.7%
Segment results DEEE 766,245 637,978 128,267 20.1%
Other Business®? HitZEH%
Revenue SEB 669,830 701,347 -31,517 -45%
Segment gross profit DEEF 156,527 171,002 -14,475 -85%
Segment results DEEE 240,533 235,868 4,665 2.0%
Total L
Revenue B2 9,854,790 10,107,500 -252,710 -2.5%
Segment gross profit DEEF 1,809,826 1,905,837 -96,011 -5.0%
Segment results DEpEE 1,006,778 873,846 132,932 15.2%
Notes: B .

(1 Hospital business includes: out-patient business and in-patient business (1) BIREKBE  BBEERNPIZEB RERER -
corresponding to self-owned hospitals.

(2) Other business includes: operation management services, supply chain 2) HMEKBE  m2REBHREKIOT (BIRE — B —

services and other services provided to participating hospitals and 10T (the BRER) /0T (AIEE — BXER) BirigitiES
“invest-operate-transfer” model)/OT (the “operate-transfer” model) hospitals. BIRRE ~ (HIEEARE M EMARTS - B E 2024512
As at December 31, 2024, |OT hospitals include Mentougou Traditional B31H  IOTERBEMBEEEPERKIIEERRE
Chinese Medicine Hospital and Mentougou Healthcare Hospital for Women MIRIERT ©

and Children.

SHBRINERAR —SoNEEES 15 ‘



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERED N

Hospital Business

During the Reporting Period, the revenue of the hospital
business segment was RMB9,185 million, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 2.4%. Among which the indicators
of number of visits both increased, with out-patient visits
increased by 1.3% and in-patient visits increased by 1.0%.
Affected by the medical insurance cost control, the revenue per
out-patient visit and the revenue per in-patient visit decreased
by 2.4% and 4.3%, respectively.

During the Reporting Period, we made efforts to reduce the
impact of the decline in revenue per visit on the hospital
business'’s profit through improving quality and efficiency. The
gross profit of the hospital business segment was RMB1,653
million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 4.7%, with a
gross profit margin of 18.0%; the profit of the hospital business
segment recorded RMB766 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 20.1%. The increase was mainly due to the losses
relating to Huaiyin Hospital decreased year-on-year.

Other Business

During the Reporting Period, the revenue of other business
was RMB670 million, representing a year-on-year decrease
of 4.5%, mainly due to restructuring of supply chain services,
and the segment profit of other business was RMB241 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 2.0%, mainly due to the
recovery of a portion of receivables from 0T hospitals.

Significant Investments and Material
Acquisitions and Disposals

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and
Disposals, and Investments in Joint Venture(s)
and Associate(s)

The Board considers any single investment with fair value
accounting for more than 5% of the total assets of the Group
as significant investment. Save as disclosed in the sections
headed “Investments in Associates — JR Renkang & JR
Holdings” of this report, the Group did not have any significant
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures during the Reporting Period.

L ES

RSN BiREFDEEXBSARE
91851870 > BIEE T £2.4% « Hh» AR5
BBRER PIZARERI3% £k
ARIBR10%  RBREETE > PIZH
ERRRIIUA D B TFE2.4% F 4.3% °

RIEAA > B HBBREEMFERRT
WATHESBREZNENZE  BixX
HBREBEMBARBE16631R7T > AL TE
4.7% > EFEK18.0% ; BIREHDEEELD
SAREE766127T > FELIRIN20.1% » #B 0
2RI ER BB RRRER B LR o

HithZ2 %5

REEHA > EthEBEXEARE6.70E
70> AILE N PE4.5% > T BRI 14 FE 3 AR 75
EERE > DBEEAARE 2418 B
EEEFF2.0% » ZE2RICAHUR[EIER D 10T E

TR ©

EARERERRBMEE

EARE-WBEBNHE  RILEGE

RERMEATNRE

EFEREMNAABEEEIERBEESY
NENBBERESRBRARE -8 E20245F
128318 BARS MBMELAT BT
BERBERZBRE EHEREEN &
EERNBSHANLEEAERNBEAS - B
EANRHEGEEENBEANBREE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Investments in Associates — JR Renkang & JR
Holdings

On June 28, 2020, the Group entered into a restructuring
agreement regarding the establishment of two associates with
Jing Mei Group, pursuant to which Beijing Jing Run Renkang
Holdings Co., Ltd. (“JR Holdings") and Beijing Jing Run
Renkang Hospital Management Co., Ltd. (“JR Renkang”) were
established and held by the Group and the Jing Mei Group as to
49% and 51%, respectively. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated June 28, 2020 for further details of the
aforesaid transaction.

As at December 31, 2024, JR Holdings and JR Renkang were
associates of the Group. Pursuant to the relevant arrangements
under the abovementioned agreement, JR Holdings has been
the sponsor of Jing Mei Hospital Group and JR Renkang has
been providing hospital management services to the Jing Mei
Hospital Group. The Group’s investment costs in JR Holdings
and JR Renkang amounted to RMB874 million and RMB2.45
million, respectively. As at December 31, 2024, the Group holds
a 49% equity interest in each of JR Holdings and JR Renkang,
with a carrying amount of investment of RMB925 million and
RMB62.62 million, respectively, representing approximately
7.4% of the total assets of the Group in total.

During the Reporting Period, JR Holdings and JR Renkang
achieved a revenue of RMB373 million in aggregate, resulting
in a combined net profit of RMB200 million. The net profit
of JR Holdings and JR Renkang attributing to the Group was
RMB98.01 million and the Group has not received RMB87.35
million FY2023 dividend in total distributed by JR Holdings and
JR Renkang.

During 2024, the Jing Mei Hospital Group was the leading
hospitals in Mentougou district and one of the core medical
institutions in the western region of Beijing, and its profitability
remained stable compared to the previous year, and its
operational performance continued to be satisfactory. The
Group believes that the investment in JR Holdings and JR
Renkang, as well as the cooperation with the Jing Mei Group,
fully leverages the respective strengths of the Jing Mei Group
and the Group, and the current cooperation model represents a
deepened cooperation based on the original cooperation, and it
is expected that the relevant investment will be maintained.

BEE AN

REE AT — RECERRBE
RZIKE

22020565280 AEEEFTIEEE
RIImEBE AR L EMRARE ERH
B TIERFBECEZERERAR (TR
HER) RIERR B CREREESREAT
(THHECE) UTHAEERREEESD
AIFHEA49% X51% - F2RALNEIHEA
2020F6 B 28H 2 A S U T HRAERBAI 3T
SHE— T FE o

HZE2024F 128310 mEERKEFBC
BREAREBZHE AT B LltiHE
HEAZH > REERAREERER £
AN RBECRIBREERERREERE
BR - AEBH RBERERBECENK
BERADR A ARKES74ETR AR 245
Bt MEZE2024F 128310 XEEFF
BrEEREFELCESB49% KE » M%
EREZIRAMEDNAAREI2EITRA
Ri&620628m I EAEEREELEE
2T 4%

WEAR EERERBCEaR KRGS
ARBI73ET 6HEEFNEAARE
200870 AEEEEZENTBEIZERKETHE
CENEEFMNBHEHEAAREI801 8T
AEBBHRWETEZERERBCEIRE
2023 FHMHFEEREHST ARES 7308 T ©

2024 RIRBEBAPIREER 25
BEELR CERAMENZOBREEZ
— HABRER M BEN —FALLRT
SE KEBRERRY - EERAER
BERAFBCENRE  UWREREER
ZERARDEERREERRFERZEEZ
B8 BN aFREARRAESFZ LHE
—TREEF > LA ARNRERER

EHRRERARAR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERED N

Future Plans for Material Investment or Capital
Assets

As at the date of this report, there are currently no concrete
plans to acquire any material investment or capital assets
other than those conducted in the Group’s ordinary course of
business.

Administrative and other operating expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group's administrative
and other operating expenses totaled RMB1,049 million,
representing an increase of 8.0% year-on-year. The increase
was mainly due to the depreciation and amortization and
technical service expenses generated by hardware and
software upgrades and renovations to improve the medical
services quality and optimize the patient visit environment.

Finance Costs

During the Reporting Period, the finance costs of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB75.28 million (Corresponding
Period: approximately RMB131.84 million), decreased by 42.9%
year-on-year. The decrease in the finance costs was in line with
optimisation of the financing structure, replacement of foreign
currency bank borrowings with RMB bank borrowings, with
reduced bank borrowings interest rates.

Income tax

During the Reporting Period, the Group's income tax amounted
to approximately RMB167 million (Corresponding Period:
approximately RMB165 million), increased by 1.1% year-on-
year.

Net profit

During the Reporting Period, the Group’'s net profit was
RMB672 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
104.9%. The increase was mainly due to the impairment losses
relating to Huaiyin Hospital which reduced the net profit of the
Group by RMB447 million during 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity and Financing

We adopt a prudent treasury management policy to maintain
a solid and healthy financial position. The Group funds its
operations principally from cash generated from its operations
and also bank facilities. Its cash needs relate primarily to
operating activities, business expansion, repayment of liabilities
as they become due, capital expenditures, interest and dividend
payments.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s consolidated bank
balances and cash, certificate of deposit and bank financial
products amounted to approximately RMB1.054 billion in total
(December 31, 2023: approximately RMB1.280 billion) which
were primarily in RMB.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had obtained offshore
revolving term loan facility of HK$3.40 billion (or its equivalent
in U.S. dollar or Renminbi). Among them, HK$2.60 billion is
of a term of one year which shall be automatically renewed
if the relevant bank does not notify otherwise. In addition,
the Group has also obtained from banks onshore facilities of
RMB5.86 billion. As at December 31, 2024, the Group had
bank borrowings of RMB1.436 billion. Among them, RMB1.435
billion was interest-bearing bank loans and RMB1.391 million
was financial discount bank loans. (As at December 31, 2023:
the Group had bank borrowings of RMB2.16 billion, among
them, RMB2.12 billion was interest-bearing bank loans and
RMB40 million was financial discount bank loans). Among all
the bank borrowings, RMBO0.69 billion was of fixed interest
rates, and unutilized bank facilities amounted to HK$3.40 billion
and RMB4.39 billion (equivalent to approximately RMB7.54
billion in total).

As at December 31, 2024, on the basis of interest-bearing
liabilities divided by total assets, the Group’s gearing ratio
was 10.8% (December 31, 2023: 15.8%). In addition, the
carrying value of each of our wealth management products as
at December 31, 2024 did not exceed 5% of the Group's total
asset value.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERED N

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rates and
Other Risks

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not undertake
operating transactions in foreign currencies, and all of the
Group's bank borrowings are denominated in RMB.

The Group has not used any financial instrument to hedge
against its exposure to currency risk. The management
manages the currency risk by closely monitoring the movement
of the foreign currency rates and considers hedging against
significant foreign exchange exposure should such need arise.

The Group is also exposed to risk of talent shortage, so we
have been taking an active approach to attract, train and retain
sufficient qualified doctors, management personnel and other
medical staff members, or else the business of hospitals
affiliated to the Group would be affected to some degree.
Please refer to the paragraph headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Employees and Remuneration Policy” of this
report for those measures mentioned above.

The Group also recognise that our relationship with patients
and partners is key to the resilient development of the Group.
We strive to provide qualified services and medical staffs
with extensive experiences to our patients. By leveraging on
sophisticated medical skills and equipment, we try our best
to cater to our patients’ needs for medical treatments. We
also cooperate with our partners to achieve the sustainable
development of our business.

Contingent Liabilities

As at December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any
contingent liabilities or guarantees that would have a material
impact on the financial position or operations of the Group.

Pledge of Assets

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any material
pledge of assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Subsequent Event(s)

Regarding the litigation filed by the Company against the
Yanhua Parties in September 2022, on December 27, 2024,
the Beijing High People’s Court ruled to allow the Yan Hua
Parties to withdraw its appeal and handed down the final
judgment upholding the original judgment. On February 20,
2025, the Company has received the enforcement payment
of RMB209.48 million transferred by the court. Regarding the
payment received as a result of the aforementioned judgment,
the Company will further consider the overall circumstances
and consult with professional advisors to determine the
appropriate accounting treatment. Such amount may or may not
be recognized as other income of the Company in full. For more
details, please refer to the section “Yan Hua IOT Agreement
Dispute” under the section “Directors’ Report” to this report
and the announcement of the Company dated February 21,
2025.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other significant
subsequent events that occurred after December 31, 2024
which may have material impact on the performance and the
value of the Group.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had a total of 19,953 full-
time employees (December 31, 2023: 20,172 employees).
For FY2024, the staff cost (including Directors’ remuneration
in the form of salaries and other benefits) was approximately
RMB3,470 million (FY2023: RMB3,406 million).

The Group ensured that the remuneration packages of
employees remain competitive and the remuneration level of
its employees was determined on the basis of performance
with reference to the profitability of the Group, industry
remuneration standards and market conditions within the
general framework of the Group’s remuneration system. The
Group has also adopted the Share Award Scheme so as to
provide incentives or rewards to eligible participants for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Company and/or any
of its subsidiaries. The Share Award Scheme expired on July 6,
2024. As at December 31, 2024, the Group does not have any
other share scheme.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERED N

In Hong Kong, the Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
"MPF Scheme") under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government
(together with the MPF Scheme, the "Defined Contribution
Schemes”). These subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme. The Group’s employer
contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes vest fully
and immediately with the employees when contributed into
the schemes. Accordingly, (i) for each of the two years ended
December 31, 2024, there was no forfeiture of contributions
under the Defined Contribution Schemes; and (ii) there were
no forfeited contributions available for the Group to reduce
its existing level of contributions to the Defined Contribution
Schemes as at December 31, 2024.

Other Information

For the latest developments of the Yan Hua IOT Agreement
Dispute, please refer to the paragraph headed “Yan Hua 10T
Agreement Dispute” under the section “Directors’ Report” to
this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Future Outlook

In 2025, the Group will continue to strengthen its core
competencies including discipline construction, patient services,
group operations, organizational talents, and digital intelligence.
In terms of strategic planning, the Group will take discipline
development as the core and patient services as a key lever,
and forge sustainable development capabilities through group
operations. As for regional planning, the Group will formulate
targeted discipline plans and development strategies based
on regional patient needs, the competitive environment, and
its own development stage. Regarding the improvement of
medical technology and patient service capabilities, the Group
will promote effective resource matching and continuous
investment based on clear planning. The Group will strengthen
refined management and solidify operational quality, so as to
establish a closed-loop operation system that encompasses
planning, operational planning, budgeting, assessment, and
analysis. This will ensure that hospital planning is effectively
implemented and achieve an organic integration of disciplines,
patient services, and operations. Furthermore, the Group will
deepen the construction of digital intelligence systems in
hospitals. The headquarters will coordinate the construction
and transformation of smart hospitals, artificial intelligence, data
applications, information technology application innovation and
security, and integrate the requirements for regional and group
management into its efforts on digital intelligence construction.

The year 2025 marks the conclusion of the “14th Five-Year
Plan” and the planning phase for the “15th Five-Year Plan”.
By upholding the annual management theme of “deepening
structural reforms and continuously improving quality and
efficiency”, the Group will stabilize existing operations while
expanding new ones, and strive to develop a medical operation
model with a unique China Resources characteristics as soon
as possible through professional management and group
operations.
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The Directors are pleased to present this report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2024.

Principal Business

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
mainly engaged in (i) provision of general healthcare services;
(i) provision of hospital management services, and sale of
pharmaceuticals, medical devices and medical consumables
and provision of other services to such hospitals in Chinese
Mainland. Details of the principal activities of the Company's
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group and a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties being faced by the Group,
as well as the business outlook of the Group (including key
performance indicators of future development of the Group)
are provided in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 12 to 23 of this annual report.

A discussion and analysis of the Group's performance for
the year ended December 31, 2024 and the material factors
underlying its results and financial position are provided in
the paragraph headed “Business Review” under the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12
to 23 of this annual report.

Significant events affecting the Group that have occurred since
the end of the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
Directors’ Report, if any, are set out in the paragraph headed
"Subsequent Event(s)” on page 21 of this annual report.

Relevant discussion set out in this annual report as mentioned
above forms part of this Directors’ Report.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group recognizes
the importance of good environmental stewardship. In this
connection, the Group has strictly adopted and implemented
policies and procedures to conduct environmental protection
work on a standard which is not less stringent than the
prevailing environmental laws and regulations of the PRC.
We believe that we were in compliance with all relevant PRC
laws and regulations regarding environmental protection in
all material respects during the year ended December 31,
2024 and as at the date of this Directors’ Report. No material
environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or administrative
sanctions were reported to our management.

The Group has formulated the “Hazardous Substances Safety
Management Plan” and the “Medical Waste Management
System” (B2 B EE¥) & IR 4 ) for all hospitals according to the
relevant requirements of the “Environmental Protection Law
of the People’'s Republic of China”. The above systems focus
on the management of hazardous substances (containing
hazardous chemicals and medical waste), including storage
location, container labelling, protection, leakage handling and
disposal in use. Hospitals conduct supervisions and inspections
mainly on storage and labelling on hazardous chemicals and
conclude the analysis results on a quarterly basis. As required
by the "Energy Conservation Law of the People’'s Republic of
China”, Environmental Protection Law of the People's Republic
of China and Supervision and Management Measures on
Energy Conservation and Ecological Environmental Protection
of Central Enterprises (P R1E =ML R A4 REIRIZ(ReEER
BEEBHE), the Group formulated the “Energy Conservation,
Emission Reduction and Environmental Protection Management
System”, which focuses on guiding and supervising hospitals
to implement their main responsibilities, standardizing the
management of energy conservation and eco-environmental
protection, and promoting the green and high-quality
development of hospitals. The Group monitors the outcome of
such policies upon their implementation, so as to ensure the
effective implementation of the above policies.
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Meanwhile, the Group has formulated the “Utilities Safety
Management Plan”, “Safety and Protection Management
Plan” and “Medical Technology Safety Management Plan”,
and passed the "Facility Safety Management Plan” to ensure
the effective implementation of the above plans. The Group
has formulated the “Radiation Safety Management Plan”
and “Radiation Emergency Plan”,
management of radiation safety and specifies the requirements
on all radiation equipment, protection and radiation-related
waste treatment. Every year, qualified testing and rating

which focuses on the

agencies are engaged to monitor the radiation level of all
radiological equipment and workplaces in the hospitals.
Moreover, the hospitals carry out drills against contingencies
and evaluate and conclude the responsiveness.

The Company’s environmental, social and governance report
will be published on the same day as this report, which contains
details of the Group's environmental, social and governance
measures.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
as at the date of this Directors’ Report, the Group has complied
in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group.

Relationship with Stakeholders

The Group is committed to operating in a sustainable manner
while balancing the interests of our various stakeholders
including our Substantial Shareholders, employees, patients,
customers, suppliers, business partners and the community.

An account of the Group's relationship with its Substantial
Shareholders is included in the “Interests of Substantial
Shareholders and Interests and Short Positions of Substantial
Shareholders and Other Persons in Shares and Underlying
Shares Other Persons in Shares and Underlying Shares” set out
on pages 41 to 42 of this annual report.
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The Group considers its employees as the key to sustainable
business growth. We are committed to providing all employees
a safe and harassment-free working environment with
equal opportunities in relation to employment, remuneration
management, training and career development. This
commitment is incorporated in our Corporate Responsibility
Policy and Employment Policy. Workplace safety is a priority
of the Group that, with due awareness of all employees
throughout the year, the Group was able to maintain a high
standard of health and safety measures in all company
activities. We have in place a fair and effective performance
appraisal system and incentive bonus schemes that are
designed to motivate and reward employees at all levels, which
helps to deliver their best performance and achieve business
performance targets. For talent acquisition and continuous
development, the Group offers training programs as well
as leadership and talent development programs for talents
with different academic backgrounds. The Group believes
that direct and effective communication is essential for good
partnership built-up between management and employees. The
Group holds regular meetings and forums to brief employees
on Company developments and obtain their feedbacks and
suggestions.

As a patient-oriented healthcare services provider, we consider
patients as one of the most important stakeholders. We are
committed to serving our patients to the best of our ability
and continually enhancing the level of service excellence. The
Group has embraced new media platforms as an effective
communication channel with our patients to collect feedbacks
and help us identify areas for further improvement.

The Group is committed to upholding the highest ethical
and professional standards when dealing with suppliers and
contractors. To integrate CSR principles throughout our group
purchasing organization business, the Group has implemented
the Group Purchasing Policy and Principles, and a Supplier
Code of Conduct to facilitate a common means whereby we
can better communicate with our business partners regarding
their compliance with local regulations governing labor, health
and safety, and the environment. In order to have a better and
close monitoring of supplier performance, our procurement
department conduct supplier performance review annually
targeting our major suppliers and contractors, and will
communicate with the suppliers that have unsatisfactory rating
for rectification or improvements.
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Results and Final Dividends

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages
110 to 111 of this annual report.

The Board proposes to pay a final dividend of RMB8.2 cents
per Share for FY2024 (“2024 Final Dividend”) (FY2023: final
dividend RMB6 cents per Share). The proposed 2024 Final
Dividend will be payable to Shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Thursday,
June 12, 2025. Based on the number of Shares in issue of
the Company as of December 31, 2024, the total amount of
dividend for 2024 is approximately RMB171 million, among
which, RMB65 million was paid as interim dividend and
RMB106 million is proposed to be paid as final dividend.
Subject to the approval by Shareholders at the annual general
meeting to be held on Thursday, June 5, 2025, it is expected
that the 2024 Final Dividend will be distributed on or before
Monday, July 21, 2025. The proposed 2024 Final Dividend will
be payable in cash to each Shareholder in HK$ at the average
benchmark exchange rate of RMB to HK$ as published by the
People’'s Bank of China during the five business days ending on
Thursday, June 5, 2025 (inclusive), being the date of the annual
general meeting, unless an election is made to receive the
same in RMB. Shareholders will be given the option to elect to
receive all (but not part) of the 2024 Final Dividend in RMB. To
make such election, Shareholders should complete the dividend
currency election form, which is expected to be despatched
to Shareholders in late June 2025 as soon as practicable after
the record date of Thursday, June 12, 2025 to determine
Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed 2024 Final Dividend,
and return it to the Company's branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, July 8, 2025.
Shareholders who are minded to elect to receive all (but not
part) of the 2024 Final Dividend in RMB by cheques should
note that (i) they should ensure that they have an appropriate
bank account to which the RMB cheques for dividend can be
presented for payment; and (ii) there is no assurance that RMB
cheques can be cleared without material handling charges or
delay in Hong Kong or that RMB cheques will be honoured for
payment upon presentation outside Hong Kong. The cheques
are expected to be posted to the relevant Shareholders by
ordinary post on Monday, July 21, 2025 at the Shareholders’
own risk.
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The Group is not aware of any arrangement under which a
Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

Dividend Policy

According to the dividend policy of the Group, subject to
compliance with applicable rules and regulations (including
Cayman lIslands laws) and the Articles of Association, the
Company will pay dividend to the Shareholders when the Group
recorded net profit during the period and payment of dividend
would not affect its normal operation. The Company intends
to share its profits with Shareholders in the form of annual
dividend and the remaining net profits will be used for the
Group's development and operations.

The Company's ability to pay dividends will depend upon,
among other things, the general financial condition of the Group,
the Group's current and future operations, liquidity position and
capital requirement of the Group as well as dividends received
from the Company's subsidiaries. The payment of the dividend
by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the
Cayman Islands laws and the Articles of Association.

The dividend policy will continue to be reviewed from time to
time and there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid
in any particular amount for any given period.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Group for
the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 115 to 116 of this
annual report.
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Distributable Reserves

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for
paying distributions or dividends to Shareholders subject to
the provisions of the Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the distribution or dividend, the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

As at December 31, 2024, the Company’s share premium
amounted to RMB5,433,088,000 (as at December 31, 2023:
RMB5,572,218,000), subject to a solvency test, is available for
distribution to the Shareholders.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in the Group's property, plant and
equipment during the year ended December 31, 2024 are set
out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

Summary Financial Information

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out
on page 244 of this annual report. This summary does not form
part of the audited financial statements.

Borrowings

Details of the borrowings of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save for the Share Award Scheme as set out in the paragraph
headed “Share Award Scheme”
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended December 31, 2024, sales to the
Group’s five largest customers in aggregate accounted for
approximately 5.1% (2023: 6.5%) of the total sales for the year
and sales to the largest customer accounted for approximately
1.5% (2023: 3.0%) of the total sales.

Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 12.1% (2023: 15.7%) of the total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 2.8% (2023: 4.6%) of the total
purchases.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the Directors
nor any of their close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital), had
any direct or indirect interest in the five largest customers or
the five largest suppliers of the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2024.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Articles of Association provides that every Director should
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her
as a Director, in defending any proceedings, whether civil or
criminal, in which judgment is given in his/her favor, or in which
he is acquitted.

The Company maintains a directors’ liability insurance policy
against potential legal liabilities and related expenses that may
be incurred by the Directors in the event of any litigation.
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Directors

The Directors during the year ended December 31, 2024 and up
to the date of this Directors’ Report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. SONG Qing (Chairman)

Mr. YU Hai (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. SHAN Baojie (Vice President)

Ms. YANG Min (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Director
Ms. GE Lu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WU Ting Yuk, Anthony
Mr. KWONG Kwok Kong
Mr. FU Tingmei

Mr. ZHOU Peng

None of the Directors has any financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with one another.

Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior
Management and Disclosure of Information

of Directors Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are set out under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 93
to 101 of this annual report. Save as disclosed, there are no
other changes to the Directors’ information as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Each of the service agreements/letters of appointment of the
Directors can be terminated by either party giving to the other
party not less than one month notice in writing.
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Pursuant to the letters of appointment, each of Mr. WU Ting
Yuk, Anthony, Mr. KWONG Kwok Kong, Mr. FU Tingmei
and Mr. Zhou Peng is entitled to an annual director’s fee of
HK$300,000.

None of our Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has entered into or intends
to enter into a service contract with any member of our Group
which is not terminable by the employer within one year
without payment of compensation (other than the statutory
compensation).

Remuneration of the Directors and Five
Highest Paid Individuals

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals in the Group and remuneration payable
to members of senior management by band are set out in
notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

The remuneration of the Directors and the senior management
is subject to review by the Remuneration Committee and
approval by the Board, such remuneration is determined by
taking into account of the relevant individual’'s experience,
responsibilities, workload and time commitment to the Group
and the operating results of the Group and comparable market
statistics.
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Independence of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors

Each independent non-executive Director should inform
our Company as soon as possible if there is any change of
circumstances which may affect his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. No such notification was
received by the Company during the Reporting Period.

The Company has received annual independence confirmation
from all independent non-executive Directors and confirms that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent and
the conditions pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules have
been fulfilled.

Director’s Interests in Competing Businesses

Mr. SONG Qing is a director and the chairman of the board of
CR Healthcare (the controlling shareholder of the Company);
Mr. YU Hai is a director, vice chairman and the general manager
of CR Healthcare; Mr. SHAN Baojie is the vice general manager
of CR Healthcare; Ms. YANG Min is a director and the chief
financial officer of CR Healthcare; and Ms. GE Lu is an external
director of CR Healthcare. CR Healthcare specializes in health
industry investment and operation management, is one of the
key health service industry platform of China Resources Group.
CR Healthcare is committed to the long-term development of
China’s medical and healthcare services, actively participates
in China’'s medical system reform, and proactively explores
and involves in the investment, operation and management
of hospitals and healthcare industries in the PRC. In addition
to being the single largest shareholder of the Company, CR
Healthcare also operates and manages a number of medical
institutions in certain provinces of China.

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, as of December 31,
2024, none of the Directors or their respective close associates
had engaged in or had any interest in any business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests

and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or its
Associated Corporations

As of December 31, 2024, the interests/short positions of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they are deemed or taken to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) to be entered into the register kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
were as follows:

Interests in Shares of the Company
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Note: This includes also the long positions of the Award Shares, which have been
declared to be granted by the Company to the corresponding Directors on
August 31, 2018 and which has been vested.

Interests in Shares of China Resources Beer
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CR Beer”), an
Associated Corporation of the Company:
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Interests in Shares of China Resources
Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited (“CR
Beverage”), an Associated Corporation of the
Company:

Capacity/

Long position/
short position
"R/ ke

Name of director Nature of interest

ERUF g1/ mtE

Beneficial owner

BmEAA

WU Ting Yuk, Anthony
HAE 8

Long position
wE

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, none of
the Directors or chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were deemed or taken
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

Share Award Scheme

The Company has adopted the Share Award Scheme as a
means to recognise the contribution of and provide incentives
for the key management personnel including Directors and
senior management, employed experts and core employees of
the Group. The Share Award Scheme was valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing from July 7, 2014 (the
“Adoption Date"”) on which the Board adopted the Share
Award Scheme and is administrated by the Board and the
trustee of the Share Award Scheme.
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In order to provide more flexibility in the administration and
implementation of the Share Award Scheme, the Board
resolved on May 25, 2015 to make amendments to the terms
of the Share Award Scheme and the scheme rules, having
retrospective effect from the Adoption Date, to the effect that
the Board may, from time to time, in its absolute discretion,
determine if the Award Shares shall be granted to a Selected
Participant with or without payment of a price per Award Share
payable by the Selected Participant (the “Grant Price”) which
shall be notified by the Board to each Selected Participant. In
determining whether the Selected Participant shall pay a Grant
Price for the Award Shares and the amount of the Grant Price,
as the case may be, the Board shall take into consideration
matters, including but not limited to the Selected Participant’s
position, experience, years of service, performance and
contribution to the Company, its subsidiaries and/or associated
entities. The Grant Price shall be settled according to the
payment schedule determined by the Board.

The Board also resolved on August 31, 2018 to make further
amendments to the terms of the Share Award Scheme to
the effect that the maximum number of the Award Shares,
which have been and to be awarded by the Board throughout
the duration of the scheme, to be revised to 5% of the total
number of issued Shares of the Company as at the date of
the abovementioned resolution (i.e. 64,833,825 Shares),
representing approximately 5.00% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of this annual report, and the
maximum number of the Award Shares to each of the Selected
Participants to be revised to 1% of the total number of issued
Shares as at the date of the abovementioned resolution (i.e.
12,966,765 Shares).

There are no provisions in the scheme rules of the Share Award
Scheme in relation to the amount payable on acquisition of
the Award Shares thereunder and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made or loans for such
purposes must be repaid, which would all be determined by the
Board when the Award Shares were granted.

The Board will implement the Share Award Scheme in
accordance with the scheme rules. Pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme, the Board may from time to time while the
scheme is in force and subject to all applicable laws, determine
such vesting criteria and conditions and vesting periods. The
Company shall comply with the relevant Listing Rules when
granting the Award Shares.
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Since the Adoption Date of Share Award Scheme and up to
December 31, 2024, an aggregate of 32,212,216 Award Shares
have been granted pursuant to the Share Award Scheme
subject to certain vesting criteria and conditions. No Award
Shares were granted under the Share Award Scheme within
FY2024. Details of the interests of the Selected Participants in
the Award Shares are as follows:

HEAUE
RERAUE 1B1AXGE HHEERE

Name of Director EEd 2]
SONG Qing R 400,000 -
WU Ting Yuk, Anthony pihel i 1,500,000 =
Other Grantees EhERA
5 highest paid individuals RAUERHEER 1,260,000 =

during FY2024 BEMEENEE

(excluding any Directors) BA (FaERE

in aggregate £3) (At
Other grantees inaggregate ~ EAERA (42) 15,959,800 =

Notes:

1.

Unvested as at
January 1, 2024

Number of
Award Shares

The Award Shares granted under the Share Award Scheme as set out in the
above table (the “Relevant Award Shares”) were approved by the Board on
August 31, 2018 and were granted pursuant to the relevant agreements that
came into effect in May 2019.

50% of the Relevant Award Shares were acquired by the Selected Participants
at HK$5.27 per Share (which have already been settled pursuant to respective
agreement), and the remaining 50% were granted by the Company to the
Selected Participants at zero consideration.

The Relevant Award Shares were vested during the period from FY2020 to
FY2022. The first batch of Award Shares were vested on the date when the
relevant annual assessment of year 2019 was completed, the second batch of
Award Shares were vested on the date when the relevant annual assessment
of year 2020 was completed, and the remaining portion of Award Shares (i.e.
the third batch) were vested on the date when the relevant annual assessment
of year 2021 was completed.

Upon vesting of the Relevant Award Shares, such Award Shares shall become
wholly beneficially owned by the relevant Selected Participants without
requiring any of them to exercise such Award Shares. As such, no exercise
period is applicable to the unvested Relevant Award Shares under the Share
Award Scheme.

The Share Award Scheme expired on July 6, 2024.

Vested during  Cancelled during

FY2024

120044

BB E WM EE > B E 20245
12A31H  RERMDEBFEI SHEEH
32,212,216 IR LRI » AR ETHBE
HERASFRIR o 7E2024 EBI M EE N » 1 iE
IRIFIRMD BN SHEIIR HAVEE B IR (7 © EES
HAEERBERMGPEREBOT

Number of Award Shares

LB OHE
Closing price of
Award Shares
immediately
before the
relevant vesting
date during FY
2024 (HK$)
2045
AHEERE
58 A EiRa
R flmE
(&7

Unvested as at
December 31,
2024

Lapsed during

FY2024 FY2024

HENUE
128318
A5E

20046
HHEETY

L2004
HHEESH

- - - NA

- - - NA

- - - NA

- - - NA

1. T SRPTEL I AR SR 5T R B BN IR (THERA R
BIBR1R)) » HMHLHER2018E8 B3I N EEESE
BB WWHN2019F5 BEMNBRERZEERE -

2. TR AL RN AR (5 1 50% M JE B 2 B E DS R B ¥ 5.27
THEE ERENRAETMA) > R T50%HA
ABUBERESXNDEESRERT -

3. AERASREN AR 15 2 2020 FE B BN FE E 2022 T T U 2
AT LB - ABRASEE R E DI 2019E £ &
HEEZETEHRB - 5 A EENIRMD 522020
FEEEEEZHTORBE METHE ZHER
BRIA 2021 EEEEEE LT ORE o

4. EREBRNEER ZERBRMSHEERSH
E2ETmER  MERRFTEZZEBRKRD -
It > B 3 B2 B 5t 8 TE T K 57 B RO AR R S B R 15 1 i
FREMITEEE -

BRIt 2B 2024FE 7B 6 HRER o
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Interests and Short Positions of Substantial
Shareholders and Other Persons in Shares
and Underlying Shares

As of December 31, 2024, the following persons (other than
the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had or
were deemed or taken to have an interest and/or short position
in the Shares or the underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO and entered into the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO, or who was, directly or
indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital
of the Company.

Name of Shareholder

IRER 2

China Resources Company Interest in controlled

Limited corporations
FEEBERAT ZiEdEE S
FIL Limited Interest in controlled

corporations
REGEE R

Interest in controlled
corporations

REGEE D

Pandanus Associates Inc.

Interest in controlled
corporations

Pandanus Partners L.P.

ZiEdEE S
L: Long position
Notes:
1. (1) 463,681,516 of these shares are directly held by CRH (Medical) Limited.

CRH (Medical) Limited is wholly owned by China Resources Healthcare
Group Limited. China Resources Healthcare Group Limited is wholly owned
by CRH (Healthcare) Limited. CRH (Healthcare) Limited is wholly owned by
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited is wholly owned by CRC Bluesky Limited. CRC Bluesky
Limited is wholly owned by China Resources Inc., which is wholly owned by
China Resources Company Limited; and (2) 10,638,000 of these shares are
directly held by Commotra Company Limited which is wholly owned by China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.

Capacity/Nature of interest

515,/ EatE
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FERRREMA LIRS KRE
R ID Z Em Rk 2

22024 12B31H > UMTFA L (FEEXR
NEEBEERERBITHRABR) RRM B/
RHBEERAERAN W EFREBRIED SR
HIERBIEXVBFE 2 RIDBZIEX BT
B MR AR EREES R EKREGISH
BHRMEFEZ T MAZ R R T
B HEERABBREAAABBETRAF
5% A EARERS o

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
FREBNE DL
%

Number of
Shares held
FERMEE

474,319,516(L)" 36.58
78,503,500? 6.05
78,503,500? 6.05
78,503,500 6.05

LyFa
5T

1. (1) EL P24 % 463,681,516 RRID A EHER (B&E) &
RATEEFE EHEE (BH BRATHEEE
BEEEERATLERE EBREEEERA
BIRFEEEE (R SRAELEHS - THEE (&
) BRRATIMER (@) ARABSEEHEE - EH
(%) & R/A 5 I CRC Bluesky Limited 2 B A ©
CRC Bluesky Limited HE BN B R AT 2 EHES ©
EHRNDERASHTHEHERRABZEES ;
K (2) EP525510,638,000 RN EEERABE
BRE MEBERATHER &R ARAT2
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2. Pandanus Associates Inc. is the general partner of Pandanus Partners L.P.,
which in turn owns as to 41.00% of shares in FIL Limited. FIL Limited was
deemed to be interested in 78,503,500 shares of the Company through a series
of subsidiaries. Accordingly, Pandanus Associates Inc., Pandanus Partners L.P.
and FIL Limited were deemed to be interested in these shares pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO.

3. The percentage figures disclosed under “Approximate percentage of
shareholding” were calculated based on 1,296,676,516 Shares, being the
number of total issued shares of the Company as of December 31, 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, the
Directors were not aware of any person (other than the
Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had an
interest or a short position in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Directors’ Right to Acquire Securities

Save as the details as set out in the paragraphs headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company
or its Associated Corporations” and “Share Award Scheme”
in this Directors’ Report, at no time during the year ended
December 31, 2024 has any right to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate been granted to Directors or their
respective spouse or children under the age of 18, and none
of any such right has been exercised by them; and none of the
Company and any of its subsidiaries has been a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors, or their respective spouse
or children under the age of 18, to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

2. Pandanus Associates Inc. 22 Pandanus Partners L.P.
i@ & % A > M Pandanus Partners L.P. 3 A FIL
Limited 41.00% B9 & {5 o MFIL Limited & i@ — 551
B B8 A Bl 1R A B 42 §] 78,503,500 A% iR 15 B9 1
o AL RIREE 5 R HAE 1R B 5 XV ED » Pandanus
Associates Inc. ~ Pandanus Partners L.P X K FIL
Limited #13 AIR Z E R0 P HEA o

3. TERBOESL THRENESLEHF I RE
1,296,676,516 f& i1 (BN~ B8 E 2024 F 12 B 31
BB BTN 4EE0) st ESH -

bR EIwEEIN 0 FR2024FE12831H &
EFWEMBEMALT FEERAQABDEEYR
BEETHABR) RAABRKG HAERERM S
BALENARNBREBEES RPEELE
R BEEZELMANERIKE °

EFWBEEFNET

BRAEEERE EERRSTHABRAE
REINEBBEBRD -« BRERM R ERESE
ZHEm KRB R TN S EN ST &) BUEL P&
ZEHIENN REE2024FE12B3MHIEEE
AERRERER FESHARESZB 2B
AR M8 2 TR A FEWE A A B HAE A
HtzEZ RO NBESMER 2R ; MK
LNETHEEAERESF ; BRAREKRER
AB AR NET AN ESTAHE
EHZEBIRMISHKZF LA WEBEM
HMAE 2 BRARERF] o
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Connected Transactions
Agreements in relation to Property Services

On February 8, 2024, Wugang Hospital and Runjia Property
Service (Wuhan) entered into the New Wugang Property
Services Agreement, pursuant to which the latter shall continue
to provide various property management services including
cleaning, security, fire safety control, etc., to Wugang Hospital
for a term of one year, with a total service fee of approximately
RMB6.133 million (inclusive of VAT).

On July 31, 2023, Bengang Hospital (the acquisition of
controlling interests of which by the Group was completed on
June 25, 2023) and Runjia Property Service (Shenyang) entered
into the Bengang Property Services Agreement, pursuant
to which Runjia Property Service (Shenyang) would provide
property management services to Bengang Hospital for a term
of one year, with a total service fee of approximately RMB9.6
million (inclusive of VAT).

As at the date of such agreements, CRC indirectly holds
approximately 73.72% equity interests in CR Mixc. As such,
Runjia Property Service (Wuhan) and Runjia Property Service
(Shenyang), as wholly-owned subsidiaries of CR Mixc, are
connected persons of the Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
February 8, 2024 for further details of the aforesaid transactions.

Lease Agreements

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
May 23, 2019 in relation to (among others) the entering into
of the 2019 Lease Agreement by CR Hospital Management &
Consulting as lessee and CR Land Hongjing Fengtai Branch as
lessor in relation to the lease of certain properties located in
Fengtai District, Beijing from the lessor as the Group's office.

On May 29, 2024, the CRM Lessees (subsidiaries of the
Company) as lessees and CR Land Hongjing Fengtai Branch as
lessor entered into a series of lease agreements in relation to
the lease of the Properties located in Fengtai District, Beijing
from the lessor as the Group's office.
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The 2024 Lease Agreements were recognized as right-of-use
assets amounting to approximately RMB6.28 million in the
consolidated statement of financial position of the Group. Such
value is only an estimation and is based on the preliminary
assessment of the information in relation to the Properties
available to the management of the Company. It has neither
been audited nor reviewed by the Company’s auditor, and is
subject to adjustments.

As at the date of the 2024 Lease Agreements, CRH indirectly
holds 59.55% equity interests in CR Land. CR Land Hongjing
Fengtai Branch, being a branch company of a subsidiary of CR
Land, is therefore a connected person of the Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated May
29, 2024 for further details of the aforesaid transactions.

Continuing Connected Transactions

CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement and
CR Trust Strategic Cooperation Agreement

The Company and CR Bank entered into the 2022 CR Bank
Strategic Cooperation Agreement on November 18, 2022,
for a fixed term of three years commencing from January 1,
2023 to December 31, 2025, whereby the annual caps are also
renewed thereupon. The 2022 CR Bank Strategic Cooperation
Agreement and the proposed annual caps thereunder were
approved at the extraordinary general meeting on December
29, 2022.

The Company and CR Trust entered into the 2022 CR Trust
Strategic Cooperation Agreement on November 18, 2022,
for a fixed term of three years commencing from January 1,
2023 to December 31, 2025, whereby the annual caps are also
renewed thereupon. The 2022 CR Trust Strategic Cooperation
Agreement and the proposed annual caps thereunder were
approved at the extraordinary general meeting on December
29, 2022.
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The annual caps under 2022 CR Bank Strategic Cooperation 1% 82022 ZE IR T8 BR & 1E 177 5% /& 2022 2
Agreement and 2022 CR Trust Strategic Cooperation BB SIEHZE FEZE2025F128
Agreement for the three financial years ending December 31, 31HZ=EHBEEZFE FRFHWT :
2025 were set out as follows:

For the For the For the

year ended year ending year ending
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2023 2024 2025

BE2023F HE2024F HE2025F
12831H 12A31H 12A31H
(RMB million)  (RMB million)  (RMB million)
ANE®BEET) (AREBEERT) (AREBBEER)

Maximum daily deposit ERRERRITNEH 500 600 700
amount placed with CR REfFAEE
Bank (inclusive of interest (BERWFE) @

receivable) Mete!

Maximum daily principal BREMRITRERGESERT 500 600 700
amount and interest in MRS AR
relation to financial NEHREAEEER
products to be provided 8 @
by CR Bank and CR
Trust Notel
Maximum service fees and EHRITREBESER 10 12 14
commissions for other financial ~ FLURMHAME SR
products and services to be ERERBENRD
provided by CR Bank and RBEMAEE
CR Trust

Note: The above maximum daily deposit amount or daily principal amount and 3 : LtHSHESHERLENEHALSERIEER
interest is applicable for each day during the relevant period, and is calculated REMBENE—H > TESHERBNGREZR—
on an individual basis remaining as of the end of each day, without aggregating - BARHERI—HESENSBEAHAE -
the amount incurred on the days before.

In 2024, the actual highest amount of the Group daily deposit 1220244 » AEBE S HFEREH (BIEEWK
balance (inclusive of interest receivable) and daily principal FI8) REREEFIETIRENSHERNS
amount and interest in relation to financial products provided HZAS&ERFEERESSEOFAAR
by CR Bank amounted to RMB5 million and nil, respectively. #5008 7T K& Z 7T o 12024 F > B REERIR
In 2024, the service fees and commissions for other financial TR E S RIE B & RFEARTS & &1
products and services provided by CR Bank were nil. AT
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In 2024, the Group did not have any balance of financial
products provided by CR Trust. In 2024, the service fees and
commissions for other financial products and services provided
by CR Trust were nil.

As at the date of such agreements, CRC is the controlling
shareholder of the Company, and CR Bank and CR Trust are
subsidiaries of CRH, therefore both of them are connected
persons of the Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
November 18, 2022 and the circular of the Company dated
December 12, 2022 for further details of the aforesaid
transactions.

Framework Agreements in relation to the
Sales of Medical Supplies

On February 8, 2024, the Company entered into the CR
Healthcare Sales of Medical Supplies Framework Agreement
with CR Healthcare and the Aerospace Medical Sales of
Medical Supplies Framework Agreement with Aerospace
Medical, both for a term commencing from January 1, 2024 to
December 31, 2025, pursuant to which the Group shall supply
pharmaceuticals, medical consumables and medical devices
to the member hospitals of CR Healthcare (excluding the
hospitals of the Group) and the member hospitals of Aerospace
Medical, respectively. The annual caps for the CR Healthcare
Sales of Medical Supplies Framework Agreement are RMB45
million for 2024 and RMB75 million for 2025, respectively,
while the annual caps for the Aerospace Medical Sales of
Medical Supplies Framework Agreement are RMB85 million
for 2024 and RMB100 million for 2025, respectively. The Board
also announced to ratify the transactions (the “2023 Medical
Supplies Sales”) conducted by the Group during the year
ended December 31, 2023 for the sale of medical supplies to
the member hospitals of Aerospace Medical in order to meet
their emerging needs with an aggregated transaction amount of
approximately RMB23.64 million.

2024, the transaction
amount of the Group under the CR Healthcare Sales of Medical
Supplies Framework Agreement was RMB3 million; and the
transaction amount of the Group under the Aerospace Medical

During the year ended December 31,

Sales of Medical Supplies Framework Agreement was RMB60
million.
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As at the date of such agreements, CR Healthcare indirectly
holds approximately 35.76% equity interest in the Company,
and CRC, the controlling shareholder of the Company,
indirectly holds the entire equity interests in CR Healthcare
and 51% equity interests in Aerospace Medical. As such, CR
Healthcare and Aerospace Medical are connected persons of
the Company. According to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
the CR Healthcare Sales of Medical Supplies Framework
Agreement, Aerospace Medical Sales of Medical Supplies
Framework Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder and the 2023 Medical Supplies Sales constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
February 8, 2024 for further details of the aforesaid transactions.

Framework Agreement in relation to
Procurement of Consultation Services

On February 8, 2024, the Company entered into the Aerospace
Medical Procurement of Consultation Services Framework
Agreement with Aerospace Medical for a term commencing
2024 to December 31, 2025, pursuant to
which the Group shall procure medical equipment consultation

from January 1,

services from Aerospace Medical. According to the Aerospace
Medical Procurement of Consultation Services Framework
Agreement, Aerospace Medical provides medical equipment
consulting services and other services to the Group, including
organizing large-scale equipment research and formulating
centralized procurement equipment purchase plans; organizing
and implementing the formulation of personalized demand
plans for equipment; providing clinical support for centralized
equipment procurement; and organizing publicity and
implementation of hospital equipment centralized procurement
system, etc. The annual caps for the Aerospace Medical
Procurement of Consultation Services Framework Agreement
are RMB8.5 million for 2024 and RMB10 million for 2025,
respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the transaction
amount of the Group under the aforementioned agreement was
RMB5 million.
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As at the date of the agreement, CRC, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, holds 51% equity interests
in Aerospace Medical. As such, Aerospace Medical is a
connected person of the Company, as such, according to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Aerospace Medical
Procurement of Consultation Services Framework Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
February 8, 2024 for further details of the aforesaid transactions.

Framework Agreement in relation to the
Provision of Supply Chain Management
Services to Connected Party

On February 8, 2024, the Company and CR Healthcare entered
into the Supply Chain Management Services Framework
Agreement, pursuant to which the Group shall provide supply
chain management services to the hospitals of CR Healthcare
(excluding the hospitals of the Group), including provision to
the hospitals of CR Healthcare (excluding the hospitals of the
Group) with integrated and jointly established supply chain
management services of medical supplies which include
establishing regional supply chain management platforms of
medical supplies in specific regions and streamlining supply
chain management mechanism and procedures of medical
supplies, based on the operational management, business and
other conditions of the hospitals of CR Healthcare (excluding
the hospitals of the Group), in order to assist CR Healthcare
in improving the efficiency and reducing the costs of supply
management of medical supplies. The corresponding term
is from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2025. The annual
caps for the years ending December 31, 2024 and December
31, 2025 under the Supply Chain Management Services
Framework Agreement are RMB65 million and RMB100 million,
respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the transaction
amount of the Group under the aforementioned agreement was
nil.
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As at the date of the agreement, CR Healthcare indirectly holds
approximately 35.76% equity interests in the Company and is
indirectly wholly-owned by CRC, the controlling shareholder of
the Company. As such, CR Healthcare is a connected person
of the Company. Accordingly, the Supply Chain Management
Services Framework Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
February 8, 2024 for further details of the aforesaid transactions.

Framework Agreement in relation to the
Acquisition of Logistics Services Provided by
Connected Party

On February 8, 2024, WRYK (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company) and CR Pharmaceutical Commercial entered
into the Logistics Services Framework Agreement, pursuant
to which CR Pharmaceutical Commercial together with its
subsidiaries shall provide logistics services to the Group,
which the CR Pharmaceutical Commercial Group will provide
WRYK with warehousing and distribution services for medical
supplies based on the operational management, business and
other conditions of WRYK. Such services include provision to
WRYK the medical supplies storage, transportation, distribution
services, etc. within specific geographical areas, in order to
assist WRYK in improving the efficiency and reducing the costs
of supply of medical supplies. The corresponding term is from
January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2026. The annual caps for
the years ending December 31, 2024, December 31, 2025 and
December 31, 2026 under the Logistics Services Framework
Agreement are RMB5 million, RMB8 million and RMB12
million, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the transaction
amount of the Group under the afore mentioned agreement
was RMB3 million.
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As at the date of such agreement, CR Pharmaceutical
Commercial is a subsidiary owned as to approximately 80.13%
by CR Pharmaceutical, and CR Pharmaceutical is indirectly
owned as to approximately 53.05% by CRC, the controlling
shareholder of the Company. As such, CR Pharmaceutical
Commercial is a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the Logistics Services Framework Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
February 8, 2024 for further details of the aforesaid transactions.

Property Management Services Framework
Agreement

On March 25, 2024, the Company and CR Mixc entered into
the Property Management Services Framework Agreement,
pursuant to which the CR Mixc together with its subsidiaries (the
“CR Mixc Group") shall provide various property management
services, including cleaning, security, fire safety control, etc.,
to the Group for a term of two years effective from January
1, 2024. The annual caps thereunder are RMB41 million and
RMB48 million for the year ending December 31, 2024 and
December 31, 2025, respectively, whereby the amounts
incurred under the New Wugang Property Services Agreement
and the Bengang Property Services Agreement are also covered
by such annual caps.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the transaction
amount of the Group under the afore mentioned agreement
was RMB32 million.

As at the date of such agreement, CRC (the controlling
shareholder of the Company) indirectly holds approximately
73.72% equity interests in CR Mixc. As such, CR Mixc is a
connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the Property
Management Services Framework Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated March
25, 2024 for further details of the aforesaid transactions.
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As mentioned above, the aforesaid Property Management
Services Framework Agreement and its annual caps have also
covered the following transactions of the Company and their
transaction amounts in 2024:

(1)  On February 8, 2024, Wugang Hospital and Runjia
Property Service (Wuhan) entered into the New Wugang
Property Services Agreement, pursuant to which the latter
shall continue to provide various property management
services including cleaning, security, fire safety control,
etc., to Wugang Hospital for a term of one year, with
a total service fee of approximately RMB6.133 million
(inclusive of VAT).

(2)  On July 31,
controlling interests of which by the Group was completed
on June 25, 2023) and Runjia Property Service (Shenyang)
entered into Bengang Property Services Agreement,
pursuant to which Runjia Property Service (Shenyang)
would provide property management services to Bengang
Hospital for a term of one year, with a total service fee of
approximately RMB9.6 million (inclusive of VAT).

2023, Bengang Hospital (the acquisition of

Each of Runjia Property Service (Wuhan) and Runjia Property
Service (Shenyang), as a wholly-owned subsidiary of CR Mixc,
is a connected person of the Company. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated February 8, 2024 for
further details of these two transactions.

Supply Chain Cooperation Framework
Agreement and the Supplemental Framework
Agreement

On December 29, 2022, the Company and CR Pharmaceutical
entered into the Supply Chain Cooperation Framework
Agreement, pursuant to which the Group shall provide CR
Pharmaceutical Group with Supply Chain Management Services
of medical supplies in relation to establishment of regional
platforms and streamlining of supply chain management
procedures in order to improve the efficiency of supply chain
management of medical supplies of CR Pharmaceutical Group
and reduce the corresponding costs. The Group shall receive
management service fees from CR Pharmaceutical Group for
the abovementioned services.
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On April 26, 2024, CR Pharmaceutical and the Company entered
into the Supplemental Cooperation Framework Agreement,
pursuant to which the Parties agreed to revise the annual cap
for the transactions under the Existing Cooperation Framework
Agreement for the year ending December 31, 2024, to extend
the term of the Existing Cooperation Framework Agreement
to December 31, 2025 and to agree on the proposed annual
cap for the transactions under the Cooperation Framework
Agreement for the year ending December 31, 2025. Save for
the Annual Caps and the duration of the agreement, the other
terms and conditions of the Existing Cooperation Framework
Agreement remain in full force and effect. The Supplemental
Cooperation Framework Agreement and the proposed
Annual Caps thereunder were approved at the extraordinary
general meeting on June 5, 2024. The Annual Caps under the
Supplemental Cooperation Framework Agreement for the
year ending December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2025 are
RMB150 million and RMB200 million, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the amount of
management service fee income under the Supply Chain
Cooperation Framework Agreement receivable by the Group
was RMB90 million.

As at the date of such agreement, CRH beneficially holds
53.05% equity interests in CR Pharmaceutical and 36.58%
equity interests in the Company, respectively, it is therefore
the controlling shareholder of both CR Pharmaceutical and
the Company, and CR Pharmaceutical and the Company are
connected persons of each other.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
December 29, 2022 and April 26, 2024 and the circular of
the Company dated May 22, 2024 for further details of the
aforesaid transactions.
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CRH PMM Framework Agreement and the
Supplemental Framework Agreement

The Company and CRH entered into the pharmaceuticals,
medical device and medical consumables supply framework
agreement on November 18, 2022, for a fixed term of three
years commencing from January 1, 2023 to December 31,
2025. Pursuant to the CRH PMM Framework Agreement,
members of the CR Group may supply PMM ltems to the
Group and the Sponsored Hospitals from time to time. The CRH
PMM Framework Agreement and the proposed annual caps
thereunder were approved at the extraordinary general meeting
on December 29, 2022.

On April 26, 2024, the Company and CRH entered into the
CRH PMM Supplemental Framework Agreement in relation
to revision of the annual caps for the years ending December
31, 2024 and December 31, 2025, respectively, under the CRH
PMM Framework Agreement. The CRH PMM Supplemental
Framework Agreement and the proposed annual caps
thereunder were approved at the extraordinary general meeting
on June 5, 2024. The revised annual caps under the CRH PMM
Framework Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2023
and the years ending December 31, 2024 and December 31,
2025 are RMB900 million, RMB1,600 million and RMB2,200
million, respectively.

As at the date of such agreement, CRH is the controlling
shareholder of the Company and is a connected person of the
Company.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the amount of the
purchase orders under the abovementioned agreement paid/
payable by the Group was RMB1,239 million.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated April
26, 2024 and the circular of the Company dated May 22, 2024
for further details of the aforesaid transactions.
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IT Services Annual Agreement

On February 8, 2024, CR Hospital Investment (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) and CR Digital Holdings entered
into the 2024 IT Services Annual Agreement, pursuant to which
the CR Digital Group shall provide the relevant information
technology services to the Group and its Sponsored Hospitals,
for the term from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024. The
annual cap for the year ending December 31, 2024 under the
2024 IT Services Annual Agreement is RMB34 million. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated February 8,
2024 for further details.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the transaction
amount of the Group under the aforementioned agreement was
RMB27 million.

As at the date of such agreement, CRC is the holding company
of CR Holdings (the controlling shareholder of the Company)
and indirectly holds the entire equity interests in CR Digital
Holdings. Hence, CR Digital Holdings is a connected person of
the Company.

CR Hospital Investment and CR Digital Holdings entered
into the 2025-2027 IT Services Annual Agreement, pursuant
to which the CR Digital Group shall provide the relevant
information technology services to the Group and its Sponsored
Hospitals, for the term from January 1, 2025 to December 31,
2027. The corresponding proposed annual caps under the 2025-
2027 IT Services Annual Agreement for the three financial years
ending December 31, 2025, 2026 and 2027 are RMB26 million,
RMB30 million and RMB32 million respectively. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated December 30, 2024
for further details of the aforesaid transactions.
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Business Travel Services Framework
Agreement

On December 30, 2024, the Company entered into the
Business Travel Services Framework Agreement with CR
Digital, pursuant to which CR Digital Group has agreed to
provide certain business travel services to the Group for a term
commencing from January 1, 2025 to December 31, 2027. The
corresponding proposed annual cap under the Business Travel
Services Framework Agreement for each of the three financial
years ending December 31, 2025, 2026 and 2027 is RMB20
million.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the transaction
amount of the Group under the aforementioned agreement was
RMB4 million.

As at the date of such agreement, CRC is the holding company
of CR Holdings (the controlling shareholder of the Company)
and indirectly holds the entire equity interests in CR Digital
Holdings. CR Digital Holdings is the controlling shareholder
of CR Digital and directly holds the entire equity interests in
CR Digital. Hence, CR Digital is a connected person of the
Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
December 30, 2024 for further details of the aforesaid
transactions.
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Annual review of continuing connected
transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
"Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”, issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing the auditor’s
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the abovementioned continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that for the year ended December 31, 2024:

()  these transactions were entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group;

(i) these transactions were entered into either on normal
commercial terms, or on terms no less favourable to the
Group than terms available to or from independent third
parties; and

(i) these transactions were entered into according to the
agreements governing them on terms that were fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

Save as disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, none of the related-party
transactions or continuing related-party transactions set out
in such note fall within the scope of discloseable connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction under the
Listing Rules. The Group has complied with the requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Yan Hua IOT Agreement Dispute

In respect of the litigation case between the Company and the
Yanhua Parties (i.e. the Yan Hua Phoenix and Yan Hua Hospital)
regarding the performance of the Yan Hua IOT Agreement
in 2019, the Beijing Higher People’'s Court handed down the
final judgment (2020 Jing Minzhong No.110) on November 22,
2021, which rejected the appeal filed by the Yanhua Parties in
2020 and upheld the original judgment in 2019 as follows: the
major details are as follows: (1) the unilateral termination of Yan
Hua IOT Agreement by Yan Hua Phoenix and Yan Hua Hospital
is declared to be void and that the parties shall continue to
perform its obligations under the Yan Hua IOT Agreement; (2)
the amount of RMB 14,400,000, being the damages for breach
of the Yan Hua IOT Agreement, is to be paid by Yan Hua
Phoenix to CR Hospital Management & Consulting; (3) other
reliefs sought by CR Hospital Management & Consulting shall
be dismissed; and (4) other counterclaims of Yan Hua Phoenix
and Yan Hua Hospital shall be dismissed. As the Yanhua Parties
have been negligent in complying with the abovementioned
final judgment, the Company then filed an application for
enforcement with the Beijing Second Intermediate People's
Court in January 2022, and then accordingly received the
liquidated damages amounted to RMB 14,400,000 and related
overdue fine paid by Yan Hua Phoenix through the court
enforcement procedure in April 2022. However, due to the
Yanhua Parties’ persistent refusal to perform the Yan Hua IOT
Agreement, the Company brought a separate lawsuit against
the Yanhua Parties in September 2022 to seek compensation
for the losses suffered by the Company as a result of the
Yanhua Parties’ breach of the Yanhua IOT Agreement (including
the management fee and supply chain fee receivable by the
Company from 2019 to the filing date).
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The Beijing Second Intermediate People's Court handed down
the original judgment on December 22, 2023, adjudicating
as follows: (1) ordering that Yan Hua Hospital should pay
RMB3,057,500 for the annual repayment of investment and,
in addition, related overdue fine; (2) ordering that the Yanhua
Parties should pay RMB41,237,300 for the loss of hospital
management fee and, in addition, related overdue fine; and (3)
ordering that the Yanhua Parties should pay RMB146,666,700
for the loss from the cessation of comprehensive service
transaction and, in addition, loss of interest. Both parties
appealed against the original judgment. Subsequently, on
December 27, 2024, the Beijing High People’s Court has ruled
to agree with the withdrawal of the appeal by the Yanhua
Parties, and handed down the final judgment upholding the
original judgment. On February 20, 2025, the Company received
the enforcement payment of RMB209,480,000 transferred by
the Court.

Please refer to the announcements published by the Company
on January 15, 2019, January 21, 2019, April 17, 2019,
November 23, 2021 and February 21, 2025 for more details.

Regarding the Yan Hua IOT Agreement Dispute, the Company
is also considering subsequent response plans in order to take
all appropriate actions to safeguard the overall interests of the
Company and its Shareholders. The Company will issue further
announcements in a timely manner in accordance with the
Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as and when required.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts of Significance

No Director nor any connected entity of a Director had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the holding company of the Company, or any of
the Company's subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party at
any time during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Controlling Shareholders’ Interests in
Contracts of Significance

Other than connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions which have been disclosed in the sections headed
“Connected Transactions” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions” to this report respectively, no contract of
significance was entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or
any of its subsidiaries during the year ended December 31,
2024 or subsisted at the end of the year and no contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries was entered into during the year ended December
31, 2024 or subsisted at the end of the year.

Management Contracts

Other than the service contracts or letters of appointment with
the Directors, the Company has not entered into any contract
with any individuals, firms or corporate entities to manage or
regulate the whole or any substantial part of any business of
the Company during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Board Committees
Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee and formulated
the Rules and Procedures for Board Meetings ( (& = & %
=8I )) of the Company in accordance with Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules and the CG Code on November 4, 2013. Its
primary responsibilities include serving as a focal point for
communication among other Directors, the external auditor and
the internal auditor (where an internal audit function exists) as
regards their duties relating to financial and other reporting, risk
management and internal controls, external and internal audits
and such other financial and accounting matters as the Board
determines from time to time, assisting the Board in providing
an independent review on the effectiveness of the financial
reporting system,
systems of the Group and overseeing the audit procedure,
reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices and performing other duties and responsibilities as
designated by the Board.

risk management and internal control

As at December 31, 2024 and up to the publication date of this
annual report, the Audit Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. KWONG
Kwok Kong (chairman of the committee) , Mr. FU Tingmei
and Mr. ZHOU Peng. The Audit Committee, together with the
management of the Company, has reviewed the accounting
principles, accounting standards and methods adopted by the
Company, discussed the matters concerning risk management
and internal control, auditing and financial reporting matters and
reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee and
formulated the Rules and Procedures for Board Meetings
((E=E::®EHEI)) of the Company in compliance with Rule
3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code on November 4,
2013. The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for:
(i) making recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for Directors’ and senior management remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy; (ii) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package
of Directors and senior management; and (iii) reviewing and
evaluating the performance-based remuneration and ensure
that no Directors or any of his associates is involved in deciding
his own remuneration.

As at December 31, 2024 and up to the publication date of this
annual report, the Remuneration Committee currently consisted
of two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. WU
Ting Yuk, Anthony (chairman of the committee), and Mr. FU
Tingmei, and one non-executive Director, Ms. GE Lu.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on
November 4, 2013 in compliance with Rule 3.27A of the
Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Nomination Committee
is mainly responsible for: (i) identifying individuals suitably
qualified as potential Board members and selecting or making
recommendation to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships; (ii) reviewing the structure, size
and diversity of the Board and the required skill mix as well
as making recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to ensure the implementation of the Company’s
strategic goal; (i) assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and (iv) reviewing the qualification of
senior management nominated by the Chief Executive Officer,
reported to the Board for consideration and adoption.

As at December 31, 2024 and up to the publication date of this
annual report, the Nomination Committee consisted of one
executive Director, Mr. SONG Qing (chairman of the committee),
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. WU
Ting Yuk, Anthony and Mr. KWONG Kwok Kong.
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Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being
the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.

Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as rules governing dealings by
Directors in the listed securities of the Company.

Having made specific enquiry, the Company confirmed that all
members of the Board complied with the Model Code during
the year ended December 31, 2024. As senior managers,
executives and officers who, because of their offices in the
Company, may possess inside information of the Company,
they shall comply with the provision of the Model Code. To the
best knowledge of the Company, no incident of non-compliance
to the Model Code has been committed by such employees
during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Closure of Register of Members

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting to be held on Thursday, June 5, 2025,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, June 2, 2025 to Thursday, June 5, 2025, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to qualify as members entitled to attend
and vote at the annual general meeting, investors should lodge
all transfers of shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30
p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Friday, May 30, 2025.
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For determining the entitlement to the proposed 2024 Final
Dividend, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Wednesday, June 11, 2025 to Thursday, June 12,
2025, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the entitlement
to the proposed 2024 Final Dividend, all transfers of shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17/F Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
(Hong Kong time) on Tuesday, June 10, 2025.

The 2024 Final Dividend will be payable in cash to each
Shareholder in HK$ at the average benchmark exchange rate
of RMB to HK$ as published by the People’s Bank of China
during the five business days ending on Thursday, June 5,
2025 (inclusive), being the date of the annual general meeting,
unless an election is made to receive the same in RMB. To
make such election, Shareholders should complete the dividend
currency election form, which is expected to be despatched
to Shareholders in late June 2025 as soon as practicable after
the record date of Thursday, June 12, 2025 to determine
Shareholders’ entitlement to the 2024 Final Dividend, and
return it to the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, July 8, 2025.
Shareholders who are minded to elect to receive all (but not
part) of the 2024 Final Dividend in RMB by cheques should
note that (i) they should ensure that they have an appropriate
bank account to which the RMB cheques for dividend can be
presented for payment; and (ii) there is no assurance that RMB
cheques can be cleared without material handling charges or
delay in Hong Kong or that RMB cheques will be honoured for
payment upon presentation outside Hong Kong. The cheques
are expected to be posted to the relevant Shareholders by
ordinary post on Monday, July 21, 2025 at the Shareholders’
own risk.
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If no election is made by a Shareholder or no duly completed
dividend currency election form in respect of that Shareholder
is received by the Company's branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,
by 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, July 8, 2025, such Shareholder will
automatically receive the Final Dividend in HK$.

All dividend payments in HK$ will be made in the usual way
on Monday, July 21, 2025. If Shareholders wish to receive the
Final Dividend in HK$ in the usual way, no additional action is
required. Shareholders should seek professional advice from
their own tax advisors regarding the possible tax implications of
the proposed dividend payment.

Code of Corporate Governance Practices

The full text of the Corporate Governance Report is set out on
pages 66 to 92 of this annual report.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company'’s Listed Securities

During the year ended December 31, 2024, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including the
sale and transfer of treasury shares as defined under the Listing
Rules).

As at December 31, 2024, the Company did not hold any
treasury shares (as defined under the Listing Rules).

Sufficiency of the Public Float

Based on the information publicly available and to the best of
the Board's knowledge, information and belief, the Company
has always maintained sufficient public float as required by the
Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company's securities.
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Subsequent Event(s)

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Subsequent Event(s)”
under the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 21 of this annual report.

Auditors

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on June 1,
2023, Ernst & Young retired as the auditor of the Company and
KPMG was appointed as the auditor of the Company.

The Company has appointed KPMG as the auditor of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2024. KPMG will
retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general
meeting and is eligible to stand for reappointment.

Others

All references above to other sections, reports or notes in this
annual report form part of this directors’ report.

On behalf of the Board
SONG Qing
Chairman

Hong Kong, March 25, 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has been committed to maintaining and
improving its standard of corporate governance in order to
enhance the accountability and transparency of the Group, so
as to increase the long-term return of the Shareholders. The
Company confirms that it has complied with all code provisions
of the CG Code during the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Company will continuously review and commit in making
necessary arrangement to comply with all the code provisions
under the CG Code and the rising expectations of Shareholders
and investors.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code (on terms no less
exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code)
as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities of the
Company by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors complied with the Model
Code during the year ended December 31, 2024. Senior
management, executives and staff who, because of their
offices in the Company, are likely to possess inside information,
have also been requested to comply with the provision of
the Model Code and the Company confirmed that there was
no incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by such
employees during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Corporate Culture

The Group regards “Strive for Public Health” as its corporate
mission, takes integrity, performance-oriented, people-oriented
and win-win collaboration as our values. We strive to become
a leading medical and health industry group in China, and a
pioneer in the reform of state-owned medical institutions. The
Group promotes a working atmosphere with sincerity, solidarity,
open-mindedness, proactivity. The Company has formulated
its culture handbook in response to the corporate culture, and
timely publicised it to all staff (especially to the new recruits).
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Board of Directors

The Directors are accountable to all Shareholders for their
leadership and supervision over the Group’s operation, and are
committed to achieving the goal of increasing Shareholders’
value.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised nine
Directors, including four executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and four independent non-executive Directors. The
composition of Board during the year ended December 31,
2024 and up to the date of this annual report is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. SONG Qing (Chairman)

Mr. YU Hai (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. SHAN Baojie (Vice President)

Ms. YANG Min (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Director

Ms. GE Lu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WU Ting Yuk, Anthony
Mr. KWONG Kwok Kong
Mr. FU Tingmei

Mr. ZHOU Peng

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 93 to
101 of this annual report. The list of the Directors (by category)
is also disclosed in all of the corporate communications issued
by the Company from time to time in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board complied
at all times with the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors (representing at least one-third of the Board), of which
at least one Director has appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.
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The Company has received annual independence confirmation
from all independent non-executive Directors and confirms
that all independent non-executive Directors are independent
and the conditions pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
have been fulfilled. The Company also considers that all of
the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules and
the condition pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rule have
been fulfilled.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
brought a wide range of business and financial expertise,
experience and judgement to the Board. Through active
participation at Board meetings, taking the lead in managing
issues involving potential conflict of interests and serving on
Board committees, all the non-executive Directors have made
various contributions to the effective development of the
Company.

The Board currently has 4 independent non-executive Directors
who have years of experience in audit, investment, finance, law
and business management. The independent non-executive
Directors are able to provide independent and appropriate
opinions to the Board so as to ensure that the Board can
obtain independent views and opinions that it requires when
exercising its powers and making major decisions. The
independent non-executive Directors (as other Directors) are
entitled to seek further information and documentation from the
senior management on the matters to be discussed at Board
meetings. They can also seek assistance from the Company’s
company secretary and, where necessary, independent advice
from external professional advisers at the Company’s expense.
They shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any board
resolution approving any contract or arrangement in which he/
her or any of his/her close associates has a material interest.
Such mechanisms are to ensure that a strong independent
element on, and independent views and input are available
to the Board. During the year ended December 31, 2024,
all the independent non-executive Directors attended Board
meetings regularly and actively participated in the decision-
making process of the Board, and provided independent views
and opinions to the Board when it performed its duties. In
view of the above, and after review, the Board believes that its
mechanism for obtaining independent opinions has been fully
implemented and continues to be effective.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover to
protect Directors from possible legal action against them.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for the performance of the functions
of corporate governance. For the year ended December 31,
2024, the Board has performed the functions set out in Code
Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, including reviewing the
Company'’s policy and implementation of corporate governance
and ensuring compliance with the CG Code (in particular,
the principles of good corporate governance) and disclosure
requirements in the corporate governance report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

For the year ended December 31, 2024, Mr. SONG Qing was
the Chairman and Mr. YU Hai was the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. The Company has complied with Code
Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code which stipulates that the roles
of Chairman and Chief Executive should not be performed by
the same individual during the year.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and
Contribution of the Board and Management

Under the leadership of the Chairman, the Board is responsible
for the approval and supervision of the Group’s general
development strategies, the review and approval of the annual
budget and business plans, the consent of material investment
projects related to the Group’s business development, the
review on the Group’s performance and the supervision of the
work of the management, and ensures that the Board acts
in the best interests of the Company and Shareholders as a
whole, operates effectively and performs the necessary duties,
as well as discusses all the significant and appropriate issues of
the Group’s business in a timely manner. All the Directors are
entitled to propose the inclusion of any item in the agenda of
the Board meetings for appropriate discussion. The Chairman
has appointed the secretary of the meeting to draft the Board
meetings’ agendas. Under the assistance of the executive
Directors and the secretary of the Board, the Chairman wiill
ensure that all the Directors are provided with sufficient and
reliable information in a timely manner required for necessary
analysis based on their expertise.
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The Chief Executive Officer has delegated sufficient authority
for the operation and management of the Group’s business
to the executive Directors and other senior management
members, who are in-charge of the daily management of the
Group in every aspect, including implementation of the Board's
resolutions unanimously, and be accountable to the Chief
Executive Officer for the operations of various aspects of the
Group’s business, while the Chief Executive Officer shall be
accountable to the Board for the Group's operations as a whole.

The responsibilities of the Board include the following:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Delegation by the Board

In order to enhance its corporate governance structure, the
Company has formulated the “Rules and Procedures for Board
Meetings”
specifies that the CEO Management Meeting is composed of
executive Directors, Chief Financial Officer, Deputy President
and other senior management, all being called together by the

. The "Rules and Procedures for Board Meetings”

Chief Executive Officer. As the approval organization for the
Company's daily operational management, the committee is
responsible for organizing and managing the Company’s daily
operations and accountable to the Board.
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Board Meetings

According to Code Provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, regular
Board meetings should be held at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, the Board held seven meetings to review
and consider the interim results and the annual results and to
discuss and approve other matters.

The Chairman also held a meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors without presence of other Directors during
the year.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board held seven
Board meetings. Attendance records of the Directors at the
Board meetings are set out as follows:

EEERRS

EEEER
RIECEEARTHNTAERXEHECS1EK
BREESEREREVESFRTOR > KB
HNABTE—R -HE2024F12831H1E
FECEFFRETTtREEZUBANEZ
hEARE R EREES Ukt A HbEEM
FIFo

FRBERTEBIUIFNITEFET T —
RRBEHMESIIENEGE -

HE2024F12B31HIEFE S HE
TtREFTTZ EBZHEEFTTLEN
SOERESIUNT ¢

Number of
meetings
attended/held
Name of Directors BEUZ HERITEE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. SONG Qing (Chairman) RBRE (EFR) 7/7
Mr. YU Hai (Chief Executive Officer) TiBia (H%) 6/7
Mr. SHAN Baojie (Vice President) BENKLE (5//EZ) 7/7
Ms. YANG Min (Chief Financial Officer) B8zt (BEEMEE) 7/7
Non-executive Director EHITES
Ms. GE Lu BREL 6/7
Independent Non-executive Directors BILFFRITES
Mr. WU Ting Yuk, Anthony HE MBS 7[7
Mr. KWONG Kwok Kong &R S T 717
Mr. FU Tingmei BIEESE 717
Mr. ZHOU Peng B E 7/7
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Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings had been served to all
Directors at least 14 days prior to the meetings to give all
Directors an opportunity to attend.

For regular Board and committee meetings, all agendas,
meeting papers, together with all applicable, complete and
reliable statistics will be sent to all the Directors or committee
members at least three days before a meeting is held. All
Directors may propose any business to be included in the
agenda of the Board or committee meetings and contact the
company secretary to ensure full compliance with all of the
Board’s procedures and applicable regulations.

In general, the senior management members shall attend all
the regular Board meetings and, if necessary, other Board
and committee meetings to advise on the Group's business
development, financial and accounting, statutory and regulatory
compliance, corporate governance and risk management
matters as well as other significant issues. The Board may,
if appropriate, authorize the Directors to seek independent
and professional advice at the expense of the Group. Matters
discussed and resolved at Board meetings will be recorded
in detail by the Board secretary who shall prepare and file
the minutes or resolutions. Generally, draft minutes of Board
meeting shall be issued to the Directors within reasonable time
for their comments after such meeting is held, and the final
version will be open for inspections by the Directors.

The Articles of Association contains provision requiring
Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the
quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such
Directors or their associates have a material interest and this
provision has always been complied with.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

According to the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but no less than one-third) are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any
new Director appointed to fill casual vacancy shall hold office
until the next following general meeting of the Company and
any Director appointed as an addition to the Board shall hold
office until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Any other appointment, resignation, removal or re-designation
of Directors will be timely disclosed to the Shareholders by
announcement and shall include in such announcement, the
reasons given by the Director for his/her resignation.

Each of the non-executive Directors (including the Independent
Non-executive Directors) was engaged on a service contract or
letter of appointment for a fixed term of three years and shall
be subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company considers increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in attaining its strategic objectives and
achieving sustainable and balanced development for the Group,
and also for the compliance with the provisions in the CG Code
on board diversity, the Board has adopted a policy concerning
diversity of Board members (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
setting out a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, ethnicity, cultural and educational background,
communication styles, interpersonal skills, functional expertise,
problem solving skills, professional qualifications, knowledge
and industry and regional experience and other qualities, and
all appointments to the Board will be based on merits and will
take into account of factors based on the Group’s own business
model and specific needs from time to time. The Company
shall strengthen the board diversity as and when appropriate
according to the needs of business development and corporate
governance.
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At the end of 2024, the female representation was 22.2% of
the Board and the Company has achieved gender diversity in
respect of the Board. The Board targets to maintain at least
the current level of female representation, with the ultimate
goal of achieving gender parity. In considering the Board's
succession, the Nomination Committee would engage
independent professional search firm(s) to help identify
potential candidates for Directors, as and when appropriate.
The Nomination Committee would make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy. The Company will continue
to promote gender diversity when recruiting middle to senior
level employees and reserve a group of female executives and
potential Director successors for the future. The Board will
continue to take opportunities to increase the proportion of
female members over time as and when suitable candidates
are identified. During 2024, the Nomination Committee
reviewed the structure, size, and diversity of the Board as
well as the selection criteria for Director candidate(s) and the
Board Diversity Policy, to ensure that the Board’'s composition
complies with the Listing Rules and reflects an appropriate
mix of skills, experience, and diversity that are relevant to the
Company's strategy, governance, and business and contribute
to the Board's effectiveness and efficiency. The Nomination
Committee evaluated and recommended retiring Directors to
the Board for re-appointment by giving due consideration to the
criteria including but not limited to: the overall contribution and
service of the retiring Directors to the Company; the retiring
Directors would bring to the Board their own perspective, skills
and experience; and the Retiring Directors can contribute to the
diversity of the Board,

BE0UFFE AHEEFRHEFINE
#222% > AARBEFEEIMENMERZ
b EFEREHLMME ABE DR
FEIREFRIKT > WLUEEMRIIEARKER
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RBER > BRREZEEERKRUTHFE
BRNEMIEEBRNER

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has
reviewed the following measurable objectives and the progress
towards these objectives:

Measurable objectives

A EER

The Board has at least one Director of a different
gender.

EFgEVE—STEMINES

Consider the appointment of new Director(s)

from a wide range of candidates (including
backgrounds, skills, experience and perspectives
that would complement the existing Board) and
preferably add gender diversity.

KEZAL (BERER Kk KBRESTIS
REESERENENS) PEEEZEAESEN
EEARMENESEENZTEARER—EEL
8

To evaluate the composition and structure of the
Board annually, as well as the diversity of the
Board.

SEINESTEERKRRE > UREFEE L

=P

Establish a pipeline of potential Director
successors which can reach gender diversity.

B — R UERIM R Z T ERBEESEEA
BB

Progress

ENERE

By December 31, 2024, the Board has two female
Directors, the goal has been achieved.
BE2024F12B31 B EEgHLEMBYLMNE
£ BREBEMN °

The goal of FY2024 has been achieved, and the
Company will continue to look for diverse and
suitable candidates for recommendation and
appointment as Director(s).

2024 F M HFEEEERBER > URFEVEZ T
b GBABLUEREZERES -

The goal of FY2024 has been achieved, and the
Board evaluation process includes an assessment
of the Board’s diversity helping to objectively
consider the Board composition and effectiveness.
2024 FHHMEELEMRBR  TZBRBAEES
B L CAETHE ~ BERME RES G RMERTIERS ©

The goal of FY2024 has been achieved, and the
Board shall seize the opportunity to increase the
proportion of female members over time when
selecting suitable Director candidates and making
recommendations accordingly. The Company shall
also continue to promote gender diversity when
recruiting middle and senior staff, and reserve a
group of female executives and potential Director
successors for the future.
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In respect of our staff, the Group strictly complies with the
relevant laws and regulations in formulating the internal
policies of the Group and our member medical institutions,
and adheres to the principle of fair and open employment in
order to eliminate all discrimination based on factors such as
gender, age, race, and region, and provides our employees
with a diverse and inclusive working environment with fair
employment and promotion opportunities, respect and privacy.
There are no mitigating factors or circumstances which make
achieving gender diversity across the workforce (including
senior management) more challenging or less relevant. As of
December 31, 2024, the total number of employees (including
senior management) of the Group is 19,953, among which
the number of female employees is 5,654 (28.34%), and the
number of male employees is 14,299 (71.66%), The Company
expects that in consideration of the business development, the
gender ratio of all employees will be maintained at the current
level in the medium term.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The Group has established a formal and transparent procedure
for formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior
management of the Group. The remuneration of Directors and
senior management is determined by taking into account of
the relevant individual's experience, responsibilities, workload
and time commitment to the Group and the operating results
of the Group and comparable market statistics, and is subject
to review of the Remuneration Committee and approval
by the Board. The Company’s policy for determining the
remuneration payable to Directors also ensures that Directors
are adequately compensated for their efforts and time
dedicated to the Company's affairs, including their participation
in Board committees. The remuneration of executive Directors
comprises basic salaries, pensions, performance bonuses, etc.
Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the
year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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Details of the remuneration of Directors and senior
management of the Company, by band for the year ended
December 31, 2024 are set out below:

#EMEE (B7T)

Remuneration band (HKD)

EEERRS

HE2024F 12831 BELEERRTEER
SR EIRE LN E S DRI IBEIIN T -

Number of individual A 2%

3,500,001 to 4,000,000
3,000,001 to 3,500,000
2,500,001 to 3,000,000
Nil to 2,500,000

3,600,001 £ 4,000,000
3,000,001 % 3,500,000
2,500,001 Z 3,000,000
£ % 2,500,000

Share Award Scheme

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has
not granted any Award Share to (i) Connected Persons; (ii)
service providers; (iii) related entity participants; (iv) employee
participants with a vesting period less than 12 months; and
(v) participants without performance targets and/or claw back
mechanism. For further details of the Share Award Scheme,
please refer to pages 38 to 40 of this annual report.

General Meetings

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company held
one annual general meeting (“AGM") and one extraordinary
general meeting ("EGM"). Attendance records of the Directors
at the general meetings are set out as follows:

EFNSE

Name of the Directors

Executive Directors WITES

Mr. SONG Qing (Chairman) RERE (BEER)
Mr. YU Hai (Chief Executive Officer) FiEiE (HE)
Mr. SHAN Baojie (Vice President) BENLE (BI4EE)
Ms. YANG Min B
Non-executive Director JEHITES

Ms. GE Lu BEZLtT
Independent Non-executive Directors JEIIIFHITES
Mr. WU Ting Yuk, Anthony HHE MBS

Mr. KWONG Kwok Kong BB e A

Mr. FU Tingmei BEERE

Mr. ZHOU Peng BT E

2
2
9

LB
HE2024F12B31HIEFE > KRB BE
M) BEAL ; () BRFBIREE ; (i) FAESE
2HE; (VEBESHERTHEBH K12
BE ; RVWARKEEZEK RN >
2 HER BT ARERD - BRAKMDIEENS
289¥1E > A2RAFIRFEIBEI0E °

RERAKE

HZE2024F12B3MBLEFE » KABELT
T—IREBFAZ ((RRBEXS ) h—
RIGEFRIAE (RERFHINKRE)) - EFR

RREARGZHFaeEyIT

Number of meetings
attended/convened
GELEARRH

AGM EGM

e ERIBE A% SR Al

g g

/1 Al

0/1 0/1

11 1

11 Al

/1 1

1/1 1

11 VAl

11 VAl

11 Al
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The 2025 annual general meeting of the Company will be held
on June 5, 2025. The notice of the annual general meeting will
be sent to the Shareholders at least 21 clear days before the
annual general meeting.

Continuous Professional Development for
Directors

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package to ensure that he/she has
a proper understanding of the business and operations of the
Group and is fully aware of the responsibilities and obligations
as being a Director as well as the compliance practice under the
Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Directors are kept updated on the
statutory and regulatory development and changes in the
business and the market so as to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. All Directors have participated in the courses
relating to the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed
company or further enhanced their professional development by
way of attending training courses or reading relevant materials
for the year ended December 31, 2024.

A summary of the training received by the Directors for the year
ended December 31, 2024 according to the records provided by
the Directors is as follows:

KNT)2025F R BB F NG 202556
AT REBFAGEEHENRESR
FRGHRLV2IBFEFRE -

EFFEEXER

EZEMAZFER  SEFREE-—OHT
B2 ABBERE  BRRSZSTHRAEERE
BREE  URFBNEHIFAESNER
R#&EH o Uk EHRAEBTHERERKE
thIBRARERE ©

FEETREREFTSAFEERERE U
LRMEMREZNBMMEE EFERE
REZERGEELR  UREBRTREE
ZEMEE > UBERFEITHE - #1F 2024
FNR2ANBLEFE 2REF2SHARL
TABEFEZAG HEAMEZRE > %
BB EEIIRENEBRE A HE—D1E
EREZHRER -

RIFEEPTIRMHAVECE > B E2024F 128
BTHLEFE  EFFEREIZEBEZNT ¢

Attending
seminar or
reading materials
HEMRSE
Name of the Directors BEEUF HEEER
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. SONG Qing (Chairman) RELE (EFR) v
Mr. YU Hai (Chief Executive Officer) FiaitE (4EE) v
Mr. SHAN Baoijie (Vice President) BENIE (5//EZ) v
Ms. YANG Min ezt v
Non-executive Director EHITES
Ms. GE Lu BRI v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIERITES
Mr. WU Ting Yuk, Anthony tAENB AT v
Mr. KWONG Kwok Kong e v
Mr. FU Tingmei BEELE v
Mr. ZHOU Peng BsfE v
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Nomination Committee

The Board has established the Nomination Committee on
November 4, 2013 which currently consists of one executive
Director, Mr. SONG Qing (chairman); and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. WU Ting Yuk, Anthony and
Mr. KWONG Kwok Kong.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are set
out in its terms of reference. Its primary responsibilities include
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, identifying
appropriate and qualified individuals to become Board members
and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships, assessing
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or reappointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer.

According to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee reviews and assesses the Board composition and
makes recommendations of changes to the composition of the
Board. The Nomination Committee would consider the benefits
of all aspects of diversity set out in the Board Diversity Policy,
including but not limited to gender, age, ethnicity, cultural and
educational back ground, communication styles, interpersonal
skills, functional expertise, problem solving skills, professional
qualifications, knowledge and industry and regional experience
and other qualities in reviewing and assessing the composition
of the Board and all appointments to the Board will be based
on merits and will take into account of factors based on the
Group's own business model and specific needs from time to
time.

EEERRS
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The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy on a regular basis (which will include a review on the
effectiveness of the policy), discuss any required changes with
the Board and make recommendation of revision to the Board
Diversity Policy for consideration and approval. The Nomination
Committee has been provided with sufficient resources to
perform its duty. When necessary, the Nomination Committee
will seek independent professional advice, at the Company’s
expense, to perform its responsibilities.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and the committees and the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
considering the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing
for re-election at the annual general meeting and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
Directors. The particulars of the attendance of the Nomination
Committee are set forth as follows:

REZEGREMBNEFTELTEER (B
PEERSZBERNRY) » REFEHH
ERIPABEHNES RIEFTEEE L TIEEER
MEBFGRMEES  UHERBRHME - BF
ZEGCERHENERUBITHREE - W
BERE RRZEGRSXBUEEXEERU
BITHEE > EREARNATKE -

HE2024F12B31HIEFE  RREEY
BOITMAEGEUARTEETEREEG IR
B RRRERREUREIIIFNTES .
B TREBREESIREEFAGEE
BEECERIRZEEERREFT EEE
BEHEFBHINOT

Number of
meetings
attended/
convened

BEHE/
Name of the members of the Nomination Committee 2R EZE G MBS AR
Chairman: xE[E
Mr. SONG Qing RiBERE 2/2
Members: RE :
Mr. WU Ting Yuk, Anthony tHEMB LA 2/2
Mr. KWONG Kwok Kong BRI o 2/2
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Remuneration Committee

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee
on November 4, 2013 which currently consists of one non-
executive Director, Ms. GE Lu; and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. WU Ting Yuk, Anthony
(chairman) and Mr. FU Tingmei.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are set
out in its terms of reference. Its primary responsibilities include
reviewing and formulating policies in respect of remuneration
structure for all Directors and senior management (including
the remuneration packages (inclusive of pension rights and
compensation (if applicable)) of individual executive Directors
and senior management) and making recommendations to
the Board for its consideration, reviewing and evaluating the
performance of individual executive Directors, approving the
terms of executive Directors’ service contracts, and reviewing
and approving matters in relation to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

EEERRS

MEETY
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Remuneration & ZE2024E 12831 HIEEE  HFMEE S
Committee held two meetings to review the remuneration BT TMAL:HE > URTEEEERSHKE
policy for all Directors and senior management and assess 2 A EMFHBIBER RHERITESHRIR -
the performance of executive Directors. The particulars of the ¥EES G EFEHIIWMT :

attendance of the Remuneration Committee are set forth as

follows:

Number of
meetings
attended/
convened

Name of the members of FELEE
the Remuneration Committee ¥ 7 BT E
Chairman: x5
Mr. WU Ting Yuk, Anthony TE MBS 2/2
Members: HE :
Ms. GE Lu Bzt 1/2
Mr. FU Tingmei BiEERLE 2/2
Audit Committee BEZZEY

On November 4, 2013, the Board has established the Audit ZEZ=ER2013F 11 B4HMIBZEES »
Committee currently consists of three independent non- IREE=FIFILIERITES (BD : BIE &
executive Directors, namely, Mr. KWONG Kwok Kong 4 (£fF) - BEELERBRRE)
(chairman), Mr. FU Tingmei and Mr. ZHOU Peng.
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The Board considered that the members of the Audit
Committee possess sufficient professional knowledge and
experience of accounting and financial management for the
performance of their responsibilities.

The roles and functions of the Audit Committee are set out
in its terms of reference. Its primary responsibilities include
serving as a focal point for communication among other
Directors, the external auditor and the internal auditor (where
an internal audit function exists) as regards their duties relating
to financial and other reporting, risk management and internal
controls, external and internal audits and such other financial
and accounting matters as the Board determines from time to
time, assisting the Board in providing an independent review
on the effectiveness of the financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and
overseeing the audit procedure, reviewing the Group’s financial
and accounting policies and practices and performing other
duties and responsibilities as designated by the Board.
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Audit
Committee held five meetings to discharge its responsibilities
and review the Group’s annual and interim results, continuing
connected transactions, reporting and compliance procedures,
reports from the management on the Group's risk management
and internal control systems, the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control function and procedures and also the re-
appointment of the external auditor. The particulars of the
attendance of the Audit Committee are set forth as follows:

BE2024F 1283 HLEFEE > EZEET
BOTARGRUBETHEHRELERAER
FERTHER FEHEXRS ®REKE
RiEr  BEEREHAERRREERNE
EERIE ~ ZERBA S EIEBAERIZF Z M
M2 BWEURBIINBIZEEN - BEZEET
HEFIBHIIMT ¢

Number of
meetings
attended/
convened

FEHE
Name of the members of the Audit Committee = BRRXE
Chairman: ERE:
Mr. KWONG Kwok Kong BBE S 5/5
Members: B :
Mr. FU Tingmei BEESE 5/5
Mr. ZHOU Peng IE)pe 5/5

X

Appointment and Remuneration of External
Auditor

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the total fee paid/
payable to the external auditors of the Group in respect of
audit services is RMB4,500,000. The external auditor has not
performed non-audit services for the Group during the year
ended December 31, 2024.

The Audit Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board as to the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor. Such
appointment, re-appointment and removal are subject to
the approval by the Board and the general meetings of the
Company by the Shareholders.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Group about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the independent auditor’s
report from pages 102 to 109 of this annual report.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended December
31, 2024 which give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group as well as the results and cash flow during that
year.

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements, the Group ensures statutory requirements are met
and applies appropriate accounting policies that are consistently
adopted and makes judgements and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper
accounting records are kept so that the Group could prepare
financial statements in accordance with statutory requirements
and the Group's accounting policies. They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities within the Group.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board would review the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems at least once a year. The Board
confirms that it is responsible for the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems and is responsible for reviewing
the effectiveness of these systems. These systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve the Group's business objectives and the Board can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. During the year ended December 31,
2024, the Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well
as the management report and the internal audit findings, has
performed an annual review on the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
in different aspects of the Group such as financial, operation,
compliance and risk management, and has also assessed
the accounting and financial reporting functions and the
environmental, social & corporate governance function of
the Group, estimated the resources and budgets for training
programmes and appraised the staff members’ qualifications
and experience. In respect of continuing connected
transactions, the Group has implemented a series of general
management policies controlled by multiple departments
to improve corporate governance structure and monitor
the implementation of internal control policies, including
financial control system, anti-fraud and legal monitoring
system, operations and compliance management system, risk
management and assessment policies and internal audit rules.

The Company has established a whistleblowing policy and
system for employees and those who deal with the issuer
(e.g. customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence
and anonymity, with the Audit Committee (or any designated
committee comprising a majority of independent non-executive
Directors) about possible improprieties in any matter related to
the issuer. The Company has also established relevant policy
that promote and support anti-corruption laws and regulations.

The Board considers that the abovementioned systems
(including the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group) are effective and adequate.
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The Group has an internal audit department. The internal audit
department is responsible for conducting comprehensive audits
of each department, subsidiary and member of the Group to
facilitate the management’s control on the assets of the Group.
In addition, it offers consulting services in respect of internal
control to each department of the Group to assist them in
optimizing and enhancing the risk management and internal
control systems and the operating processes. As authorized
by the management, the internal audit department conducts
an investigation on internal corruption. For the year ended
December 31, 2024, the internal audit department did not
discover any circumstances involving fraud, non-compliance
or violation against laws, regulations and rules or any material
incidents due to lack of internal control.

The Board considers that the current risk management and
internal control systems cover the existing businesses of
the Group, and will continue to be optimized in line with the
business development of the Group.

In particular, the Board will devote efforts to complying with the
Listing Rules, ensuring compliance with the relevant laws and
regulation and safeguarding the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general guide to the Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding
to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

The Board assesses the likely impact of any unexpected
significant event that may impact the price of the Shares
or their trading volume and decides whether the relevant
information is considered as inside information and needs to be
disclosed as soon as practicable pursuant to Rules 13.09 and
13.10 of the Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions
under Part XIVA of the SFO. Executive Directors and the
company secretary are also responsible for approving certain
announcements and/or circulars to be issued by the Company
under powers delegated by the Board from time to time.
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Company Secretary

Mr. SO Yiu Fung has resigned as the company secretary and
an authorized representative of the Company with effect from
May 16, 2024, and Mr. CHUNG Ming Fai (“Mr. CHUNG") has
been engaged by the Company as the company secretary and
an authorized representative with effect from May 16, 2024.

The primary contact person of the Company with Mr. CHUNG
is Ms. YANG Min, an executive Director and the Chief Financial
Officer.

Mr. CHUNG has been working in the corporate secretarial
department of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited under China Resources Group since June 2022, and is
mainly responsible for managing the company secretarial and
compliance work for companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Mr. CHUNG is currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of CPA
Australia.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, Mr. CHUNG has
complied with the requirement of taking no less than 15 hours
of the relevant professional training under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

Constitutional Documents

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has
not made any changes to its Memorandum and Articles of
Association.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the re-election of individual retiring
Directors. Except where the Chairman, in good faith, decides
to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or
administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands, all
resolutions tabled at the general meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules. Poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after
each general meeting.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meeting

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the
Company are primary forums for communication between the
Company and its Shareholders. The Company shall provide
Shareholders with relevant information on the resolution(s)
proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in accordance
with the Listing Rules. The information provided shall be
reasonably necessary to enable Shareholders to make an
informed decision on the proposed resolution(s).

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands for Shareholders to
propose new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders
who wish to propose a resolution may request the Company to
convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures
set out in the paragraph below.

Convening an Extraordinary General
Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 57 of the Articles of Association, any one
or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition and shall have the right to add resolutions to a
meeting agenda; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition.

If within two (2) month of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting , the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.
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Investor Relations

The Board believes that effective communication with investors
is essential for establishing investors’ confidence and attracting
new investors. The Company also recognizes the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information
which enables investors to make the best investment decision.

The Company has disclosed all necessary information to the
Shareholders in compliance with the Listing Rules. Updated
and key information of the Company is also available on the
Company's website at www.crmedical.hk. The Company also
replied to the enquiries from Shareholders timely, if any. The
general meetings of the Company provide an important channel
for communications between the Board and the Shareholders.
The Chairman, as well as the chairmen of the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or,
in their absence, other members of the respective committee
and where appropriate, the chairman of the independent Board
Committee, will be available to answer questions at the general
meetings.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders
may send written enquiries to the Company. For contact
details, please refer to page 92 of this annual report.

Note: The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the arrangements on communication with the Shareholders
in 2024 and issued the “Shareholder Communication
Policy of China Resources Medical Holdings Limited”, and
confirmed that it has included channels for the Shareholders
to communicate their views on various matters affecting the
Company and that the Company has taken appropriate and
sufficient steps to solicit and understand the views of the
Shareholders and stakeholders, and the Board is satisfied with
the implementation and effectiveness of such policy. The
summary of the shareholders communication policy is set out
in the following paragraphs.
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The above-mentioned policy aims to maintain continuous,
timely and effective communication with Shareholders
(including potential investors and analysts where appropriate)
to ensure that these stakeholders can obtain timely, consistent
and comprehensive information about the Company when
appropriate. The applicable channels include (1) disclosure
through the Company’s financial reports (i.e., annual report
and interim report); (2) announcements, circulars and other
regulatory disclosure information submitted to the Stock
Exchange in accordance with the continuous disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules, which will also be
immediately published on the website of the Stock Exchange;
(3) the general meeting of the Company; and (4) other
communication activities with investment markets, including
roadshows, industry forums, etc.

The Company also believes that general meeting is an important
opportunity for constructive communication between the
Board. The Company can issue a written request to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company in accordance with
the content and requisite conditions stipulated under Article
57 of the Articles of Association so as to request the Board to
convene a general meeting. The Chairman and the chairmen
of the committees under the Board, and in their absence,
other members of the relevant committees or their designated
representatives shall attend the meeting and communicate with
the Shareholders. The Company encourages its Shareholders to
actively participate in general meetings.

The Company also organizes various activities from time to
time, including press conferences and one-on-one meetings
for investors, roadshows, media interviews, investor promotion
activities and industry forums, etc., to facilitate communication
with Shareholders and investors. The Directors and employees
of the Company must abide by the disclosure responsibilities
and requirements set out in the Company’s inside information
policy when they have contact or dialogue with investors, the
media or other external stakeholders.
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If any Shareholder of the Company have any questions about
his/her shareholding under his/her name, he/she should submit
to the Company’s share registrar (the contact information of
which is set out as below). Shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders can raise comments or inquiries or to request
the company’s public information at any time via e-mail at
ir@crmedical.hk or by post to the registered address of the
Company (in the case of a Shareholder, through the share
registrar of the Company).

The Company understands the importance of protecting the
privacy of Shareholders. Unless otherwise stipulated by laws,
the Company shall not disclose information of any Shareholder
without consent of any such Shareholder.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the following:

Address: 14/F, Kunlun Center Office Building
No. 9, Fuyi Street
Fengtai District
Beijing, the People’s Republic of China
Email: ir@crmedical.hk

Contact Information of the Company’s
Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Address: Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor
Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’'s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862 8688
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Director
Executive Directors

Mr. SONG Qing, aged 60, joined the Group in August 2018
as an executive Director and the vice Chairman, and was re-
designated as the Chairman in April 2021 and then appointed
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee in December
2021. Mr. SONG holds a bachelor’s degree in Chinese medicine
from Anhui University of Traditional Chinese Medicine in
Hefei, the PRC, and obtained his chief pharmacist title from
the general logistics department of the People’s Liberation
Army in April 1999. Mr. SONG has extensive experiences in
corporate management, and has over 30 years of experience
and sophisticated background in the pharmaceutical industry.
Mr. SONG is currently the chairman of CR Healthcare, which is
the controlling shareholder of the Company, and also takes the
role as the Company’s Chairman in order to lead the healthcare
segment of China Resources. The Company believes that with
Mr. SONG's extensive experience in corporate management
and mergers and acquisitions, and his deep understanding
of the healthcare industry, he will lead the Group to promote
business development, actively participate in the reform
of state-owned enterprises hospitals, accelerate the scale
expansion plan of the Company, further leverage advantages of
China Resources Group and further synergize the collaboration
between the Company and CR Healthcare. Mr. SONG was
the director of China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited
(which is listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange;
stock code: 3320) from May 2016 to August 2018, and also its
president from June 2017 to August 2018. Mr. SONG was the
chairman of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (which is listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange; stock
code: 000999) and he is currently the chairman of DIRUI
Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (which is listed on ChiNext of
Shenzhen Stock Exchange; stock code: 300396). He also served
as an inspection pharmacist of quality inspection department, a
pharmacist in charge and the director of production department,
the director of the enterprise management department and
an assistant to president of Shenzhen South Pharmaceutical
Factory. Mr. SONG served as an assistant general manager,
the director of technology center, the director of medical &
pharmaceutical department of Sanjiu Enterprise.

EFREREEAS

=5
BITES
RABFKE 605 1R2018FE8HMARE
BlEZEARTESTRREIZESTE IR
202V FABRERRBIEE R KIN20214F
NEEZTEARBZEGEF RELER
BEHrEEEmMEHIBERPEEXSE+
Eﬁ{j:jrBA1999$4H§%¢AE%ﬁ&$
MBI TATEEM RELEEBEEW
PESELR  UKRBBEBETENRTE
BREME=+F&E - REEBAEEER
BIERKRERERREESR  FRRTEAR
BEER > HEBHNEERIRPRIEESH
BEe RELEEBEENTLESIENEHAME
KE o URHBERITERRZNIER KA
BIMEEHEKTEAERESHERLER > LA
2 HE R BRI E RN AERERE
R BRTRE— S AERERNERE
B BFA AN B 2 RV E U E o R
FER 201658 £ 20185 8 5 HAEEE
HEZEEERLAE WRAERLET K
5% 3320) 2 EF > R 2017F6 B E
2018 F8 B HAM B EZ R B A FBMTS o Rt
SBREFEB-NBERMHBERLE (R
BHER G LT BRHB AR 1 000999) 2 &
ER BATRTERBERERMDERA
2] (RYIEBHRZMAIENR B REMNSE !
300396) 2 EE KRB - WG ERIEA
SUBE R B i SR A B AT ~ A A P B EEAT
TR CEXEEMBIE BEHPE > =Nt
EEBELENE - FMPOEE BESR
XEHRER -

SHRBZRARAT “T_EREEE o3 <




DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREHREEAE

Mr. YU Hai, aged 57, joined the Group in February 2023 as
an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer. He
is currently the vice chairman and general manager of CR
Healthcare, and served as the senior vice general manager of
CR Healthcare from January 2020 to February 2023 and as the
chairman of Liaoning Healthcare Industry Group Co., Ltd. from
July 2018 to January 2020. Mr. YU worked in Benxi Municipal
Government, Liaoning Province from July 2008 to July 2018,
and served as the deputy mayor of Benxi City etc. Prior to that,
Mr. YU held various positions at government departments
including the deputy director of the Social Development
Division of the Department of Science & Technology of
Liaoning Province, the deputy director of the High-tech
Development and Industrialization Division of the Department
of Science & Technology of Liaoning Province, the deputy
director of the Bureau of Science and Technology of Nagchu
District, the Tibet Autonomous Region, and the principal
officer of the Industrial and Social Development Division, the
Scientific and Technological Commission of Liaoning Province
etc. Mr. YU holds a doctor of science degree in pharmaceutical
affairs management from the School of Pharmacy, Shenyang
Pharmaceutical University.

Mr. SHAN Baojie, aged 53, joined the Group in August 2021
as a non-executive Director and was re-designated as an
executive Director in December 2021, and he is also the vice
president of the Company. Mr. SHAN obtained a master degree
in Accounting from Renmin University in Beijing in June 2002
and a bachelor degree in Chemistry from Wuhan University
in Wuhan in July 1992. Mr. SHAN is also currently the vice
general manager of CR Healthcare, the Company’s controlling
shareholder, and is also taking the office as a director of a
number of its subsidiaries. Prior to joining CR Healthcare, Mr.
SHAN was with the Group from 2011 to 2016 as the executive
general manager and then the vice general manager, and he
was also an executive Director of the Company from February
2016 to November 2016. He had served in a variety of roles
at the State Food and Drug Administration from 1998 to 2011,
and also completed a training program at the World Health
Organization in 2007, where he gained experience in the U.S.
pharmaceutical supervision and management system. From
July 1992 to July 1998, Mr. SHAN worked in the general
manager'’s office of the Northeast Pharmaceutical Group Co.,
Ltd.
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Ms. YANG Min, aged 46, was appointed as an executive
Director and the Chief Financial Officer in June 2023. She
is currently the chief financial officer of CR Healthcare.
Previously, Ms. YANG served as the general manager of the
finance department of China Resources Gas Group Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1193)
from December 2019 to May 2023, and she has successively
served in various positions of the aforesaid company from
November 2009 to December 2019 including senior deputy
general manager of the finance department, deputy general
manager of the audit department (acting head of department),
deputy general manager of the finance department, assistant
general manager of the finance department, senior manager
of the finance department, assistant to the general manager
and financial manager of its subsidiaries, and the expatriate
responsible person of finance. Prior to that, Ms. YANG served
successively as manager, senior auditor and auditor of Ernst
& Young Huaming LLP Shenzhen Branch from September
2002 to November 2009. Ms. YANG holds a bachelor’'s degree
in management majoring in accounting from the School of
Economics and Management of Northwestern University and is
a Certified Public Accountant of the PRC.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREHREEAE

Non-executive Director

Ms. GE Lu, aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive Director
and a member of the Remuneration Committee in September
2023. She was appointed as a non-executive director of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (stock code: 1193) in September
2023, an external director of China Resources Digital Holdings
Co., Limited in November 2021 and an external director of CR
Healthcare in August 2021. She is also a designated external
director of the business unit(s) of China Resources Group. Ms.
GE served as positions including the vice general manager,
chief information officer of China Resources Pharmaceutical
Commercial Group Limited (M B EEHEEBBRAE) and
China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (3£ i &8 %%
E B AR/ F) and the general manager assistant of Beijing
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (IR B ERKRHBBERAE) (how
known as China Resources Pharmaceutical Commercial Group
Limited (EEHEZmEEB B R A E)) from January 2010 to
August 2021. Ms. GE has over 30 years of working experience
in the pharmaceutical industry and specializes in supply
chain management, logistics management and information
systems management and planning in the pharmaceutical
distribution field. Ms. GE holds a master’s degree of business
administration from Tsinghua University (;5 Z X 2) and a
bachelor's degree of computer science from Beijing Jiaotong
University (JE IR @A), and holds the title of Senior
Engineer.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WU Ting Yuk, Anthony, aged 70, joined the Group
in August 2018 as an independent non-executive Director
and the Chairman, and then resigned as the Chairman in
April 2021. Mr. WU was appointed as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee in November 2022, and a member
of the Nomination Committee in June 2023. Mr. WU is a leader
in the healthcare industry and has extensive management
experience in medical system. Mr. WU joined the board of the
Hong Kong Hospital Authority in 1999 and was formerly its
chairman from 2004 to 2013. He has so far been the longest-
serving chairman of the Hospital Authority. He has led the team
of the Hospital Authority to manage all public hospitals and
public clinics in Hong Kong and implemented the public health
policy of the Hong Kong Government. He has also actively
promoted a number of public and private medical co-operation
projects during his tenure. Mr. WU is currently the principal
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advisor to the State Administration of Traditional Chinese
Medicine of the PRC, a member of the Chinese Medicine
Reform and Development Advisory Committee. He was a
member of the State Council’'s Medical Reform Leadership
Advisory Committee and an advisor to the Public Policy
Advisory Committee of the National Health and Family Planning
Commission. Other important public positions that Mr. WU
has served include a member of the 12th and 13th Standing
Committee of the Chinese People's Political Consultative
Conference National Committee, and has been awarded JP and
GBS by the government of Hong Kong. Mr. WU also served as
the chairman of the Chamber Council of the Hong Kong General
Chamber of Commerce from 2010 to 2012, and is currently a
member of its consultation committee. He is currently a board
member of the West Kowloon Cultural District Authority. Mr.
WU was a partner of Ernst & Young (“EY") from 1985 to 2015,
and served as chairman of the EY's Far East Region from
2000 to 2005. He is currently the chief advisor to MUFG Bank,
Ltd., the chairman of The China Oxford Scholarship Fund, an
honorary professor of the Faculty of Medicine of the Chinese
University of Hong Kong, the Faculty of Medicine of the Hong
Kong Baptist University and the Peking Union Medical College
Hospital, and an honorary fellow of the Hong Kong College of
Community Medicine. Mr. WU also has directorships in certain
listed companies of the main board of the Stock Exchange: he
is an independent non-executive director of Sing Tao News
Corporation Limited (stock code: 1105), Power Assets Holdings
Limited (stock code: 6), Cstone Pharmaceuticals (stock code:
2616), Ocumension Therapeutics (stock code: 1477) and Hui
Xian Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code: 87001), and
is also the chairman and non-executive director of CLARITY
MEDICAL GROUP HOLDING LIMITED (stock code: 1406),
and the chairman and independent non-executive director of
Venus Mecttech (Hangzhou) Inc. (stock code: 2500). He was
an executive director of Sincere Watch (Hong Kong) Limited
(stock code: 444); and an independent non-executive director
of Guangdong Investment Limited (stock code: 270) and China
Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
966). He was also an independent non-executive director of
Agricultural Bank of China Limited (stock code: 1288) from
2009 to 2015. He was also a director of the Fidelity Funds from
2011 to 2014. Mr. WU is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, and the honorary chairman
of the Institute of Certified Management Accountants (Australia)
Hong Kong Branch.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREHREEAE

Notwithstanding Mr. WU's engagement as an independent
non-executive director of seven listed companies (including the
Company) and an non-executive director of one listed company,
Mr. WU confirmed that he would devote sufficient time to
act as an independent non-executive Director based on the
following:

o Mr. WU is neither a full-time member of the
abovementioned companies nor involved in the day-to-
day operations or management of such companies. As
such, he has no executive and management responsibility
therein;

o he is not a chief executive officer or full-time executive
director of any listed company;

o with his background and experience, Mr. WU is
fully aware of the responsibilities and expected time
involvement for an independent non-executive director.
He has sufficient understanding of his role as independent
director in different listed companies and of estimating
the time required for attending to the affairs of each listed
company. He has not found difficulties in devoting to and
managing his time with numerous companies and he is
confident that with his experience in being responsible for
several roles, he will be able to discharge his duties to the
Company; and

U Mr. WU's role in the Group is non-executive in nature
and he will not be involved in the daily management
of the Group's business, thus his engagement as an
independent non-executive Director will not require his
full-time participation.

Based on the foregoing, the Directors are of the view that the
various positions currently held by Mr. WU will not result in
Mr. WU not having sufficient time to act as an independent
non-executive Director or not properly discharging his fiduciary
duties as a Director.
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Mr. KWONG Kwok Kong, aged 77, joined the Group in
September 2013 as an independent non-executive Director
and also the chairman of the Audit Committee and has been
appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee on March
23, 2018. He was appointed as a member of the Remuneration
Committee on June 13, 2023 and resigned from such position
on September 14, 2023. He was the chief executive officer of
Pok Oi Hospital, a well-known non-profit hospital in Hong Kong.
As the chief executive officer, Mr. KWONG provided corporate
governance and management support to the board of directors
for development, management and supervision of the units
under Pok Oi Hospital for the past 10 years. He joined Pok Oi
Hospital as an internal audit manager in 2003. Mr. KWONG is a
director of Yuen Long District Healthy City Association Company
Limited, a non-profit organization supporting the government to
promote public healthcare messages to people in the district.
Before joining Pok Oi Hospital, Mr. KWONG served as the
principal auditor of the Audit Commission of the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Mr. KWONG
served in the Audit Commission of the Government of Hong
Kong since 1980. Mr. KWONG has been a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 1982.

Mr. FU Tingmei, aged 58, joined the Group in February 2023
as an independent non-executive Director and also a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. He
currently serves as an independent non-executive director of the
following companies which are listed on the Stock Exchange:
China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (stock code:
3320), Guotai Junan International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1788), COFCO Joycome Foods Limited (stock code:
1610) and China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2016;
also listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601916)).
Mr. FU was an independent non-executive director of Beijing
Enterprises Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0392) from July 2008 to June 2017, an
independent non-executive director of CPMC Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0906)
from June 2008 to July 2019 and an independent non-executive
director of Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1658) from May
2016 to March 2023. Mr. FU has over 30 years of experience
in investment, finance, law and business management. Mr. FU
holds a master’s degree in law and a Ph.D. degree in law from
London University, the United Kingdom.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREHREEAE

Mr. ZHOU Peng, aged 48, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee
in September 2023. Mr. ZHOU was appointed as an executive
director of HKE Holdings Limited (which is listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1726) since August
2024. He is the founder of Deep Blue Ridge Capital (“DBR
Capital”). DBR Capital is a multi-strategy investment firm based
in Hong Kong. Mr. ZHOU has 20 years of experience in global
mergers and acquisitions and capital markets. Before founding
DBR Capital, Mr. ZHOU worked in Deutsche Bank (Hong Kong)
and Credit Suisse (New York), and cooperated with the world’s
top institutional and corporate clients to complete a number of
cross-industry and cross-product transactions; and Mr. ZHOU'’s
career began in Bank of China. Mr. ZHOU holds a master's
degree in business administration from Columbia University in
New York.

Senior Management

Mr. WU Xinchun, aged 54, was appointed as the vice president
of the Company in December 2018. He is also the deputy
general manager of CR Healthcare. From September 2016
to November 2018, Mr. WU served as the chairman of China
Resources Wugang (Hubei) Hospital Management Co.,Ltd. and
Wugang CR Gas*. From September 2001 to November 2018,
he was the director of technology management department,
technology quality department, innovation department,
intellectual property department and general manager of
information and innovation department of Wugang Group*,
executive director and general manager of Wugang Modern
City Services Group*, executive director and general manager
of Wuhan Yangtze River Water*
manager of the headquarters of China Baowu Iron and Steel
Group and Wugang Group*, etc. And He also served as deputy
secretary general of China Iron and Steel Industry Association
and independent director of Kingray New Materials Science &
Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed in the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 600390). Mr. WU holds a doctor degree
in engineering from Wuhan University of Technology and was
granted the title of senior engineer at a professor level from
Titles Evaluation Committee of Hubei Province in December
2009.
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Mr. ZHANG Bing, aged 53, was appointed as the vice
president of the Company on December 23, 2024. He is also
currently the vice general manager of CR Healthcare. Mr.
ZHANG was successively a surgeon of Sunjiawan Hospital* (4
KEB2R%) , a physician, attending physician, vice president and
president of Fuxin Mining Group Pingan Hospital* (B#iEzEE
BT %28 [%) , the president of 157 Hospital of Liaoning Health
Group* (ERE&EE — At ER) , and the vice president and
president of Fuxin Mining General Hospital* (& #f##42 B [5) .
Mr. ZHANG holds a master degree in Clinical Medicine with
maijor in Surgery from Liaoning Medical College* (BZEEE07) ,
and holds the title of Chief Physician.

Mr. LU Qingrong, aged 47, was appointed as the vice president
of the Company on December 23, 2024. He is also currently
the vice general manager of CR Healthcare. Before joining the
Group, Mr. LU successively worked for BYD Company Limited
and ZTE Corporation. He joined Shenzhen China Resources
Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Company Limited* (GZ3)I1ZE
ZHBERPAERAT, which was listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, stock code: 000999) in July 2002, and successively
served as a budget analyst, budget director and the director
of financial management department, the general manager of
strategic operation department and the general manager of big
health business department. Since August 2020, he has been
the general manager of strategic operation department (formerly
the strategic management department) of CR Healthcare.
Mr. LU holds a bachelor's degree in Economics with major
in Accounting from Fudan University, and holds the title of
Intermediate Accountant.

*  For identification purpose only

EEREREEAR

SREE 5358 1R2024F 128 23HE SR
FAXATRBIRE - BERITMEEEBRERE
BlAERIR o SRECE B ABRIETHRIRE BRI
HE BHMEXERFTLEMREN 8
B BfrE -RE X BEEER LB
i BHEABRKEIRE RESHE -
REAFEREEBERIINBEXBRE
B2 WiES TTERMEE -

EEBEE 4758 1R2024F 128230 %
ZEANNBIEAEE - WERITMEEERR
FERIAEIE o EIMMAAEER > BREZ L
BUELLTHERASBRAR ~ PEBARKRNDE
FRATER c 2002 FE7 BIMAEYIZEB =N
BHERMARAD CRUIBERZA LT
A&7 A5 55% © 000999) il 45 1% # T B 75 B 1B 20
EEAOME EEIE BINE BKES
WA AERSEDALIBER -
2020 F s BiEHEAE HREEHKES S (R
AEEEED) BB BREEFAEEX
BEstB2a¥E RBBLEG HEET
R cEMEAS o

EHRRERARAR

“TOPEERSE 101 ‘



B HENR S

KPMG

To the shareholders of
China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 110 to 243,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
and notes, comprising material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB"”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code"”) together with
any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

REBBRZERAMRLIBRKRRE
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BERERAR (ERE) REKNBAE
(MTEEE) NEaVERE  IWREHMBR
FEER 2024512 831 HHEG S MR
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
LA R S

FRBESFEEREBEHFINEEHE > 582
HEMGRaMBRENBIRAEENSE
IHe BEFHEEAENGREMBRREREET
B LRERNE R TETRER > &M
THELEFIHRREHEBHNER

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

T

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2.4.

BRERE B RRME 17 U R M 24098 5TEE o

The Key Audit Matter
RS E st EIR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEEEEPENAEHN

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
goodwill of RMB3,599 million in relation to business
acquisitions, which represented 27% of the Group's
consolidated total assets.

R2024F12B31H EEEMEHBWBERSEHE
ARE3IL9EET HENR BEEGRSEERE
E/\] 27% ©

Goodwill was allocated to respective cash-generating
unit (CGU) groups. Impairment test is performed by
management on respective CGU groups to which
goodwill has been allocated at least annually by
comparing the carrying value with the recoverable
amount of the CGU groups, which is the higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal.
BERAPEEENNREEELSUAR - BIEES
FRIOmESEHENERREEL BEAMARET
—XBEANE > AEARREELABUARNMNRE
BHEENEIEE CIERAEERAABEREER
TR FE) (FLLER

The value in use of the CGU groups were determined
by management using discounted cash flow
forecasts. The key assumptions of the discounted
cash flow model included revenue growth rates,
gross profit margins and discount rates.
HeELBEUANNERABENHEREERAR
HEeERERANET MRRERERENTERR
BERGEIERER s EFTRALREK -

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment of
goodwill included the following:

MM EEREFMATHNESIZEFEE

° understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of management’s key internal
control in respect of the goodwill impairment
assessment;

s THERETEEEEMNEERENGEENIERN
AR T R BB

o on a sample basis, comparing the key assumptions
used in the discounted cash flow forecasts under
value in use, including revenue growth rates and
gross profit margins, with historical performance
and other available external information;

s MHMEREAEBETHURRRESRERINTIEZR
= (BEWEIE R R ENXK) EFE S RIT R EH A
BISSMERE RHETT LR ;
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LA EM R S

The Key Audit Matter
RSBt EIH

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEEEEPENAEHEN

We identified impairment assessment of goodwill
as a key audit matter because the key assumptions
in determining the recoverable amount of the
CGUs involves a significant degree of management
judgement and may be subject to management bias.

BB EERENLAEAARESNFTE REA
EERETELFEATWESENTERRIRKRE

BEEFE > JEFEEERRENIENR

on a sample basis, with the assistance of our
internal valuation specialists, evaluating: (i)
the methodology adopted with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards; and (ii) the discount rates used in the
discounted cash flow forecasts under value in use,
by performing independent expectation based on
external available information;
EMERSHEEER BT > HwETE02ETE
Al g st ER R ERRMN % 5 R()VEREET
MIRBEEREFAMANEIRER  5IEAREI
B RIS ERHE LB 511

evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management for each of the key assumptions,
including the revenue growth rates, gross profit
margins and discount rates adopted in the
discounted cash flow forecasts under value in
use and considering the possibility of error or
management bias;

TMLEEENSEIZERR (BREEABE M
RIRERETRRAFIRANKEIERER s ENEXK
BRIRE) BETHNBEES > TEEBHIRERK
EREREF LRI ;
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The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

PR EtER ZEEEEPENAEHN

performing a retrospective review of last year's
impairment assessment and comparing the
cash flow forecasts under value in use with the
current year's results to assess the reliability
of management’s forecasting process, making
enquiries of management as to the reasons for
any significant variances identified and whether
these have been considered in the current
forecasts; and
HF—FEMNRBETGETENSER > LA ER
BETNRERERAERFEENEEETER
MeE ERERRAEFNA RN » RArERNE
MEAREREEETERNNEIRESEZERAE
FAREAEEEFLEH ; &

considering the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of the impairment
assessment with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards.
SERTEAENNETE > ERGEHHHRERA
BRIBEFEIRES L o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Information other than the consolidated
financial statements and auditor’s report
thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

in e BRI E B B Az S
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.
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o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. \We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Yu Wai Sum.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
n‘l-F $E13—§

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB"))

BE2024F 12831 BIEFE UARE TARK)) 7I7TR)

2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
B 5 ARET T AREF T
REVENUE i 5 9,854,790 10,107,500
Cost of sales HE A (8,044,964) (8,201,663)
Gross profit EF 1,809,826 1,905,837
Other income EHAA 6 140,991 189,887
Other gains and losses, net Hham M 5187358 7 (46,186) (107,097)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (623) (2,728)
Administrative and other operating ~ {TEURE B & A
expenses (1,048,592) (970,769)
Finance costs % ER 9 (75,275) (131,835)
Impairment losses on financial ETRMARENEERE
and contract assets, net 518558 (7,921) (129,347)
Impairment loss on right-of-use FREEERERE
assets 16 - (1,863)
Impairment loss on property, ER e
plant and equipment BEREIE 15 (32,153) (208,926)
Impairment loss of goodwill 2 AR 17 - (141,018)
Share of profits of associates E{EHE AR HE 98,603 90,780
PROFIT BEFORE TAX a1 A 8 838,670 492,921
Income tax PS8 12 (166,923) (165,031)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEFHE 671,747 327,890
Attributable to: FELG :
Owners of the Company Zi/NEIEZ TN 565,875 257,680
Non-controlling interests JEVE R = 105,872 70,210
671,747 327,890
EARNINGS PER SHARE FBREEBERER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY FEANELER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE sl
PARENT 14
Basic (RMB yuan) BEAX (AR 0.45 0.20
Diluted (RMB yuan) 8 (AR T) 0.45 0.20

The notes on pages 120 to 243 form part of these financial S 120E 243 EMMizEAILEHFFRERMN—
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders &84 o N FE EFET A A B PR B B AYEE
of the Company for the year are set out in note 13. IEENERRE

» 110 China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REEEN@EERR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) & Z 2024412 531 HIEEE U REFITR)

2024 2023
2024 & 20234
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
Mt EE AREEF T AEREF T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEFE 671,747 327,890
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EemmU A
INCOME
Other comprehensive income BAGEMDEEERN
that will not be reclassified to Hh2mUWA
profit or loss:
Re-measurement losses on defined REBAITEINEHE
benefit plans, net of nil tax B8 HIBRRIES T 31 (32,480) (14,306)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEZ2mWA48%8
FOR THE YEAR 639,267 313,584
Attributable to: FEfL -
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIEZ TN 540,605 247,087
Non-controlling interests JEERE T 98,662 66,497
639,267 313,584

The notes on pages 120 to 243 form part of these financial 5 120E 243 B MisE A L E M FEREN—
statements. BB o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
MBI RER

At 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) 122024812 831 H (U RB¥5ITR)

Note
B =%

2024
2024 4

RMB'000
ARET T

2023
2023
RMB'000
ARET T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBNEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRKRE 15 4,791,782 4,863,851
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16(a) 479,821 497,843
Goodwvill HE 17 3,599,182 3,599,182
Other intangible assets HthtmpEE 18 7,781 45,304
Investments in associates REE AT ZEE 19 993,602 982,350
Receivables from invest-operate- REKE —ZiE
transfer (“10T") hospitals — %32 (NOT)) Bk
Z FEWGERIE 20 8,231 37,434
Financial assets at fair value MAnEEstE2EH
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") BEET AR @
(MUrnEEER
HE# st ABml)
NEREE 21 34,855 49,084
Deferred tax assets IRERIEEE 32 33,223 42,178
Other non-current assets HIERESHEE 22 130,535 107,887
Total non-current assets JEMENE EARRR 10,079,012 10,225,113
CURRENT ASSETS MENE E
Inventories =78 23 301,662 302,076
Trade and bills receivables FEW & S I8 K%
e R 24 1,412,156 1,535,652
Contract assets EHEE 25 4,605 8,257
Prepayments, deposits and FAFRIE ~ REBE X
other receivables H W =IE 26 427,199 270,499
Due from related parties JFE Lk A Bk 7 T 0B 38(b) 39,730 32,213
Restricted and pledged bank PR Il 70 & $E
deposits IRITER 27 76,453 44,285
Cash and cash equivalents BEMIEEEEY 27 977,333 1,236,097
Total current assets MBBEEERE 3,239,138 3,429,079

» 112 China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBIRRRE

At 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) 12024412 831 H (UARKFIR)

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AB®TT AR¥ETT
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENAE
Trade and bills payables B ZRIBE R
N 28 1,696,260 1,731,495
Other payables and accruals HAERRIE &
fEstER 29 1,588,996 1,670,544
Due to related parties JFE (< A Bt o 7R 18 38(b) 435,403 369,181
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTERITER 30 701,717 1,277,874
Lease liabilities HESE 16(b) 51,946 45,028
Deferred income EIEW A 3,769 22,809
Tax payable SR E 21,295 90,442
Total current liabilities ViEI=R= 4,499,386 5,207,373
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES MENEEFRE (1,260,248) (1,778,294)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BMEERREAES

LIABILITIES 8,818,764 8,446,819
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FErRIaBs
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sTEIRITERR 30 734,700 884,846
Lease liabilities MEaRr 16(b) 107,239 103,642
Defined benefit plan obligations REBHNEEEE 31 393,843 364,426
Deferred income IREW A 38,827 23,060
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBEE 32 25,211 33,783
Provision B = 1,930
Other liabilities Hih&aE 20,876 22,066
Total non-current liabilities ERBBERELE 1,320,696 1,433,753
Net assets EEFE 7,498,068 7,013,066
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e MR RRET

At 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) 122024812 831 H (U RB¥5ITR)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2024 2023
2024 & 20234
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
B 5 ARETT ARETT
EQUITY HEm
Equity attributable to owners of AT EB A
the Company FE(L 1 i
Share capital i 33 267 267
Reserves =& 34 6,213,269 5,811,794
6,213,536 5,812,061
Non-controlling interests JEVER = 1,284,532 1,201,005
Total equity ‘B 7,498,068 7,013,066

The consolidated financial statements on pages 110 to 243
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 25 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yu Hai
Fig
Director

)

The notes on pages 120 to 243 form part of these financial
statements.

FBI0E243EMNIR G HFF R FFL 202543
B2 QEEEZSH ARBRET > AR
TRERE

Yang Min
e
Director

EF

F120E 243 B MM E A EMFERFKP—
5 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) & Z 2024412 531 HIEEE U REFITR)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Note
M sE

REKEEHNRETARE

2024
20245

RMB’000
N

2023
20234
RMB'000
AREF T

Profit before tax AR NS 838,670 492,921
Adjustments for: FEE
Finance costs MBER 9 75,275 131,835
Share of profits of associates EhaERARNFE (98,603) (90,780)
Interest and investment income FEREEWA 6 (14,212) (85,333)
Dividend income on a financial asset MUA R EEFEEE
at FVTPL EHt ABRIESRH
BENREWA 6 (3,589) (3,871)
Depreciation of property, ME - BEREBEITE
plant and equipment 8 557,693 552,590
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {FREBERTE 8 57,892 51,753
Amortisation of intangible assets HE & E 8 3,311 6,520
Amortisation of deferred income IEIEUT A 85 (12,414) (15,279)
Loss on disposal of items of BEEYME BE
property, plant, equipment RERETEE
and intangible assets IBE I8 7 11,187 2,385
Change in fair value of UrRnEEstEEE
financial assets at FVTPL gt ABmH
THMEEANEBED 7 14,229 16,520
Foreign exchange differences, net PE D= FEE 7 1,185 77,689
Impairment losses on financial THEERERETFE
assets, net 7,921 129,347
Impairment losses on property, Yz~ BB B R B
plant and equipment and FEREEERERE
right-of-use assets 32,153 210,789
Impairment losses on goodwill e AR - 141,018
Write-down of inventories FEMB 481 216
1,471,179 1,618,320
Change in inventories FEEH (67) 65,183
Change in trade and bills FEW & R IE K%
receivables FE N R A D 114,021 (118,768)
Change in contract assets BB EEE) 4,009 7,517
Change in prepayments, FEIRIE ~ REBEX
deposits and other receivables Hfih fE W= IB & E) (40,968) 4,198
Change in amounts due FE UL BB 75 sRIB & E)
from related parties (7,517) (1,515)
Change in trade and bills payables eI B ZIE K
INEEES L) (35,235) 9,713
Change in other payables HhENRIBR
and accruals FEst & B EH) (63,781) (164,739)
Change in amounts due to P& {3 BRI BG: 75 FRIB & &
related parties 66,222 (68,447)
Change in defined plan obligations SR E st 2| S E&H) (15,361) (41,711)
Change in deferred income PRI YT A EEED 2,225 17,211
Change in provision BEE) (1,930) (21,954)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mARERERE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) #ZE 2024412 B 31 B IEEE WA RHEFITR)

2024
2024 5

RMB'000
ARBTTT

2023
2023
RMB'000
AR¥F T

Cash generated from operations REFTELEIRERE 1,492,797 1,305,008
Interest received BUFIE 13,150 53,513
Income tax paid BEIFTER (235,687) (163,398)
Net cash generated from operating A& EFFR1EIR S $%8
activities 1,270,260 1,195,123
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING KERETHNIEERE
ACTIVITIES
Investment income on financial UAnBEstE2EE
assets at FVTPL BENFT ABmIETR
BEREWG 1,062 10,5629
Dividend received from a financial BUAABESEAH
asset at FVTPL #H)t ABmB SRl
BEWINZKE 3,589 3,871
Purchases of items of property, BEYE BEX
plant and equipment RIBIEE (563,689) (486,681)
Proceeds from disposal of items of BB - BEKRKRE
property, plant and equipment BB FR1ERIE 89 54,983
Receipt of government grant for B2 ~ T R skt
property, plant and equipment Z BTN 6,916 8,768
Purchases of financial assets at BEUARBEFZR
FVTPL HE T ABmN
TRIEE (154,000) (2,473,600)
Proceeds from disposal of financial EBEEMUANEESER
assets at FVTPL HEszt ABGH
SRBEREHIE 154,000 2,473,600
Purchases of other financial assets B85 EiZ# 5 B 2=
at amortised cost FENTREE - (210,000)
Proceeds from disposal of other BE B H iR aE pl AR
financial assets at amortised cost FENTREE
FR2ZIE - 1,082,178
Repayment from IOT hospitals REIOTEREZER 39,476 7,388
Dividends from associates KEBZEANBNKRE - 88,883
Settlement of consideration for the  #55WEEMIB AT~
acquisition of subsidiaries RE - (3,768,032)
Changes in restricted and pledged PR &HI4EF B IR ERITER
bank deposits EE (32,168) (25,406)
Settlement of balances due from 455 FE U BA Bl 5 TRIBAE BR
related parties - 611,424
Net cash flows used in investing KREEEFTE
activities BEREF5E (544,725) (2,622,095)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in RMB) & Z 2024412 531 HIEEE U REFITR)

2024 2023
2024 5 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBTRT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REREEERY

ACTIVITIES HE&EnR=
New bank borrowings FEIRTTER 36(b) 1,724,282 5,553,984
Repayment of bank borrowings IRITERAER 36(b) (2,450,585) (5,772,797)
Principal portion of lease payments &R AES I D 36(b) (38,039) (46,468)
Dividend paid BNKRE (139,130) (42,353)
Dividends paid to non-controlling ST IFEREE

shareholders 2R (15,135) (13,181)
Repayment of other liabilities Hih&aENER 36(b) (2,485) —
Interest paid [=REESS 36(b) (63,703) (116,268)
Net cash flows used in MEEBTRAREREFEE

financing activities (984,795) (437,083)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND BENEEEEY

CASH EQUIVALENTS DR EE (259,260) (1,864,055)
Cash and cash equivalents at FYREMRIREEEY

beginning of year 1,236,097 3,100,011
Effect of exchange rate changes, net FESR &SR, 2558 48 496 141

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FXRIBEMIREEEY
END OF YEAR 977,333 1,236,097

The notes on pages 120 to 243 form part of these financial 55 120E 243 BRI E B AL IS LR FSIR KT
statements. —& 5 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR M IR R M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2.1

(5 AERRAESN » LARETIT)

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited is
a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands. The address of the registered office of the
Company is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South Church
Street, PO Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY1-1002, Cayman
Islands. The principal place of business of the Company in
Chinese Mainland is located at 14/F, Kunlun Center Office
Building, No. 9 Fuyi Street, Fengtai District, Beijing, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
immediate holding company is CRH (Medical) Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and the
ultimate holding company is China Resources Company
Limited (“CR Co."), a state-owned enterprise established
in the PRC. None of them produce financial statements
available for public use.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were mainly
engaged in (i) provision of general healthcare services;
(ii) provision of hospital management services, sale
of pharmaceuticals, medical devices and medical
consumables and provision of other services in Chinese
Mainland.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are
disclosed in note 42 to the financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for financial assets at FVTPL
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in RMB and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

2.1

rEEH
EHEBREERBERL2BDNHERES
HEMAILASBEREERE - KRQE
5 1} #% =5 &= 0 3E 2 4th Floor, Harbour
Place, 103 South Church Street, PO
Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY1-1002,
Cayman lIslands > JAHHEE A B H A
(MpEy) IR EREREEHINIR
mPLEFRB1418

RBREHR  AEBNERZERAF
AEHER (BR) BRAE (—BRE
BEBRESEMRILNAFE) » &&
ERABASTREFERAQF (THEH
F£H) (—ERPERINREEE) -
ZEABIERHEIARAERNTE
K o

TEE » AREREWBAT (T2
B TERENPERM ()R HE
BEERD (MRHBREERS
HERERD  BRSMKABREEN > Uk
RMHEEMARTS o

FRBDEBZMB AT ZFHBRMBHR
RIFE421FE ©

AR
MHERRERRERS ST ERESES
ZENEERMBEREEN G EI R
BEBRAEMRA 2B ERE S - BRI
ARBESEEHEHFABaNE
MEEN BV BRRIEELMAE
EARE o BRIEFINGRBE - MBS HRARMUA
REyH RETHRENERIZIN
THLEL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR R M R

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (FRZHEIEAES > UARKEIIR)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by RMB1.26 billion. As
at 31 December 2024, the Group has unutilised bank
facilities of approximately HKD3.40 billion and RMB4.39
billion (equivalent to approximately RMB7.54 billion in
total). The directors of the Company have reviewed the
Group's cash flow forecast for the next twelve months
and are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
facilities to repay the liabilities. Accordingly, the directors
of the Company consider it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for
the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly
or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

R2024%F 128310 KEBH R
BERERHEESHARKI126(E
TE°oR2024F 12831 H > ZEEHE
REARITIREBEENMIEETK
AREE43IET TEaHHOARKETS4
i) c A RRESEBRAEAEE KK
T+ EBEMBERETAEA > LRAA
EEBERHTEEEEGE -HIt» &
REBEERARFELCERERER
BUBERRIDBIRE °

REMBREEEEE2024F 128
BTHIEFEARRR REKBATE
BRER -WBABIEALRTDHAEER
A EAERENER (BEGENTE
B  EXAEEEZBEHSERENE
EREHRAERIR AR ER
WA MR ENREREENTEE
R BNIRAEAN DI EAERENR
Fis R EHRWAEREE) » BIRE
ERERE

BR—REE > 2HREEATRE
g ERAREDEERABEEERE
HRONRZHBREEIERLER -
FEERFHEARENRESTHER
BOREEEFMAERBEERIBER
BiE

(a) HERBHRNHMKERFTAA
SIMNBEHIRHE;

(b) HASMLZBEFTELRERN ; &

) AEENKREEREBEERREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR E MBI R M 5T

I o ==

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F&FHE1EHESI - UARETIR)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. Intra-group balances and transactions, and
any unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (i) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of
any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit is recognised in profit or loss.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2.4(d)), unless it is classified
as held for sale.

B AR BRI E XA
FEBY RS HIME > KA —RAEEFER
mME-MBARZEEEXERE
REFREAEFFRE AR LEE
AR EERERERRRLEED
ALk o

B kHEMEEBRANZERE DT
BERAEREATEE ARIFER
B BMEILESIBIFEREDRE
BRER EERNNE AT ZBNG
RS UREBRESEAEZHE

ERXZWmNEEIN I HE - £F
R RBZENRZFAEERER
R U EREREmMERNG
HEH 0 MR R E RS AR

WA FERIBRETR T =18
fITEP—EHRZETEHTLE)
FEEGENTEEHETHREHR
BEEGE -WEBARZMAER
HIRE S (LEKEEG®E) (Fa—18
BmZH AR e

HAEERXEWE AR 2 ZEHIHE - A
SRILER(ZNBABDZEE (81
BE) RaR; (VERFERERZ K
EIE ; Kli) stABmZ RFFERERE
WHERNEWREZARER; (IE
AREBREZ AAEBE ; K AR
BmERNELE Z BERTEIE ©

RAERBDMHBRRTET > RIELQT
ZRERMABBEBIRYR (R
2.4(d) » FRIFEBDESFIFHE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has applied the following amended IFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the IASB to these
financial statements for the current accounting period:

° Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as current or
non-current (“2020 amendments”) and amendments
to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements
— Non-current liabilities with covenants (“2022
amendments”)

° Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in
a sale and leaseback

° Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and |IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —
Supplier finance arrangements

None of these developments have had a material effect
on how the Group's results and financial position for the
current period have been prepared or presented. The
Group has not applied any new or amended standard that
is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

2.2 TEHREHRINE

FEBERFEHHBENILEMBR
REATIHBERG S EREEERE
RRVAE ST BRI TR S 2R R & 5T 2R

o ERREHERF IR BT HHE
REWZEZ — BIESIELTTEL
FE 7B (12020 F BT 2&1) K& E
et ERHE 1R BT THER
KBZES — MBI B E
&1 (M2022 F1E:T41)

e ERMBRESERFI6EZIES]
HE — E#£MALIFHESR)

o HRESERB7TRZE] HE
B R R BRM RS %R
BIRTTHITA KE— HE
B E L

ZEEYMEHAPBRERRAZEIIE
EREEAMBRAINASNEEEW
BEAFE - AEBUTERBEARE
G SRR B AR ARV ] SR T ZER o
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AR e MR R M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the IASB has issued a number of new or amended
standards, which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 December 2024 and which have not been adopted in
these financial statements. These developments include
the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to |IAS 21, The effects 1 January 2025
of changes in foreign exchange
rates — Lack of exchangeability

Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial 1 January 2026
instruments and IFRS 7, Financial
instruments: disclosures —
Amendments to the classification
and measurement of financial
instruments

Annual improvements to IFRS 1 January 2026
Accounting Standards — Volume
11

IFRS 18, Presentation and 1 January 2027
disclosure in financial statements

IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public 1 January 2027
accountability: disclosures

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 B N8 {8 s 5k & XA = R A1

BiRSER

BELREMBERERTIEZH  BEEE:
EREBEEZEEMG—RIINEE 2024
F12B3MHIEFEHRERBMETH
AEST 2R > B ol & I8 W 5% 50 It 25 BA
BIRRPRM - ZEEHBEIFELLT A

FEB A EEAERAE o
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B 2R S5 21582 20254
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B R A 75 R S A R 55 7 5%
(2MT A HE— 2/
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Investments in associates and joint

ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a
position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement
whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

2.4 EXGSERETE

(a) RBEQATRKREGEARZ

w’E

BMEADHEERNRA-—KRAFLD
R20% AR BEDERS RIE
mHERE BRI HHEZEEAR
BN -BEARXENENEBEAR
ERRHMBNEERRBES
BAREER S HBIERBLERR
BtES] o

BEREE—EHRZH HE
HrEER X RIERE 2T IRIE
BEREEZEAGERRAIZEERE
HEEHIERE BRI Z AW
EHREESR] > HEIEBER HE R
EEZRERHEENREZRS
—BARZKERE -
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AR e MR R M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 24 EXEEHBRME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a) Investments in associates and joint (a) RIEQABIREERBEZ

ventures (continued)

The Group’s investments in associates and a joint
venture are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the Group’'s share of net
assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the
post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates and a joint venture is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and consolidated other comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the
associate or joint venture, the Group recognises
its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of
the Group's investments in the associates or joint
venture, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint venture is included as part of the Group’'s
investments in associates or joint venture.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss
of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures
and recognises any retained investment at its
fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss
of significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR E MBI R M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

24 EXRGTHEME @

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Business combinations and goodwill (b) ZBEHKLEE

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a
business when the acquired set of activities and
assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E M IR R M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 24 EXGFBRBE@®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Business combinations and goodwiill (b) ZFEESHKEBE®W
(continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the BT EMAFE > BEER
excess of the aggregate of the consideration B RS FIERERNERER
transferred, the amount recognised for non- A& E AT A B WS 5 IR
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s BRI A 7B {E Y A8 1 P Uk B8
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over AHEEFERFAAESEN
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities oo mMzAEREMEBERNM
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other BRI EEEFENRNEE
items is lower than the fair value of the net assets EREZEEEGENBERER A
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, FEWE WS °
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost L HERE > B R AR M
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwiill is Rt REBIEFTE - WEEMSE
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if 4 o 15 o 2 Eh 3R BA BR T 1 7] BE R
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the B BEFEREHAEMEHEE
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs TRERNS AEBESFR128
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 ITHETHEREBENR - SLAE
December. For the purpose of impairment testing, AEME > REBEHBWREDN
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from EmEBWREBIRRED i E B
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's REHBENESTTNEAERS
cash-generating units (“CGU"s), or groups of CGUs ReEEEn ((REeEEE B
(“CGU groups”), that are expected to benefit from NIBEELEMNABR ((REEE
the combination. The CGUs or groups of CGUs are B4R cREELEMHIR
identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is TEEEMANEMANEEIER
monitored for internal management purposes. HBNEEREEEIEE R o
Impairment is determined by assessing the BERBTEEHEMBNIREE
recoverable amount of the CGU/CGU group to BN REeEELBEMNAER A
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable WElEEMETE MRETELE
amount of the CGU/CGU group is less than the i,/ IREEEBNAR BT YRE
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. SRENRKREE > AEDBEES
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not BopiHmEMBERNBRERET
reversed in a subsequent period. SR HBAARERD o
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

24 FXKG

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Business combinations and goodwill

(c)

(continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU/CGU
group and part of the operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain
or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the CGU/CGU group retained.

An acquisition of a business which is a business
combination under common control is accounted
for using the pooling of interests method whereby
the assets and liabilities acquired are accounted
for at carryover predecessor values from the date
when the Group and the acquired business are first
under common control. The difference between
the consideration paid by the Group and the net
assets or liabilities of the business acquired is
adjusted against equity. The results and cash flows
of the acquired business under common control are
consolidated from the date when the Group and the
acquired business first came under common control.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at FVTPL
at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E M IR R M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 24 EXEEHBRME @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Fair value measurement (continued) (c) 2rBEFFEw

The Group uses valuation techniques that are AEBFRHBERARARBERNMG

appropriate in the circumstances and for which BRZEZ MEBEHENGFER

sufficient data are available to measure fair value, nREE USEFEHREMTER
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs WMABEBEREENLVERATER

and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. = A B o

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is RABERMBRRTERIEE

measured or disclosed in the financial statements NFFEBEERERE ERHEAR

are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, EBEAIEEEESEENRMEAXKE
described as follows, based on the lowest level input A SRR AT E R A EE
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a B4R 4E -

whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in F—H — REUHNEETE
active markets for identical assets or B0 BB T 5% P P IR
liabilities RABEERK

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which FTH — REHALEBESE
the lowest level input that is significant BEARTENRMEK
to the fair value measurement is T ABBEIERER
observable, either directly or indirectly BEEERNGHES

P

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which FZh — REHAAEBESE
the lowest level input that is significant EERTENRMEK
to the fair value measurement is T ASIBEREER
unobservable BEE R E

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in HREMBERRECEMEER

the financial statements on a recurring basis, the FNEEREBE AEERER

Group determines whether transfers have occurred FHXRBEEAABEFTEER

between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing BEEZNRMEKFHAZIEER

categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is SN EUEESRERZERES

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) H IR o

at the end of each reporting period.

» 130 China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
trE MR R M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

24 EXRGTHEME @

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Impairment of non-financial assets

(d) EEREERE

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax
assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset's or CGU’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. In testing a CGU for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
is allocated to an individual CGU if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise,
to the smallest group of CGUs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 24 EREFTHEEE w
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(d) Impairment of non-financial assets (d) IFEREERE@®
(continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

(e) Related parties (e)

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a)  the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or
(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of

the Group;

or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e) Related parties (continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E M IR R M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

2% t0 12%
Over the shorter of

Buildings
Fixture and leasehold

improvement lease terms and 10%
Medical equipment 10% to 20%
Motor vehicles 10%
Office equipment 20%

Allocated land Not depreciated
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(g)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress mainly represents buildings
and related improvements under construction,
which are stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and are not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair
value at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year end.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(continued)
Operating rights under IOT arrangements

The Group entered a series of IOT agreements with
certain not-for-profit hospitals and their sponsors
in which the Group agrees to make investments
("Investment Amounts”) to the hospitals and/or
the sponsors to improve the medical facilities of
the hospitals in exchange for the right to manage
and operate the hospitals and receive performance-
based management fees during the contract periods.
The operating rights are expected to be transferred
back to the hospitals or their sponsors after the
end of these periods. The Investment Amounts are
unsecured, interest-free and will be repaid to the
Group in equal annual installments during the tenure
of the IOT arrangements.

These IOT agreements are considered management
contracts to generate management service income.
The present values of the Investment Amounts
are initially recognised as “Receivables from I0T
hospitals”
other receivables” and subsequently adjusted by the
effect of the interest on and subsequent settlement
from the hospitals. The differences between the
investments Amounts and their net present value
represented the value of the operating rights under
the |IOT hospital arrangement are recognised as
intangible assets and amortised over the contract
periods of 16 to 18 years.

included in “Prepayments, deposits and

Good Supply Practice licence for pharmaceuticals
(“GSP Licence”)

The GSP Licence is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-
line basis over its estimated useful economic life of
46 months.

24 KRG
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
trE MR R M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

24 EXRGHTHERE @

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Leases (h) A&

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets. At inception
or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease components,
the Group adopts the practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components and to account for
the lease component and the associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

FEBRENPBEFEERSH
EEBHERNCESHE -HEH
AP EME FE—RBERN
ERAEEZ EREGE BIZ
aNEHENasHEE -

FTEEERBEBA

FEENFTAHEERMAE M
KEt87 7% CEREERREEE
ERERIN - AEEEDEES
BUFEBAENRRARERE
HEERIMNNERREE -INE
SHEBH RIFEERLDZEN
F 46 5 S S AT ST (G s » R EEER
RAfTEE A A& D IFHE
EE80  URREE & 2 k8
FHEBDIERE—MHEH DA
iR e

ERBRERARAT T OMEERE 137 <



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E M IR R M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(5 AERRAESN » LARETIT)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms as follows:

Leasehold land
Leased properties
Medical equipment

50 to 60 years
1 to 9 years
1to b years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

24 ERGHTHEME @
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the
present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate) or a change in assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E M IR R M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 24 EREFTHEEE w
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Leases (continued) (h) & @
Group as a lessee (continued) FEEEAERHEN (8)
(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value ) FEAHBEREEEEEMEES

assets

REEFIGRBERDE R
BERANGEAE BN EMS
HEfEESt 2 A+ @A
HUTEENEEEEERE
NS - AEBTHEEE
BEEERBRDE L - 2
HENREBESEEEENHE
ENREHEHRANZESE
assets are recognised as an expense on a HRAER -

straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
(that is those leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option).
It also applies the recognition exemption for
leases of low-value assets. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value

FEEFEALHAA

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance
lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms and is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised over the lease term on the
same basis as rental income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost, and
fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset'’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’'s business model for managing them.
With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined
under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI") on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E M IR R M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

(5 AERRAESN » LARETIT)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows.
Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business model are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

24 ERGHTHEME @

(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

24 FXKG

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

()

Financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which
the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify
at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
also recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group
and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

(i)

(j)
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 24 EXEEHBRME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Derecognition of financial assets (j)

(continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

(k) Impairment of financial assets (k)

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
trE MR R M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

24 EXRGTHEME @

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(k) ERMEERME®

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on
the Group's historical experience and informed
credit assessment, that includes forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and
they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables
and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do
not contain a significant financing component or
when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit
risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

The Group’s loans and payables are recognised
initially at fair value and net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is recognised in finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.

(m) Derecognition of financial liabilities

(n)

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 24 EXRGHHEHE @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(o) Treasury shares (o) EFR

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and
held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares)
are recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or
loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Group's own equity instruments.

(p) Inventories (p)

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-
in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to disposal.

(q) Cash and cash equivalents (q)

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on
hand and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of three months or less, that are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
and are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and short-term deposits, as defined above,
net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are
considered an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

» 148 China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2024

HARB HAEEBHBEAME
BzBE#mIAR (EERMH) b
B AERERmDESR - &
EpEfEa TRAZEE  HE -
BITEEEE > SIEN B m R ER
RS

=8
FEEMTRSHEFEZEE
EIIR - FEMARBLER D
EETE - BB ERRMESE
BRI B & B R 2 £ BV E R 5t
A o

RERREFEY

EEMBERRERNESRAS
EEYEERTEERFERS
WU A =188 52 Py B A 19 S 28
BRBIE TR T R AT H
He A I R EHRAD
YERS ASREEERHE

B o
AN

MEEREMNEBREMS * RE
REZEEVORREREHT
A (EER LX) > NRAREER
TES WhERERERRR
AEEERRSEENMERMED o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

(s)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the
Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E M IR R M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 24 ERDLHBEREE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Income tax (continued)

(s) FRiEHMR @@

Deferred tax is not recognised:

o when the deferred tax arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss;

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint venture, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future; and

° those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Income tax (continued)

(t)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value
is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement
of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary
assets, the grants are recorded at the fair value
of the non-monetary assets and released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful
lives of the relevant assets by equal instalments.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 24 ERDLHBEREE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (u) Uz FERD

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services is
transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to be that which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer for more than one year, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year,
revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Provision of general healthcare services

Revenue from the provision of in-patient
services is recognised over time because
the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from the provision of out-patient
services is recognised at a point in time when
the services are provided.

Provision of other services

Hospital management service fees are
calculated based on pre-set formulas set out in
the arrangements. Revenue from the provision
of hospital management services is recognised
over time because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group

Revenue from the sale of medical products is
recognised at the point in time when control
of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the medical products.

Revenue from the provision of other hospital-
derived services is recognised at the point in
time when the consultation reports are issued
to the customer or when the consultation
services are completed.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 24 ERDLHBEREE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(u) Revenue recognition (continued) (u)
Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion
basis over the lease terms.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the
shareholders’ right to receive payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group
and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

(v) Contract assets (v)

A contract asset is the right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services transferred to the
customer. If the Group performs by transferring
goods or services to a customer before the
customer pays consideration or before payment is
due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are
subject to impairment assessment, details of which
are included in the accounting policies for impairment
of financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w) Contract liabilities

(x)

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as
inventories, property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract
with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of
the following criteria are met:

(@)  The costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the entity can
specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of
the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations
in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and
charged to the statement of profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services to which
the asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed
as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(y) Share-based payments

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees for grants is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions
are not taken into account when determining the
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood
of the conditions being met is assessed as part
of the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service
and/or performance conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
trE MR R M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

24 EXRGTHEME @

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(y) Share-based payments (continued)

(y) BRI @

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
other wise beneficial to the employee as measured
at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award
is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control
of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in
the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options and share
awards is reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(z) Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Chinese Mainland are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Defined benefit plan

Certain subsidiary of the Group provided defined
benefit plan to its certain employees. The liability
recognised in the statement of financial position in
respect of defined benefit plan obligations is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at
the end of the reporting period. The defined benefit
obligation is calculated annually by independent
actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognised in the period in which
they occur, directly in other comprehensive income.
Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
trE MR R M

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

24 EXRGHTHERE @

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(z) Other employee benefits (continued) (2) EtEERF w

Defined benefit plan (continued)

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at
the earlier of:

° the date of the plan amendment or curtailment;
and

o the date that the Group recognises restructuring-
related costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount
rate to the net defined benefit liability. The Group
recognises the following changes in the net
defined benefit obligation under “cost of sales”
and “administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss by function:

° service costs comprising current service
costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on

curtailments and non-routine settlements

o net interest expense or income

(aa) Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum
and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(bb) Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates of the initial transactions.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of foreign operations are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of foreign operations which arise
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)
Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the recoverable amounts of the CGU groups to which
the goodwill is allocated. The recoverable amount is
determined based on the higher of value in use (“VIU")
and fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCOD"). For VIU,
management estimates future cash flows from the CGU
groups and chooses a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. If the value
in use of CGU groups are lower than the carrying amount,
management will also assess the fair value less costs of
disposal of the CGU groups based on the best information
available to estimate the fair value, taking into account the
costs of disposal. Further details are given in note 17.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-
of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there
are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its VIU and FVLCOD. Further details
are given in note 15 to the financial statements.

Estimation of defined benefit obligations

The present value of the defined benefit obligations
depends on a number of factors that are determined on
an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. Any
changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying
amount of pension obligations. Details of key assumptions
and impact of possible changes in key assumptions are
disclosed in note 31.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F&FHE1EHESI - UARETIR)

Management monitors the results of the Group's
operating segments separately for the purpose of
facilitating decision-making process of resource allocation
and performance assessment. During the reporting period,
the reportable segments of the Group are as follows:

(@) Hospital business: including out-patient business,
in-patient business corresponding to self-owned
hospitals.

(b) Other business: including operation management
services, supply chain services and other services
provided to participating hospitals and IOT/OT
hospitals.

Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment results, which are measurements of adjusted
profit/loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax
is measured consistently with the Group’'s profit/loss
before tax except that fair value gains/losses on an equity
investment at FVTPL, investment income on financial
assets at FVTPL, investment income on other financial
assets at amortised cost, other unallocated income and
gains, foreign exchange differences, net, impairment loss
of goodwill, other unallocated losses and expenses are
excluded from such measurement.
Segment assets exclude goodwill, unallocated
investments in associates, financial assets at FVTPL,
other financial assets at amortised cost, cash and cash
equivalents and pledged deposits and other unallocated
head office and corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank
borrowings and other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a
group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR M EE

(5 HREAES » UAREYITR)

KEDEEE @

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(continued)

UTERABREEEDBEAEEN
WmMEEUREENERDN -

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and
results, and assets and liabilities by reportable operating
segments.

SEWE R EE

Segment revenue and results

Year ended 31 December 2024

HE2024F 12831 HILEE

Hospital
business

BIRES
RMB'000
ARETT

Other
business

HEF
RMB'000
ARETT

Total

At
RMB'000
AR®BFT

Segment revenue A EBU E 9,184,960 669,830 9,854,790
Inter-segment revenue pan- il - - -
Consolidated revenue Relka 9,184,960 669,830 9,854,790
Segment cost DEA A (7,531,661) (513,303)  (8,044,964)
Other income HAA 119,713 3,965 123,678
Share of profits of associates FE1LEE A B R - 98,603 98,603
Other gains and losses, net Hi R k51873 58 (13,118) (453) (13,571)
Selling and distribution expenses & R E A (516) (107) (623)
Administrative and other operating {7 EUR ELfth& 8 & F

expenses (927,431) (26,887) (954,318)
Finance costs VHER (18,960) = (18,960)
Impairment losses on financial THEEHNEEREBEEE

and contract assets, net BER (14,589) 8,885 (5,704)
Impairment loss on property, Y~ BB R R E R EEE

plant and equipment (32,153) - (32,153)
Segment results DEEE 766,245 240,533 1,006,778
Other unallocated income and gains  E 1k 7 BEC U A K iz 17,313
Fair value gains on an equity MUAnBEFEBEES)

investment FVTPL STABHEMR AR E

AnBEEKE (14,229)

Foreign exchange differences, net [ER =R F% (1,185)
Other unallocated losses and HMRDEEERER

expenses (170,007)
Profit before tax GBI 838,670
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (&5 HBEHEIN 0 UARETIR)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. &&ESIERE w)

(continued)
Segment revenue and results (continued) DEPUR R R ELE @

Hospital Other
business business Total

e eSS st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTT ARETR

Year ended 31 December 2023 HZE2023F 12831 HILEE

Segment revenue DU 9,406,153 702,251 10,108,404
Inter-segment revenue 2B - (904) (904)
Consolidated revenue e U 9,406,153 701,347 10,107,500
Segment cost DEAAE (7,671,318) (530,345) (8,201,663)
Other income HAA 104,432 202 104,634
Share of profits of associates FEfLHE AT FE = 90,780 90,780
Other gains and losses, net HAl e K 51875 58 (12,308) - (12,308)
Selling and distribution expenses  SHE KD E A (2,207) (521) (2,728)
Administrative and other operating  {TEUR ELfth & iE &

expenses (845,686) (25,595) (871,281)
Finance costs HHEH (22,436) - (22,436)
Impairment losses on financial ERMERENEERBEER

and contract assets, net BEE (107,865) - (107,865)
Impairment loss on right-of-use FHEEERERE

assets (1,863) = (1,863)
Impairment loss on property, M BEKRRERESBRE

plant and equipment (208,926) = (208,926)
Segment results DEELE 637,978 235,868 873,846
Investment income on other HMZE A 20

financial assets at amortised cost ~ E£REERE WA 18,831
Other unallocated income and gains ELftk 2 Fo W A Bz U & 72,795
Fair value gains on an equity UrnBEstEEHES)

investment FVTPL STABHMR AR E

ARBEERR (16,520)

Impairment loss of goodwill MEREBE (141,018)
Foreign exchange differences, net [BR %= & /F%8 (77,689)
Other unallocated losses and HRAEEERER

expenses (237,324)
Profit before tax GaNEIRIbE 492,921
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AR e MR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. &&ESIERE w)

(continued)

Segment assets and liabilities NBEERER

Hospital Other
business business Total

e RGeS 485t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTT AREBTET

As at 31 December 2024 12024%12H831H
Segment assets DEEE 8,889,773 1,348,719 10,238,492
Unallocated assets KPEEE 7,031,490
Elimination of inter-segment 43 BB FE W R IB 1K 81

receivables (3,951,832)
Total assets WEE 13,318,150
Segment liabilities pan= =K} 4,865,659 20,870 4,886,529
Unallocated liabilities FPEEEE 4,885,385
Elimination of inter-segment payables 43 &F 5 F& {4 FUB L 84 (3,951,832)
Total liabilities meE 5,820,082

Hospital Other
business business Total

e HAZEF 85
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTR ARETR

As at 31 December 2023 #2023%F12H31H
Segment assets NWEE 8,365,531 1,431,481 9,797,012
Unallocated assets KOEEE 7,906,017
Elimination of inter-segment 23 B R FE U R IE I 2

receivables (4,048,837)
Total assets BEE 13,654,192
Segment liabilities paRc =K} 5,033,251 12,631 5,045,782
Unallocated liabilities VAN = 5,644,181
Elimination of inter-segment payables 42 & & FE {1 FUIE K 84 (4,048,837)
Total liabilities FEY=L 6,641,126
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in the PRC, all of the
Group’s revenue from external customers are generated
in the PRC, and substantially all of the Group's non-current

assets, excluding financial instruments and deferred tax

assets, are located in the PRC.

5. REVENUE

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KEDEEE @

s

REBZEEFHUNFE > £EH
FEIEE PR @ B PR EE
BEREXEBZ2HIIFRBEE (&
BRERITAEKRELEREBREE) IMNH
o

W 7
(a) Wz EHIEAAE

2024 2023
2024 5 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AR¥ETF T
Types of goods or services 7 om 3 AR F5 £E 1)
In-patient Bz 5,293,544 5,473,459
Out-patient P92 3,891,416 3,932,694
General healthcare services e BERY 9,184,960 9,406,153
Other services H{thfR 7% 669,830 701,347
Total &5t 9,854,790 10,107,500
Timing of revenue recognition SR Uk 2 B R P
Point in time N (EES e 4,499,676 4,597,431
Over time R—ERREERN 5,355,114 5,510,069
Total &5t 9,854,790 10,107,500
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iR e MR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

5. REVEN U E (continued)

(b) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

General healthcare services

Revenue from the provision of general healthcare
services is mainly derived from hospital services
provided at the consolidated hospitals, which is
recognised when the related services have been
rendered to customers.

For in-patient services, customers normally receive
in-patient treatment which contains various treatment
components. Since the patient simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits of the Group's
performance in the medical treatment, the relevant
revenue of in-patient services is recognised over the
period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. The progress towards the complete
satisfaction of performance obligation is measured
by direct measurements of the value of individual
products or services transferred by the Group to the
customer.

Revenue from the provision of out-patient services is
recognised at a point in time, i.e. when the services
are provided.

5. U@ @)
(b) BHES

FEEBNEBHEMTLNT

e BRIRE

RHGEEBERGEEN R E
2RBENHRERR M ERRRT
HiRmE P R AR AR FS R bEsd o

HRERRE  SREEEZE
foak  HRaasi@Eamss
B A B By W ER A H FE A S
ETBRBARNN G ERARS
WAEBRZEESNREBER2E
5E B B A & 5 B HE B T AR FE SR o
TERENRBNERE DB BERE
StEAEEREREENENE
mERFBHEEREE -

e P52 AR 755 B9 U 1£ R 1B 5 i
&4 (BRI (AR TS ) FESD o
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F&FHE1EHESI - UARETIR)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. IzE @
(b) Performance obligations (continued) (b) BHEFE @
Other services HR7

For the hospital management services rendered on
various aspects of daily operations of the hospitals,
the contracts contain multiple deliverables. As
such services have the same pattern of transfer to
the customer, it is therefore regarded as a single
performance obligation.

Revenue from the provision of hospital management
services is recognised over the period of the
contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
The progress towards the complete satisfaction
of performance obligation is measured by direct
measurements of the value of the services
transferred by the Group to the customer. The
relevant revenue is recognised based on pre-set
formulas set out in the arrangements.

Revenue from the sale of pharmaceuticals,
medical devices and medical consumables to non-
consolidated hospitals is recognised when control
of merchandise is transferred to the customer,
i.e. when the merchandise is delivered and
simultaneously accepted by the customer.

Revenue from other hospital services is recognised
at a point in time, i.e. when the consultation reports
are issued to the customer or when the consultation
services are completed.

The Group takes advantage of practical expedient
in IFRS15 and does not disclose the remaining
performance obligation as the Group's sales
contracts either have an original expected duration
of less than one year or the revenue is performance-
based.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

OTHER INCOME 6. HUgA
2024 2023
2024 & 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARET T
Interest and investment income on: FMEREEWA :
Financial assets at FVTPL ManEBEstEBEHEE)
STABGENEREE 1,062 10,529
Other financial assets at amortised Hhizg g A st 20
cost THEE - 21,291
Bank deposits RITIER 13,150 53,513
Dividend income on an equity MranBEFT=EEEEH A
investment at FVTPL BRI ARENR WA 3,589 3,871
Government grants* BT 4B * 14,372 30,445
Rental income RN 6,648 5,624
Canteen income BEWA 27,649 29,534
Write-off of payables e IEEE W = 32,906 7,238
Others HA 41,615 27,842
140,991 189,887
& There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these 2 BERZ SR AN ABI TR ESIE
subsidies.
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7. Hfthiam R ES1E3%E
2024 2023
2024 4 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT
Change in fair value of ManEBEstEBEHEEE)
an equity investment at FVTPL ARG ERN
NABEEE (14,229) (16,520)
Foreign exchange differences, net FER =R $%E (1,185) (77,689)
Loss on disposal of items of BEEYE - BE
property, plant, equipment RERETEE
and intangible assets BEEE (11,187) (2,385)
Others HAth (19,585) (10,503)

(46,186) (107,097)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. MAIFIHE
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging: AEBENRAFMBELLINBRUTEIE
B
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %
RMB'000 RMB'000
AER¥TT AE¥TT
Cost of inventories sold BEFEENA 23(b) 4,190,355 4,477,328
Depreciation of property, ME-BEREEBITE
plant and equipment 15 557,693 552,590
Depreciation of FRESEINE
right-of-use assets 16(a) 57,892 B, 783
Amortisation of intangible mH B E
assets (included in cost of sales) (5t ASHE B ) 18 3,311 6,520
Total depreciation and amortisation 1 K # 44258 618,896 610,863

Wages, salaries, bonuses and ITE - #s - [EAROER,

allowances 3,136,380 3,097,741
Pension scheme contributions* Rk s34 R0 *

Defined contribution scheme REMTETE 312,312 290,791

Defined benefit scheme REBFTE 21,404 17,487
Total employee benefit EERH Sz HARZE

expense (including directors’ (BIEESIE)

remuneration) (note 10) (MzE10) 3,470,096 3,406,019
Auditor’s remuneration TZEREMEN = 4,500 4,500

@ There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as e WEERINERAERER (FAaEE) BE
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. REIRA HIUKTE o
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AR e MR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MIZER

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: HMHERWTWT
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB'000 RMB’000
AREEF T NS
Interest on bank borrowings RITETFE 53,478 109,810
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEMNE 7,536 5,052
Others Eh 14,261 16,973
75,275 131,835

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. ESkEFZME
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIEEEHRERSMBERABES L
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of MmRE ~ FECRBMEE]) 55 383(1)(@) &
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, OER(AE] RBEEEF@ER) R
section 383(1)(a) and (b) of the Hong Kong Companies BIY 226 » EHFAEE T ARBIBN IR
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of BAF

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as

follows:
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (&5 HBEHEIN 0 UARETIR)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. EERAEAFZEZMET @

REMUNERATION (continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BILIEMITESE

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

FASZNFTEILIFRITESTNE
FUF -

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT
Mr. Wu Ting Yuk Anthony tHE MBI E
(BAEMBSTE) 272 273
Mr. Kwong Kwok Kong BEE ST
(EPEE 5 4) 272 273
Mr. Fu Tingmei (f83EE554)() BIEETAE () 272 229
Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix ZKRERITAE (i)
(EZREIA)) - 123
Mr. Zhou Peng (/& 8 5 4 ) i) B 5 5 4 i) 272 81
1,088 979

(i) On 27 February 2023, Mr. Fu Tingmei was appointed as an
independent non-executive director.

(ii) On 13 June 2023, Mr. Lee Kar Chung Felix resigned as an
independent non-executive director.

(iii) On 14 September 2023, Mr. Zhou Peng was appointed as an
independent non-executive director.

There were no other emoluments payable to the

independent non-executive directors during the year
(2023: Nil).
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AR e MR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S

REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive

directors

Salaries and
allowances

i
RMB'000
ARBTT

10. EEREFZME @

(b) MITEZFRIFAITES

Retirement
scheme Total
contributions remuneration
RIRGTEIERR MEss
RMB'000 RMB'000
NG S NG S

Performance
related
bonuses

R HTEA
RMB'000
ARETT

Executive directors: HTES!

Mr. Song Qing (RBHE4E) RBLE 1,939 899 100 2,938
Mr. Yu Ha (F&85%4)() FRRTE 1,670 1,224 91 2,985
Mr. Shan Baojie (EEALE) BEALE 1,381 1,176 97 2,654
Ms. Yang Min (#3812 L )(ii BEL L) 1,136 875 100 2,111
6,126 4,174 388 10,688

Non-executive directors: FHGTEE !
Ms. Ge Lu (BB & L )(ii) B i) - - - -
6,126 4174 388 10,688

Performance Retirement
Salaries and related scheme Total
allowances bonuses contributions remuneration
HeMURE  RFHBTA  RAHIER MEaa
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AR®ETFT AR®ETFT
Executive directors: HiTEE:

Mr. Song Qing (R7B&LE) RELE 316 - 16 332
Mr. Yu Ha (Fi8554)0) FiEREN 1,593 2,864 88 4,545
Mr. Shan Baojie (B EALAE) BEALE 1,378 1,764 95 3,237
Ms. Yang Min (#3812 L )(ii BEL L) 615 - 56 671
Mr. Cheng Libing (RILE&E))  BIZEREN 140 - 10 150
Ms. Ren Yuan (2% )il EEL L i 577 - 24 601
4,619 4,628 289 9,536

Non-executive directors: FHLTES !
Mr. Hu Hui (23155 £ )il B (i) - - - -
Ms. Ge Lu (BB & L (i) B i) - - - -
4,619 4,628 289 9,536
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10.EEKEHZZMNE @

REMU NERAT'ON (continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive (b) MITEEFERIEHITES @)

directors (continued)

(i) On 27 February 2023, Mr. Cheng Libing resigned as an executive
director, Mr. Yu Hai was appointed as an executive director.

(ii) On 13 June 2023, Ms. Ren Yuan resigned as an executive
director, Ms. Yang Min was appointed as an executive director.

(iii) On 14 September 2023, Mr. Hu Hui resigned as a non-executive
director, Ms. Ge Lu was appointed as a non-executive director.

During the year, no remuneration was paid or payable
by the Group to the directors as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office (2023: Nil).

During the year, no retirement benefits, payments
or benefits in respect of termination of directors’
services were paid or made, directly or indirectly,
to the directors; nor are any payable (2023: Nil). No
consideration was provided to or receivable by third
parties for making available directors’ services (2023:
Nil). There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings
in favour of the directors, their controlled body
corporate and connected entities (2023: Nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director
or a chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2023: Nil).

The above directors and chief executive's

remuneration only included during the tenure of each
director and chief executive of the Company.

» 174 China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2024

(i) 202328278 > I KR ERE
WTES » FBAEEZERRITES -

(ii) 7202368 13H > B L TEHE#H
TER BRULEZEANTES -

(i) 7 2023FE98 148 5 B L BI(EIE
HTEE BRZLTESZTAIERNT
EHo

FRAEERBEQES AR
N ERMESEAEMARER
A 0 A 7 5 B B 2 452 B o A B
1B1E (20234 : ) o

ER TEMRKREEERFME
BEyEERESZAHEHRAK
B M FGE; WESMAE
fTBR (20234 | #|®) - BB AREM
BEERENE=ZREREBAE
YeBR (20234 @ ) - BBEFR
B HIESI0E AN B MBEF
ERNER EERHIEMR S
(2023F : ) ©

FARESEARIMEXRR
REAE RN £ A9 2 HF (20234 :

;) o

ULEBERBEMEERREER
BIREFRBENERRZME -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three directors (2023: two), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 10 above. Details of the remuneration
for the year of the remaining two (2023: three) highest
paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

AR e MR M EE

(HAERAES  LARKIIT)

M. AfizaSHES

FRAOEEHEESEE =3 (2023
F:mB) EF REMEFHEHAN L
10 BEERF M B (2023
F =R meo#HER LIFRHERT
EFBE) IMEFBUT

2024
2024 5

2023
20234
RMB'000
ARETF T

RMB’000
ARETT

Salaries & allowances S BERL 2,464 3,465
Bonuses TE4L 2,565 4,034

Pension scheme contributions RIREETEIHRR
(defined contribution scheme) (REMZETE) 200 293
5,229 7,792

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within
the following bands are as follows:

HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000 2,500,001 BT E

M= F TFIEENIFES RIF@E
REHESHENT !

Number of employees

BES#H

2024
2024 4

2023
20234

3,000,000 7T 2 2

HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000 3,000,001 BLE
3,500,000 &7 = 1
2 8

During the year, no emoluments were paid or payable
by the Group to the five highest paid employees as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

ER AEEREDRAURSHES
TAREMEAMSEAEMALRE
B N A A5 B R 2 LB ol B B A
& (20234 : ) o
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(FEHAIRABI  LARKEIIT)

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

12. INCOME TAX

The PRC enterprise income tax has been provided at the
rate of 26% (2023: 25%) on the estimated assessable
income arising in the PRC during the year. No provision
for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group did
not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year (2023: Nil).

Current — Chinese Mainland

BIHER — ShEIA i

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. FR1578

EPEEE G ERRBALE » PRARE
BII9ZAEHR PR T8 25% (2023
F125%) c HRAEBRAFEERIL
BESAELTAERRIE > FHit
TWEREHR S BHSMEHE (2023 F 1 &) °

2024
2024 5

2023
20234
RMB’'000
ARETT

RMB’000
AREBTT

Charge for the year NEEER 165,535 217,132

Under-provision in prior years BEFEREBRE 1,005 1,307
Deferred (note 32) IEIE (P95E32) 383 (53,408)
Total tax charge for the year REERIEE BLLEE 166,923 165,031

The Group operates in multiple jurisdictions, which will
enact tax laws to implement the Pillar Two model rules
published by the OECD in forthcoming years. The Group
is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of Pillar Two model is expected to be on the
income taxes. So far it has concluded that the Pillar Two
model is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

FEBEZERZEEEEEFR M
ZERERBRBERKRBEB/MRE
UEMEGHEBERNIE AR
R o 7 & B IE FE 57 1l X A — IR AR B PRy
BHROEREE - B#EBriAL > £&
BB A _BRIRT A ENGEE Y
BRRELEEATE -
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

12. INCOME TAX (continued) 12. Fﬁi?f*ﬁ (#&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit BAEEFESEMBNPEEER
before tax at the PRC statutory tax rate, in which the EHENRANBERNRERX
principal place of business of the Group to the tax charge HIRIEEANHEIRNOT ©
is as follows:

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
Profit before tax A6 At A1 838,670 492,921
Tax at the PRC statutory tax rate REDEERZE25%
of 25% (2023: 25%) (20234F : 25%) B2 IE 209,668 123,230
Lower tax rates enacted by specific BERAEEETHRE
jurisdictions M= 10,455 40,128
Adjustments in respect of current tax ~ FtiBFEARI BN ERTR TEAYEH 2L
of previous periods 1,005 1,307
Profits and losses attributable to FEIE—B & A kit
a joint venture and associates AEFE R EE (24,651) (22,695)
Income not subject to tax RETFRULA (74,820) (93,108)
Expenses not deductible for tax AMMIEI RN H 15,436 49,860
Tax losses utilised from previous periods @ 1T HARGEh B IR 756548 (314) (813)
Effect of tax losses and deductible RIERIR SRR R A0
temporary difference not recognised  HERSEZERN S E 30,506 67,122
Others Hith (362) =

Tax charge at the Group's effective REEBRRMENRIEE R

tax rate 166,923 165,031
The share of tax attributable to associates amounting DEHELADINREBAHARKE
to RMB32,679,000 (2023: RMB30,306,000) is included 32,679,0007T (20234 : AR
in “Share of profits and losses of associates” in the 30,306,0007t) BB ELAEERBRERZ
consolidated statement of profit or loss. TEEEE A B A R B8]
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(FEHAIRABI  LARKEIIT)

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

13. DIVIDENDS

Dividend recognised as distribution
during the year:
Final 2023 -RMB6.0 cents

RE:

13.

BRAEEERDEH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i35

2024
2024 %

2023
2023 %
RMB’000
ARETT

RMB’000
ARBF T

2023 F R —EBRETER

(2022: HK3.7 cents, equivalent AE6.07 (20224
to approximately RMB3.3 cents) 378 TrEL
per ordinary share AR#3.35) 77,860 43,436
Interim 2024 — RMB5.0 cents 2024 FHH—SREIBER
(2023: Nil) per ordinary share AR¥5045 (2023 £ :
%) 64,834 -
Less: Dividend for shares held under & : RIER(D LB T2
the Share Award Scheme FERMHER (3,564) (1,083)
139,130 42,353

Final dividend proposed after the end
of the reporting period:
Proposed final 2024 — RMB8.2 cents
(2023:RMB6.0 cents) per
ordinary share

HQ‘ I%\ :

RS HR R ERR

2024
2024 5

2023
20234
RMB'000
ARETT

RMB'000
ARBF T

BEi& 2024 =K E — Bh%
ZiERARKS 2D
(20234 : AR¥6.09)

106,327 77,801

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to
the approval of the Company's shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF

THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent of RMB565,875,000 (2023:
RMB257,680,000), and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 1,264,292,000 (2023: 1,264,292,000) in
issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the year ended 31 December 2024.

14.

FEERKRPREFAFTERATDRR
FERRBITHIRRBEANG LA -

BREEERESFHAEAR
LEkREF

EREABINAELRESARE
BEREGERAEABRGEEFNEAR
# 565,875,0007T (20234F : AR
257,680,0007T) K E A E 17 @ IR
B9 N #E 39 81 1,264,292,000 8% (2023
£ 1 1,264,292,000 %) 5t &

REEEE2024F 12831 HIEFEEW
EOETHBERH TSI ER -
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Fixture and
Allocated leasehold
Land Buildings  improvement

iR
Bt 8 BERENR
RMB0OO  RMBO00  RMB'000
AEETE  ARETR ARBTR

15. 1% « BB Rk fH

Medical Motor Office  Construction
equipment vehicles equipment  in progress

B NE O ORE EEIR
RVB0OO  RMBOOO  RMB'000  RMBO00
ARBTT  ARETT ARBTR ARETR

At 1 January 2024 R2024F1 818
Cost %S 587,788 3,500,633 389,589 3,508,075 67,148 736,550 142,791 8,932,574
Accumulated depreciation and RAMERAESR

impairment loss = (1,128,257) (156,511)  (2,254,034) (44,459) (484,816) (646)  (4,068,723)
Net carrying amount REETE 587,788 2,372,376 233,078 1,254,041 22,689 251,734 142,145 4,863,851
At 1 January 2024, net of R2024E1818

accumulated depreciation MRtE 587,788 2,372,376 233,078 1,254,041 22,689 251,734 142,145 4,863,851
Additions HE - 4,640 21122 313,384 2,748 100,178 84,226 532,298
Disposals RE - (245) (338) (5,844) (57) (5,944) (2,093) (14,521)
Transfers =224 - 107,508 44,440 1,367 - 5,428 (158,743) -
Depreciation charge FEER - (94,291) (46,660) (328,632) (4,538) (83,572) - (557,693)
Impairment loss AEEE - (16,234) - (11,875) (248) (3472) (324) (32,153)

At 31 December 2024, net of R204E128318

accumulated depreciation NREHHE 587,788 2,373,754 257682 12244 20594 264,352 65211 4,791,782
At31 December 2024: 2024128318 :
Cost A 587,788 3,612,536 460813 3,816,982 69,839 836,212 66,181 9,450,351
Accumulated depreciation and RAMERAESR

impairment loss - (1238782  (203171)  (2594,541) (49,245)  (571,860) (970)  (4,658,569)
Net carrying amount REEE 587,788 2,373,754 257602 12244 20594 264,352 65211 4,791,782

In view of the closure arrangements of Huai'an City
Huaiyin Hospital Company Limited's operations, the Group
assessed the recoverable amounts of those property and
equipment and an impairment loss of RMB31,829,000
was recognised in profit or loss during the year.

As at 31 December 2024, the land use right certificates of
allocated land with carrying amounts of RMB177,935,000
were not yet obtained by the Group.

ENEZTERBRAERQATNEL
EEZH AEETEZFVERR
BRI B8 > W RN B mE
R ERS 1R A K% 31,829,000 7T ©

72202412831 H » KEE B REE
EREEA ART 177,935,000 70 E 5
fo Lt Ay T E PR REEE o
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (&5 HBEHEIN 0 UARETIR)

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. % - BEREE @

(continued)

Fixture and

Allocated leasehold Medical Motor Office  Construction

Land Buildings  improvement  equipment vehicles ~ equipment in progress Total
RiR

i} e BF REZENR  BARE RE o BARE REIR CEl
RVMBOO0 ~ RMB000  RMBOOO  RMB00D  RMB000  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMBO00
ARBTT ARMTR ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETR ARETR

At 1 January 2023 R2023%1818
Cost A 586,307 341699 321,762 3,091,306 63377 671,844 137,305 8,294,899
Accumulated depreciation and ZtERAERR

Impairment loss = (914,401) (118,346)  (1,812,118) (38,732) (423,100) (5100 (3,307,207)
Net carrying amount REGFH 586,307 2,502,597 209,416 1,279,188 24,645 248 744 136,795 4,987,692
At 1 January 2023, net of R0BE1R1R

accumulated depreciation NREHTE 586,307 2,602,597 209,416 1,279,183 24,645 248,744 136,795 4,987,692
Additions HE 1,481 13,601 62,350 440,178 4590 69,511 86,499 678,210
Disposals EE - (679) (3,415) (23,409) 819) (8,572) (3,641) (40,535)
Transfers a5 - 70713 2,892 - - 3,767 (77.372) -
Depreciation charge TEER - (94,404 (35,449) (355,833) (5,727) (61,177) - (552,590)
Impairment loss HEEE = (119,452) (2,716) (86,083) - (539) (136) (208,926)
At 31 December 2023, net of R2023E128318

accumulated depreciation NRENE 587,788 2,372,376 233078 1,254,041 22,689 251,734 142,145 4,863,851
At 31 December 2023: 2023128318
Cost [ 587,788 3,500,633 389,589 3,508,075 67,148 736,550 142,791 8,932,574
Accumulated depreciation RTERAESE

and impairment loss - (1,128,257) (156,511)  (2,254,034) (44,459) (484.816) (646)  (4,068,723)
Net carrying amount REEFE 587,788 2,372,376 233,078 1,254,041 22,689 251,734 142,145 4,863 851
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16. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for properties and medical
equipment used in its operations. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the
owners with lease periods of 50 and 60 years, and no
ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these
land leases. Leases of properties generally have lease
terms between 1 and 9 years and leases of medical
equipment generally have lease terms between 1 and
5 years. None of the leases includes variable lease
payments.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use
assets and the movements during the year are as
follows:

16.

AR e MR M EE

(5 HREAES » UAREYITR)

HE
FEBEAREA

AEBRELEEPEANEERBE
REHEAEEGR - —RMEMBRE
LHRTEFn B E R ERAERHA50F &
BOFREE L BREBELELTHE
EAFER > BRERARE - FERE
NEEREBEM EIF > BRRHE
HENEEHREBEER1E0F - i
HEBFEREBEEMM -

(a) REAEEE

FEBENERREEERAER
BT

Leasehold Leased Medical Motor
land properties equipment  vehicles Total
HETH HEMxE BEIXG AE Bt
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETH ARETR ARETR ARETR
As at 1 January 2023 ?2023E181H 357,380 60,730 11,874 - 429,984
Additions HE 632 94,389 26,136 319 121,476
Depreciation charge TEER (8814)  (38,672) (4,251) (17)  (61,754)
Impairment loss BERE (1,863) - - - (1,863)
As at 31 December 2023 and R20235% 128318
1 January 2024 R2024E1818 347,335 116,447 33,759 302 497,843
Additions NE - 48,554 - - 48,554
Depreciation charge TEER (8,532)  (44,906)  (4,415) (39) (57,892
Lease matured and transferred ~ TAE Z| HAA & - - (8,684) - (8,684)
As at 31 December 2024 120245128311 338,803 120,095 20,660 263 479,821
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (&5 HBEHEIN 0 UARETIR)

16. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

16. FHE w)

TEBREAEREA@®

(b) #HEEE
FREEEENREERESU

movements during the year are as follows: T

2024 2023
2024 4

2023
RMB'000
ARET T

RMB'000
ARET T

At 1 January R1B1H 148,670 73,824
New leases MHEE 48,554 121,314
Accretion of interest recognised FRERINF B E

during the year 7,536 5,052
Payments during the year FEMM (45,575) (51,520)
At 31 December 12831 H 159,185 148,670
Analysed into: A=

Current portion BRHAER 7 51,946 45,028

Non-current portion JERNHRER 107,239 103,642

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed
in note 41 to the financial statements.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in
relation to leases are as follows:

HE&SBHNESMOMEMBRE
PYEE41 FRIRER o

(c) BRIHERIZERN IRa BT -

2024 2023
2024 & 20234
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFT
Interest on lease liabilities HESBNFE 7,536 5,052
Depreciation charge of FERESENITEER
right-of-use assets 57,892 51,753
Expense relating to short-term SIS B RANMEX
leases 6,415 6,991
Variable lease payments not THETAEEAESEN
included in the measurement of PRSI
lease liabilities 10,957 8,737

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note
36(c) to the financial statements.

(d) HERSARLBEEMBERRNW

5£36(c) FHKER ©
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(HAERAES  LARKIIT)

17. GOODWILL

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

17. H2&

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AEETT ANE¥TT
At 1 January: ®1B818:

Cost (D% 3,848,524 5,576,023
Accumulated impairment KA (249,342) (1,835,823)
Net carrying amount REEFEE 3,599,182 3,740,200
Carrying amount at 1 January P11 A1 HREREE 3,599,182 3,740,200
Impairment A - (141,018)
Carrying amount at 31 December 712831 AMEREE 3,599,182 3,599,182

At 31 December: ®128318 :
Cost D% 3,848,524 3,848,524
Accumulated impairment KA (249,342) (249,342)
Net carrying amount REEFEE 3,599,182 3,599,182
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(FEHAIRABI  LARKEIIT)

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

17. GOODW"_L (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwiill

17. B8 @
2 89 R R

HECRBEAREERBOEKERS
ELEBMAER - #HIWT

Goodwill is allocated to CGU groups according to the
internal management structure as follows:

2024 and 2023

2024 F 2 2023 F
Accumulated Net carrying
CGU groups Cost impairment amount
REELBAHET) D% REPRE REEFE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®BTT ARETT
Bengang CGU Group AR EE SRR 116,861 - 116,861
Fukuang CGU Group WEIRETELEUAR 595,488 - 595,488
Fuxin CGU Group BMIRESELEMNAER 278,649 - 278,649
Guangxi CGU EFERS AL 31,411 - 31,411
Huaikuang CGU Group ERIREEABMUAER 402,398 - 402,398
Jiangong CGU BREREELSN 44,080 - 44,080
Naoke CGU Group RIR s EE B AR 1,031,567 = 1,031,567
Pingkuang CGU SYEIREEE B 289,054 - 289,054
Ruizhou CGU Group IHNIREEE B AR 62,907 - 62,907
Sinophi CGU Group SinophiIR & E £ EIZH 7! 249,342 (249,342) -
Tiemei CGU BIRIREEEEM 57,743 - 57,743
Wugang CGU Group HiMIREEE B AR 465,031 - 465,031
Xukuang CGU HERSEL B 215,736 - 215,736
Beicheng CGU IEIREEE BN 8,257 - 8,257
Total wast 3,848,524 (249,342) 3,599,182
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17. GOODW".L (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwiill (continued)

The recoverable amount of the CGU groups is first
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on a five-year
budgets approved by management. The key assumptions
used in estimating VIU is as follows:

17.

(S0
28R E R @

REEEEMARNNKEEEELE
EREECHAEEFEEE -ZFHE
ERARBEEEEBMLENIFRERS
ENREREBAAET - st EAE
ERFIERNEZMREHIIMT :

2024 2023
20245 20234

Average Average
annual Average annual Average
revenue  gross profit revenue  gross profit
growth rate margin  growth rate margin
during the during the during the during the
forecast forecast forecast forecast
CGUs/CGU groups period period period period

FEERBREAY TEHHAEN
ReELEM/ THEE  BAREN THEE  RRARED
ReELBA5 KWaREREE THEMNE KREREX TIHEEMNE
Bengang CGU Group AR EEE AR 1.9% 19.9% 1.6% 15.6%
Fukuang CGU Group mEREELEUAER 2.2% 18.1% 2.7% 18.9%
Fuxin CGU Group BirREELBMAR 4.1% 30.2% 2.5% 25.3%
Guangxi CGU BEREELEQ 3.6% 17.4% 7.5% 19.8%
Huaikuang CGU Group HERREELE AR 1.8% 18.4% 3.5% 18.9%
Jiangong CGU REREELE 1.8% 18.0% 1.5% 22.8%
Naoke CGU Group fERIRE EE B UAER] 1.4% 21.9% 3.5% 21.0%
Pingkuang CGU SEREELEQ 2.0% 12.3% 4.9% 10.1%
Ruizhou CGU Group MR e EEE MR 2.7% 16.9% 7.9% 14.1%

Sinophi CGU Group SinophilR&E4 B 485 not applicable not applicable

ER &M 5.7% 3.7%
Tiemei CGU HIREREEE B 0.9% 20.4% 3.1% 21.5%
Wugang CGU Group HilReEEE MR 2.6% 24.1% 4.9% 22.2%
Xukuang CGU RIEREELEQ 4.3% 15.7% 11.2% 16.7%
Beicheng CGU EHREELEN 3.0% 19.7% 8.0% 21.9%

The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 14% (2023: 15%), which reflected specific
risks relating to each CGU Group. The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows beyond the five-year period is
2.0% (2023: 2.5%). This growth rate does not exceed the
long-term average growth rates for the relevant markets.

The value in use calculated is higher than the carrying
amount for each CGU Group, accordingly, no impairment
of goodwill was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: RMB141,018,000 was recognised).

FERRREREBEANKAEIRES
14% (20234 1 15%) * KM T RIRE
EEBAUANNERBEE R B
HEBBAFHYRERENEEX
#2.0% (20234 1 2.5%) - ZIEEX
FEBEERE™E LN RAFIERE -

SEBRcEEEMNMERFEESENE
BEESRIEEE Bt &#ZE2024
F12A3NBLEEERBERBERE
(2023 F : FEEB AR 141,018,000 7T) ©
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (&5 HBEHEIN 0 UARETIR)

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. Hth B EE

Operating
rights under
10T GSP
arrangements Licence Total

IOTZH T GSP
S g 5 A 55 CEil
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TT ARBTT

31 December 2024 202412831 H

R2024FE1HB1HM
Bz o 0Bk R st 5

Cost at 1 January 2024,
net of accumulated

amortisation and impairment KR {E 45,304 - 45,304
Amortisation provided F B

during the year (3,311) - (3,311)
Disposal BRE (34,212) = (34,212)

At 31 December 2024 12202412831 H 7,781 = 7,781

At 31 December 2024: 7202412831 H -

Cost B 7 41,750 4,185 45,935
Accumulated amortisation REHEHERORE
and impairment (33,969) (4,185) (38,154)

Net carrying amount EREEFEE 7,781 = 7,781

On 24 September 2024, the Group has entered into an
agreement with the sponsor of Shunyi District Konggang
Hospital and the Second Hospital of Shunyi District,
pursuant to which the parties agreed the |IOT agreement
dated 28 May 2015 shall be early terminated. Pursuant
to the terms of the agreement, the Group derecognised
the related operating rights under IOT agreements and
receivables from |OT hospitals, which resulting in a loss
of RMB9,380,000 recognised in “Other gains and losses,
net"” during the year ended 31 December 2024.

R2024FE9RB24H  Z"ERBHA|EEH
BErABERKEREES —BRNER
ANiTiuth= Bt  EFREEEA
20155828 A IOTHZEF IR B4
IE o RIBHBIRTR > NEBEA R
IOT 18 T MR & R EURIOT
BPrmRIE » B R EE20245F12 8
INHIEFEER TEMUE KR E1EFEE)
AR 19,380,000 TTHIES 18 ©
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 18. Hth B E E w)

Operating
rights under
|OT GSP
arrangements Licence Total
IOTZH F = GSP
KSR Al sE =11
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®BTT AREBTT
31 December 2023 2023F 12831 H
Cost at 1 January 2023, R2023F 1B 1HM
net of accumulated B 5 0BR R 5
amortisation and impairment K iE{E 68,657 = 68,657
Amortisation provided F IS
during the year (6,520) - (6,520)
Disposal RE (16,833) - (16,833)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 12831 H 45,304 - 45,304
At 31 December 2023: 72023FE 128318 :
Cost A A 103,678 4,185 107,863
Accumulated amortisation RETEHE SORE
and impairment (58,374) (4,185) (62,559)
Net carrying amount ERTEE P EE 45,304 = 45,304
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (&5 HBEHEIN 0 UARETIR)

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. KBS AT ZIRE
2024 2023
2024 5 2023 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBBTT  ARMTR
Share of net assets PMEBEEFE 993,602 982,350
Particulars of the associates are as follows: BEABERNT :
Place of Percentage of ownership
Particulars of registration and interest attributable
capital held business to the Group Principal activity
FREAER SMREENE  AEBRGAEEERESL TEEE
2024 2023
20244 20235
Beijing Jing Run Renkang Registered capital of ~ PRC/ 49% 49%  Provision of hospital
Hospital Management RMB5,000,000 Chinese Mainland management services
Company Limited
("JR Renkang”)
TRRBCRBRER SMEXARE FE,/ TRyt B SRR
BRAR (TRECR) 5,000,0007C
Beijing Jing Run Renkang Registered capital of ~ PRC/ 49% 49%  Provision of corporate
Holdings Company Limited RMB1,000,000,000 Chinese Mainland management services
(“JR Holdings")
TR BCRERBRAR SEXARE R,/ ARl Pyt READEERE
(TR AR ) 1,000,000,0007C
Run Xiao Yi (Beijing) Registered capital of ~ PRC/ 49% 49%  Provision of technology
Technology Company Limited ~ RMB10,000,000 Chinese Mainland development services
(“Run Xiao Yi")
BNERE (bR BRAR AMERARE /ARl Ayt R MRERS
(FENE)) 10,000,0007C
The above investments are indirectly held by the BT RA AT BIEEE ©
Company.
JR Renkang and JR Holdings are considered material RECEARBERERARERN
associates of the Group and are accounted for using the BABZEAB REREmETIER o

equity method.
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19. It E AT Z 1/ E @)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TRABTEARECEN R BER
information in respect of JR Renkang and JR Holdings WIFHEENBE > MAERENEIRE
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and g %JrIEﬂZ’“EI’JﬁﬁL?‘_IT%ﬁW > 3 & B
reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated GEVHERFTTNREEETHIR

financial statements:

JR Renkang JR Holdings
BT RBER

RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AREBTRT

Gross amounts of the associates /N RS
Current assets MEEE 245,059 1,167,482
Non-current assets ERENEE - 866,494
Current liabilities mENEE (117,265) (145,221)
Net assets BEFE 127,794 1,888,755
Revenue & 159,344 213,640
Profit and total comprehensive FEMNERZEALELE

income for the year 116,042 83,979
Dividend declared during the year FREIRNEE 108,956 69,312
Reconciliation to the Group's HAREBRBE TN

interest of the associates: MR
Proportion of the Group’s ownership ~ AEEERERLLE 49% 49%
Group's share of net assets of the REBMDLEE QT

associate and carrying amount BEEFEMZKEDN

of the investment ERMEE 62,619 925,490
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19. It E AT Z R E @)
JR Renkang JR Holdings

RE{CE EER
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREBTT
Gross amounts of the associates HE N B 48 %E
Current assets MENE E 127,927 1,043,194
Non-current assets ERBNEE = 866,706
Current liabilities mMENEE (7,218) (35,812)
Net assets BEFE 120,709 1,874,088
Revenue & 142,802 80,327
Profit and total comprehensive FEFMEREmEmBALELE
income for the year 108,956 76,310
Dividend declared during the year FREIRNKE 118,936 62,459
Reconciliation to the Group's HEAREBRREEABN
interest of the associates: R
Proportion of the Group's ownership ~ AEEEF LS 49% 49%
Group's share of net assets of the AEENDLEE AT
associate and carrying amount BEFERZEEN
of the investment ERMEE 59,147 918,303
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TRIRTHRAEBEBIFEAN
information of the Group's associates that are not HENBMNEARMEER

individually material:

2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFT
Share of the associates’ profit and LB E A B FEFN B R
total comprehensive income SHE WA LEZE
for the year 593 -
Aggregate carrying amount of the REBRRBEAS 2
Group's investments in KEMRREE
the associates 5,493 4,900
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20. RECEIVABLES FROM IOT HOSPITALS 20. RBEI0T E [z z FEURFRIE

2024 2023

2024 & 20234

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETF T ARET T

Receivables from IOT hospitals REI0T Bz BT IE 24,013 59,630
Impairment E (14,443) (15,541)

9,570 44,089

Less: Current portion included B ST ATERRIE
in prepayments, deposits Re8 & M EMEI

and other receivables B Z BIEAER 72 26 (1,339) (6,655)
Non-current portion JEBNHRER > 8,231 37,434
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of R E 10T BBz 2 FEWAIE 2 BB 5 18 5

receivables from 10T hospitals are as follows: HEENT -

2024 2023

2024 & 20234

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETF T ARET T

At beginning of year == 15,541 15,641
Reversal of impairment losses AEEEEE (1,098) -

At end of year FR 14,443 15,541
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

2024
2024 5

RMB'000
ARETTT

Listed equity investment, EHRAKE  HAREE
at fair value 34,855

21. WA R EESH B B E S8
MBS RS E

2023
20234
RMB’'000
ARETT

49,084

The listed equity investment was classified as financial
assets at FVTPL as the Group has not elected to recognise
the fair value gain or loss through other comprehensive
income. It was held for long-term strategic purposes.
The Group does not intend to dispose of it within twelve
months after the reporting period and classifies the
investment as non-current assets.

22. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

HRAEEEEREBHEMEEIIA
BRAABEVRDHER R EHR
TREDEHURRNBEFEEHE
Bt ABmNEREE DHAEFR
HERAR AEREENKRSHRE
TEAREEZERE  LRHESD
BRIFRPEE -

. HtWEREBEE

2024 2023
2024 5 2023 4

RMB'000
ARETTT

RMB'000
ARETTT

Prepayment for non-current assets JEREIE ETRIMIA 54,266 31,618
Relocation assets (note) mBEE (W) 76,269 76,269
130,535 107,887

Note:

In 2019, the operation of 999 Medical Clinic (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“999 Clinic")
was suspended as the location of the site was included in the local urban
renewal plan. The Group entered into an agreement with a real estate company
in which the property of 999 Clinic would be demolished and a new property
with a floor area of no less than that of the demolished property would be given
to 999 Clinic as compensation when the construction and the development of
the new property have been completed. Accordingly, property with a carrying
amount of RMB76,269,000 was classified as to other non-current assets.

M5z

720195 A BMATEENE) > FILE
BT =NBEPZE (R AEREEAE (=M
FE)NEE AEEE—BEMEQTES] 7 —
itk BER = NPIZEYEER > LAETTRIY
EERMARE  RERERBERDRBEFRYEN
MY ERMB =PI EBIERFE o FL > BREES
AR 76,269,000 TR E B D ARMIERINEE ©
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23. INVENTORIES 23. 78

(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial (a) HZEMBRRERANEFEEERE:
position comprise:

2024 2023
2024 4F 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARET T
Pharmaceuticals B 211,449 262,369
Medical devices and medical B2 I K B8 R FEM
consumables 90,213 39,707
301,662 302,076
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised b) HBPARILFABRNTES
as an expense and included in profit or loss is as BWoOMHAOT -
follows:
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T AREF T
Carrying amount of inventories sold BE&FSKREE 4,190,355 4,477,328
Write-down of inventories FE MU 481 216
4,190,836 4,477,544
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24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 24. RN B ZHEREKEE
2024 2023
2024 & 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREBTT
Trade receivables FEWE 5 7B
Public medical insurance program NEBEERE S 1,279,842 1,608,931
Other customers Hthx= /A 362,176 372,299
Bills receivables FEWE R 182 132
1,642,200 1,981,362
Impairment A (230,044) (445,710)
1,412,156 1,535,652
The Group's trading terms with its corporate customers KEERABDBERPNXRZHBREEN
are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where EEAER  BWERRIN MERE
payment in advance is normally required. The credit BEERMAMMR - EAHA30F180
periods ranged from 30 to 180 days. The Group seeks K o 2 £ B B 0 Hh oAk U BN B9 FE U =R B
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables MRS ERIE R B EE ISP
and has a credit control department to minimise credit DEREEERE ShEEEEHE
risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior RBERER ~EELEMENRE S
management. The Group does not hold any collateral MIEREWREEGRIFEEAIERR
or other credit enhancements over its trade and bills FIRMEMEE IR RIEHT - BUWE 5
receivable balances. Trade and bills receivables are non- MEREREZERARE °

interest-bearing.
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24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

AR e MR M EE

(HAERAES  LARKIIT)

24. R E 5 IE R EWEE @)

REREHREWE 5 RIE KR EREE
BIRE D AT (IR E R B RIREE
BEWMT :

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREEF T NS

Within 1 year 1ER 1,383,399 1,496,569
1 to 2 years 1224 24,450 28,450
Over 2 years Bid2E 4,307 10,633
1,412,156 1,535,652

The movements in the loss allowance for trade receivables
are as follows:

I B 2 AR R B EHIE S SR T

2024 2023

2024 & 20234

RMB'000 RMB'000

AEETT ANE¥TT

At beginning of year == 445,710 436,484
Impairment losses, net BB IEFRE 8,861 73,611

Amount written off as 48 VK W (O] A i = T V5 KB

uncollectible, net (224,527) (64,385)
At end of year FR 230,044 445,710

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns.

REHREBRRAEFEEREETHE
D StEREEERE - BHERER
AEERUBEEANSBARERENSD
B EN -
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24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. BIRE S RIERBREE @

(continued)

Trade receivables from public medical insurance program
have no due date for which credit evaluations are
performed. The credit risk of trade receivables from other
customers is evaluated using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

Trade receivables from public

Current

L
RRAHBR R RN

BETEEFENBRAXBRRFRR

StEINE 5 IR

LE|fiH - RIRH

=R ME%TAIEE’:HEEHB o2 A
BT

12024128318

Past due
i

Less than
1 year

DR

Over 3
years

BiE3E

1t02
years
1826

medical insurance program: BRME:

Expected credit loss rate BHEEREX 3.9% - - - -
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BEREE ARETT) 1,279,842 - - - -
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) EHREEER (ARETT) 50,458 - - - -
Trade receivables from other customers: EWEMZEHEZHIE :

Expected credit loss rate RHEEREX - 0.4% 711%  100.0%  100.0%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) HEEE ARETD) - 182,021 4,216 3 175,936
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEERE (ARETT) - 648 2,999 3 17593

As at 31 December 2023

Current
BAl

2 2023F12831H

Past due
jeIks

Less than
1 year

DR

1t02
years
182F

Trade receivables from public

R ALER R BN

medical insurance program: BHME:

Expected credit loss rate RHAEEREX 16.2% = = = =
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BEREE ARETT) 1,608,931 = = = =
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BEHREESER (ARBTm) 260,083 - - - -
Trade receivables from other customers: FEWEMEAMNEZHE :

Expected credit loss rate RHEEREX = 2.2% 5.4% 94.0%  100.0%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) HEEE ARET) - 182,067 6,424 42173 141,635
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEEE (ARETT) - 4,021 348 39623 141,635

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for bills
receivables as at 31 December is within one year and the
loss allowance as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was

assessed to be minimal.

2024 EF2023FE 12831 H > FEUR
T 12 831 BAIFERRUR O] 55 E R
MA—FER > BEFHEHEEEBEETK -
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25. CONTRACT ASSETS

Contract assets arising from

25. B E

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
2024 & 2023

128318
RMB'000
NRIEF T

12H31H
RMB’000
ARETT

BHNEERBBREERS

Hospital management services 5,093 21,603
Impairment BE (488) (13,346)
4,605 8,257

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned
from the provision of hospital management services as the
receipt of consideration is conditional on the performance
rating assessments of the Group. The amounts recognised
as contract assets are reclassified to trade receivables
when the rights to consideration become unconditional, i.e.
when the performance rating assessments are finalised.

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of
contract assets are as follows:

GHNEERMREHBIEERF AT
By W ak M A 48 FE SR » (R 23 B AT UL
WEBURR AEBORRERT(E B
HEEMNEDERGE BIETRRE
FMTEE) > A/ EGNEENTE
EMNEAENEZRIE -

BREERERRREHEINESERNT

2024 2023

2024 & 2023

RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT AREFT

At the beginning of year 4] 13,346 7,248
Reversal of impairment losses AR IR (357) 6,098
Written off as uncollectible, net #A UR [B] BY i EE FUB 0 R (12,501) =
At the end of year FR 488 13,346
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26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 26. AT MIE ~ REE R HME
OTHER RECEIVABLES W TR IE
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 5%
Note RMB'000 RMB’000
B =F ARET T ARETT
Prepayments to suppliers YA NECRE NN 41,289 23,762
Current portion of receivables 7R B 10T &bz > fE W IER
from IOT hospitals BRHEAER 7 20 1,339 6,655
Other receivable from B MR WEM
“Yan Hua Hospital” (note) FEWRIE (M3 5E) 189,747 189,747
Dividend receivables from FEW G E A B S
associates 38(b) 87,351 -
Others Hh 200,439 146,854
520,165 367,018
Impairment E (92,966) (96,519)
427,199 270,499
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26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND

OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note:

Beijing Yan Hua Phoenix Healthcare Asset Management Company Limited
("Yan Hua Phoenix") is the sponsor of Yan Hua Hospital, and Yan Hua Hospital
unilaterally terminated the IOT agreement entered into between the Group,
Yan Hua Phoenix and Yan Hua Hospital (the “Yan Hua IOT Agreement”) from
21 January 2019. The Group has submitted a civil claim statement against Yan
Hua Phoenix and Yan Hua Hospital in relation to the Yan Hua IOT Agreement
dispute to the Beijing Second Intermediate People's Court on 17 April 2019
to seek the court’s ruling that the unilateral termination of the Yan Hua IOT
Agreement by Yan Hua Phoenix and Yan Hua Hospital on 21 January 2019 shall
be void.

On 18 December 2019, the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court issued
a judgement in favour of the Group. Yan Hua Phoenix and Yan Hua Hospital
filed an appeal to the Beijing Higher People’s Court in January 2020. On 22
November 2021, the Beijing Higher People’s Court handed down a judgment
(2020 Jing Minzhong No.110) which rejected the appeal filed by Yan Hua
Phoenix and Yan Hua Hospital and upheld the original judgment, and adjudged
that such ruling shall be final.

Having considered the terms of the Yan Hua IOT Agreement, the Group has
further claimed that Yan Hua Phoenix and Yan Hua Hospital should be liable
for damages for breach of the Yan Hua IOT Agreement. Accordingly, the
Group classified the related receivables and operating right under the 10T
arrangement with Yan Hua Hospital as other receivable.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
other receivables are as follows:

26. TEITRIE ~ (Rl & R H th &

U FRIE ()
F5E :

HMECERNBRALTRCAEREEESEAR
~E (MFR1EEE) FFRICE R 201941821 Hie
BAEAIEAEAER REBEKRRICERRTIIN
10T 3% (TFACIOTHaR.) « AEMM B 2019F4 8
17HMFREIOTHZFZRILRMEZFRARE
BRif X RE R BRI B A KRR B » X
ERRFIERERE R FE(CERR20194 1521 B84
ERRRFACIOT aRERK o

K2019%F12818H » ERMEZFRARZERE

BRRFER  SEEBF - FCARMMBEER
BEiR2020F 1 B AR &R A RIERIRE L& o
20214118228 IbmHSRAREBEMAHHIHR
(2020 R R#&110%%) » B EIFR1C B B MR BRI
RERY o » MERERIR ) WEE UL AR BRI HIR -

EBEFACIOTIHRRFR > RNEBE—P EREI(L
BERFEERAXNERFEIOTHRZENE
BRIt > AEER HFRACE BT I0T 288 T HARRIFE R
TRAERA RS D55 H M UGRRIR o

HthEWRIBEREBREFENEHE
DI

2024 2023

2024 & 20234

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTT

At beginning of year F4 96,519 50,020
Impairment losses, net ER IR RE 515 49,463
Wiritten off as uncollectible, net 45 VA W (O] B 3 = T V5 KB (4,068) (2,964)
At end of year FR 92,966 96,519
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27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. B R EFEYKRIRH %

RESTRICTED AND PLEDGED BANK MEIRIRRITER
DEPOSITS

2024 2023
2024 5 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T AREF T
Cash and bank balances B RIRIT4E R 1,053,786 1,280,382
Less: Pledged bank deposits A BIRIRIRITER (55,756) (25,655)
Restricted bank deposits FREIEIRTTERR (20,697) (18,630)
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 977,333 1,236,097

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB1,032,379,000 (2023: RMB1,252,371,000). The RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements of
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term
time deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted and
pledged bank deposits are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

REBEEHFR AEBUARKSE
NIRERIBTEFRSEALARE
1,032,379,0007T (20234 : AR
1,252,371,00070) o AR F5EEH
TMEEMER > EIREFE A2
SNEBEIBER MAEE - EERGES
BHETE AEE S BEREETI
MOREBTNRTEARERRAH
hE o

IRITREUSBRTERFBF KRB
WA B - BHEMERERANF—X
EZBRAF BRI AEERRIRIR
TERME > TRLENEMERZ
AR K BREUH B o $R1T7 45 B K PRI 14
MEBBBERTERIIFAGERE X
EHEENBERZIRTT -
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28. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the

end of the reporting period, based on the date of delivery
of goods, is as follows:

28. BB B REKREARE

RHREMARENE RN B EHOEN
B MIERENRERE DU :

2024 2023
2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREF T AREEF T

Within 60 days 60 XA 1,000,117 796,279
61 to 180 days 61E 180K 565,302 594,773
Over 180 days 180 KL E 130,841 340,443
1,696,260 1,731,495

The trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and
are normally granted on a credit term of 0 to 90 days.

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

BNESREREBNRBEARE  —
ARIZOE QO RHEEHRE ©

29. HithEIRIERESTER

2024 2023

2024 4F 20234

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARET T

Staff cost payables FETE IR 651,917 648,491

Deposits from suppliers HEmRES 61,576 57,003

Other PRC tax payable HhEMhERE 28,186 34,178

Unpaid administrative expenses RIITHER 31,839 28,521
Payables for purchases of property, BEVE BERREZ

plant and equipment FETFRIB 142,212 150,955
Unpaid consideration for acquisition WEEM B A B 2 R E

of subsidiaries 16,415 16,415

Contract liabilities (note) araE (i) 101,522 113,101

Others Hith 555,329 621,880

1,588,996 1,670,544
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29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. HtWERRIEREAER @
(continued)
Note: B EE
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: BHEENAMANT

Short-term advances received from customers: BWE RN

General healthcare services REBEIRE 96,085 109,779

Other services HAARTS 5,437 3,322

Total contract liabilities BHEERE 101,522 113,101
Contract liabilities primarily arises from the considerations received from EHNEBRFERAEERBRTRAOBEERHERE
customers before the Group satisfying performance obligations. It would be FRREBES HERNREREFHRER AW o 1°
recognised as revenue upon the rendering of services. The contract liabilities 2024 F %2023 F 1 A1 HN WA BEGRABER
balance as at 1 January 2024 and 2023 have been substantially recognised as TERAFE RS AW o

revenue during the respective years.

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 30. st 2ERITER
BORROWINGS

2024 2023
20244 2023 %
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) RMB'000 rate (%) RMB'000
BEME (%) ARETT BEAME%) ARETT

Current RE
Borrowings — unsecured B — mIEIF 2=13 701,717 1-6 1,277,874
Non-current FETRE
Borrowings — unsecured B —EIEE 2-3 734,700 1-4 884,846
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ABETT
Analysed into: DT
Borrowings repayable: BREER !
Within one year or on demand —FERHIRER 701,717 1,277,874
In the second year B_FE 485,300 20,846
Over third year but within five years F=FULEBRFURN 249,400 864,000
1,436,417 2,162,720
As at 31 December 2024, all of the bank borrowings are R20245 12831 H > FrERITEIS
dominated in RMB. MAREESHE ©
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Total estimated benefit payable to

31. DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS 31. REEFIFHEIF1E

2024 2023
2024 % 2023

RMB’000
ARETT

RMB’000
ARBFT

BRI A BB 48 2R

retired staffs 424,583 395,892
Less: current portion recorded in AT ARME RRIE R

other payables and accruals FESTERRENE o 30,740 31,466

Carrying amount ERMEE 393,843 364,426

The Group operates unfunded defined benefit plans for
qualifying staff of certain hospitals. Under the plans, the
qualifying staff are entitled to retirement benefits.

The plan exposes the Group to interest rate risk and the
risk of changes in the life expectancy for the pensioners.

The movements in the present value of the defined
benefit obligations are as follows:

rEBARETEBRNGERARE
BEEHENRERMNE - RiEzxF
5t8) > SERABREZRAEH o

& st 8 fE A~ S B E B A X E R AR R
TENEZHECRER

REBNEEZRELHHUT !

2024 2023

2024 % 20234

RMB'000 RMB'000

AREF T ARETT

At 1 January R1A1H 395,892 391,282

Service cost AR5 Al A 21,404 17,487

Interest cost FE A 9,556 10,798

Benefit paid B EF (34,749) (37,981)
Re-measurement losses in other SHMEEBANENtE

comprehensive income 518 32,480 14,306

At 31 December R12831H 424,583 395,892

The remeasurement of the defined benefit obligations
represent mainly actuarial losses arising from changes
in demographic assumptions, financial assumptions and
experiences adjustments.

REBMNEENENSEETRIEAN
AORR B REMERABENE
{EMEERNBEEERE -
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31. DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS

(continued)

The most recent actuarial valuations of the defined benefit
obligations were carried out using the projected unit credit
actuarial valuation method.

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MNLAERAMEET®

REBMNEERMHBEMLETER
BTN BN ERBEEEETAERSL

BEHMRERANEIZRERRKRUOT !

2024 2023

2024 % 2023 5%

Discount rate ARIRE 1%-2%  22%-28%
Average expected future lifetime SEKREEN TS

of eligible employees FAFT R KR Z 6 28.65 27.51

Mortality assumptions are based on China Life Insurance
Mortality Table (2010-2013). The Table published historical
statistics in China.

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant
assumptions as at the end of the reporting period is
shown below:

SATRNRREZENTEASRESE
B Eepak (2010-2013) FEER > &R
AR EIBYE £ 4 5T B o

RE|EMR > HEZRR
B DM R -

Increase Increase
(decrease) (decrease)
in defined in defined
Increase benefit Decrease benefit
in rate/year obligation in rate/year obligation
RERF RERH
F=,/ BEEM %/ BEEM
FEIEM (A FEURD (A)
% RMB'000 % RMB'000
AREFTT ARETT
2024 2024 £
Discount rate BERE 1% (43,676) 1% 53,376
Average expected future lifetime S EREEM T
of eligible employees RS0 1 year 1 year
—& 14,985 —& (14,847)
2023 2023 F
Discount rate BRIRE 1% (38,526) 1% 46,724
Average expected future lifetime S EREEH TS
of eligible employees RS0 1 year 1 year
—F 12,805 —F (12,798)
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31. DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS 31. R EEHHEIFFE @

(continued)

EX2IERED T ERIE—ES
AMEH A AR B RRERS
HAARTEBRRELCESLMHERTE
BANEEEENFE BRAEDHTE
REZRZNVE > MATE EMMKRR
AIERTE - EXZIRBRE D
AORMAEBHEEHEREE
B RRA KRR BEIE L S EEE -

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
based on a method that extrapolates the impact on
defined benefit obligations as a result of reasonable
changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the
reporting period. The sensitivity analysis is based on a
change in a significant assumption, keeping all other
assumptions constant. The sensitivity analysis may not be
representative of an actual change in the defined benefit
obligation as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions
would occur in isolation of one another.

32. DEFERRED TAX 32.

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets
during the year are as follows:

IEIETRIA
ENELERESEREEZSBMT |

Deferred tax liabilities

IEIERIBER R

Fair value
adjustments
arising from
acquisition in excess

of Right-of-use  of related
subsidiaries assets depreciation

Depreciation
allowance

Others Total

FLRENE

NGEhl:

RAEE
wE EREEE

B A
e
1] 2t 15t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR

At 1 January 2023 R2023E181H 64,370 17,494 4,153 4,613 90,630
Deferred tax credited to StABGZELRE

profit or loss (note 12) (FizE12) (36,085) (1,358) (594 (3089) (41,126
Gross deferred tax liabilities 1?2023 12831 B R

at 31 December 2023 and 204E1B1HZ

at 1 January 2024 WETHESE 28285 16136 3559 1524 49504
Deferred tax (credited)/charged o~ (T A) /HBREERZELRE

profit or loss (note 12) (RrzE12) (7,706)  (14,729) 984 (1524)  (22,975)
Gross deferred tax liabilities R2024E12B31HZ

at 31 December 2024 BRINEEE 20,579 1,407 4,543 - 26,529
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32. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Deferred tax assets

32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IRIEFRIA @)
BERIEE E

Impairment
of financial Tax Lease
assets losses EIIES Others Total
SHEE
AE  WEEE BEa6 Hft 4t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEETT ARETT ARETT ARETR AR®ETR
At 1 January 2023 202351818 12,172 15,258 17,494 693 45,617
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the  ER3tA/ (IB) RaBRERZ
consolidated statement of profitor ~ {EIEARIE (Kf3E 12)
loss during the year (note 12) 2,799 425 (1,641) 10,699 12,282
Gross deferred tax assets R2023E12831 Bk
at 31 December 2023 and 20418182
at 1 January 2024 BELHEEE 4971 15683 1588 11392 57,899
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the  ERstA/ (IB) RAaBRERZ
consolidated statement of profitor ~ {EIEARIE (Kif3E 12)
loss during the year (note 12) 2,520 - (14,486) (11,392) (23,358)
Gross deferred tax assets R2024E128318Z
at 31 December 2024 BETREEE 17,491 15,683 1,367 - 34,541

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

PMYRMES > BRELERBEENES
BEAEMBRRBRRPIEHE - LUTE
EE TR IR S TS R IEERR BR AR
BYDHfT -

2024
2024 5

2023
20234
RMB'000
AREBTT

RMB'000
ARETTT

Net deferred tax assets recognised NI G BRI RFTED

in the consolidated statement of FIERIBE R

financial position 33,223 42,178
Net deferred tax liabilities RARE M BAR TR R

recognised in the consolidated FIEIRIB & EFER

statement of financial position (25,211) (33,783)
Net deferred tax assets FEIERIEE ERE 8,012 8,395
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In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
2.4(s), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses of RMB227,732,000
(2023: RMB157,899,000) as it is not probable that future
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will
be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The
tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses arose.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Chinese Mainland. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after
31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the undistributed earnings that are subject to withholding
taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings
in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB4,143,521,000 (2023: RMB3,639,930,000) at 31
December 2024.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

RIEMEE2.4(s) PR & B9 & 51 BLER -
AEBLRARMBRARBEEEBAR
#&227,732,0007TC (20234F : AR
157,899,000 7t) RV IELRIBE &= »
BERAMBRBALIEEREER AN
AIREBRREFRA B HZEEE
Wi - R E R ELENRBEIER
—FERFEHEE®R JRRIEHE
EEENABINRRERRFE o

RIEFEHEEMEREZ BEFPHA
MBI ERECERAIIELEEE
IR EHBU10% IFEIRR - B RE
ERE2008FE 1B 1 BEEEN » AR
200712831 B2 BFTEENWE °
MEHPEAMEIIEREENEESR
Z2EERKHBE AT ERRENTE
RREX -RALEEMS BAREA
10% o [AIIE > BEMWE 200841 B 1 H B A
EfNKRE AEBBEEEREER
B P9 3 BY 32 B9 B 8 A B 9 B BV BR B A
BRI ©

12202412831 0 » BiERAERR
FRE AR I 2 M @A Bl BB A TR IR
M2z R IRWE BB TBIRRM
FERDIRIETR - EERA » BENB RS
£ 0] 78 B 8948 2 9 Bic 48 BE UK 21 B9 BT B
B © j22024F 12831 H » W
RIEIER B & & 2 B 5 P B P9 3 B B
RAZKERB R EB 2 EEY
A NR%84,143,621,00070 (20234 :
A EE#3,639,930,0007¢) °©

ARBAREXTRETAGELEMSE
AFSIRER -

EWRAERAIRAT — S NERRS
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33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. ig7
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ANE¥TT ANE®TTT
Authorised: EE .
3,040,000,000 ordinary shares of 3,040,000,000 %
HK$0.00025 each /% 0.00025 7 7T A 1@ IS 760 760
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FT AEREFTT
Issued and fully paid: BRITRER :
1,296,676,516 ordinary shares of 1,296,676,516 &
HK$0.00025 each 8%0.00025 B THZ @G 267 267
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34. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

35.

(a)

(b)

Statutory surplus reserve

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in
Chinese Mainland, a portion of the profits of the
Company’s subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland has
been transferred to the statutory surplus reserve
funds which are restricted to use.

Actuarial reserve

The actuarial changes reserve comprises the
remeasurements arising from changes in
demographic assumptions, financial assumptions
and experiences adjustments, as further explained in
the accounting policy for defined benefit plan in note
2.4 to the financial statements.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests are set out below:

34.

35.

f#fE
AEERAEENUNEENHES
ERESDENGERDZBBHERT
B o

(a) ZERFATE
1R R E PO 30 60 7 B R AR R
A ATERE BB AT
BAOMNBEBAECRBAR
ERZIR o

wmEHE
EEBBHELETARADR
B M BRANERBENE(L
TEENEN S HOHBR
RMfEE24 PR EEM BT
BRI — 2 R o

(b)

BEEXRIFEREmZIFR
BB AT

TR EREAEARIFFEREDN
REENBRATRFE

2024

2024 5

Percentage of equity interest held
by non-controlling interests:

Jian Gong Hospital Co., Ltd.

(“Jian Gong Hospital") (M= 8
Runneng Medical Management HEBEEERRAR
Co., Ltd (“Run Neng") (EBE)

China Resource Wugang (Hubei)
Hospital Management Co., Ltd.
("CR Wugang”)

China Resources Healthcare (Liaoning)
Group Co., Ltd.

(“CR Liaoning Healthcare Group”)

AR HELEBI

BIRAHF

HIFERED AR

ERRE (BER) £H

(TEERESEREER)

ARTREBRARAT

R CHIL) Bl EE
BRAE (TEHERME))

20.0% 20.0%
35.0% 35.0%
49.0% 49.0%
23.9% 23.9%
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35. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 3. EHEAFERETZIFE
WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING ElftBAE @
INTERESTS (continued)

2024 2023
2024 5 20234

RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBTT

Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to JEVERR M E DY

non-controlling interests: FEFNE/ (B8) :
Jian Gong Hospital s Bhx 7,686 11,290
Run Neng TEBE 15,539 17,220
CR Wugang 2= 28,316 23,558
CR Liaoning Healthcare Group EHREREERE 65,633 82,349
Total comprehensive income PDEEFEREZNEZE

allocated to non-controlling interests: WX A4E%E :
Jian Gong Hospital iEy=g 7,575 11,310
Run Neng R 15,539 17,220
CR Wugang 2= R 27,950 23,313
CR Liaoning Healthcare Group EHREREERE 58,865 78,866

Dividend paid to non-controlling interest: MIEIERERZFRE :

Jian Gong Hospital = b - 8,303
Run Neng T BE 5,469 1,050
CR Wugang 2= R 7,317 3,567

Accumulated balances of non-controlling I #R & B = JEIE G # 4 R 5t

interests at the reporting date: 4EER
Jian Gong Hospital = Bhx 131,968 124,393
Run Neng HRE 169,958 159,888
CR Wugang 2= E 185,951 165,318
CR Liaoning Healthcare Group EHREEEER 709,536 650,671

» 210 China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

5. BAEAEERERZIER
EftEBAE @

35. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
|NTERESTS (continued)

B AT BER BT EZHTIW
TR EZERIEERRNERNLT
IR E AT 2 228

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts
disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:

CR Liaoning
Jian Gong Healthcare
Hospital Run Neng  CR Wugang Group
R= Bk M EERE  RBEEE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETRT ARETR
Revenue Wiam 874,541 642,820 1,119,248 3,435,646
Total expenses 1Y (836,667) (598,424) (1,062,207) (3,189,347)
Profit for the year FEMNH 38,430 44,396 57,787 274,614
Total comprehensive income FEZEWALHE
for the year 37,874 44,396 57,041 246,299
Current assets MEEE 546,021 539,330 735,010 1,898,029
Non-current assets FRBEE 282,181 125,898 301,370 2,776,663
Current liabilities PiEU)=KE] (164,885) (160,061) (572,559)  (1,270,689)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (3,479) (19,574) (84,329) (435,233
Net cash flows from REEBMERERETE
operating activities 116,353 74,739 193,441 257,243
Net cash flows (used inl/from REEH (R /F8
investing activities REness (114,742) (50,392) (118,623 210,545
Net cash flows used in REZBMARERERE
financing activities - (15,117) (73,154) (450,665)
Net increase in cash and RekReEEMILMFE
cash equivalents 1,611 9,230 1,664 17,123
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35. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 3B EEEARFEIERERZIER
WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING EfBAE @
INTERESTS (continued)

CR Liaoning
Jian Gong Healthcare
Hospital RunNeng CR Wugang Group

i

fe= Bk B EBRE  RREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERETR AREBTR ARBTR ARETR

Revenue W 906,642 687,824 1125687 3,440,842
Total expenses, net LR (850,094)  (638,624) (1,078,110)  (3,110,860)
Profit for the year EEFH 56,449 49,200 48,077 344,558
Total comprehensive income FEZAKRALE

for the year 56,548 49,200 47,577 329,982
Current assets MBEE 522,923 517,327 637,510 1,694,482
Non-current assets FRBEE 294,736 120,926 286,250 2,769,493
Current liabilities nEas (192,103) (168,258) (484,738)  (1,404,891)
Non-current liabilities el E=NE (3,593) (13,173)  (101,638)  (336,613)
Net cash flows from REEHERENERHE

operating activities 73,741 76,179 174,632 605,741
Net cash flows (used in}/from REEE B /s

investing activities Benss (37,859) (89,379) (150,417) 747,158
Net cash flows used in MEGEMARERE

financing activities (36,749) = (69,444) (1,354,529
Net decrease in cash and cash ReMREEEMAVTE

equivalents (867) (13,200) (35,229) (1,630)
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
RMB48,554,000 and RMB48,554,000, respectively,
in respect of lease arrangements for properties (2023:
RMB121,314,000 and RMB121,314,000).

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities

2024

6. ISR T EHRRAMEE

(a) EEIFRERH

FRN AEBHEYEREL
HERMz2ERREEREE
BENERSEMS B A
R 148,554,000 M A R #&
48,554,000t (20234 : A
R 1121,314,000 70 A A R #&
121,314,000 7T) °

(b) REEMEEZHEENEGR
;=10
2024

Interest-

bearing

bank Lease Other
borrowings liabilities liabilities

5t
oM HEAE  HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTRT ARBTT

At 1 January 2024 R2024%F181H 2,162,720 148,670 30,151
New leases MAE - 48,554 -
Changes from financing EERHEREH

cash flows (726,303) (38,039) (2,485)
Interest expense M EREx 53,478 7,536 2,689
Interest paid classifiedas D EAZEERETH

financing cash flows BEAFE (53,478) (7,536) (2,689)
At 31 December 2024 12024128310 1,436,417 159,185 27,666
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36. iERERERRNME @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) REEMEFHEENEGRE
financing activities (continued) 25 @
2023 20234

Interest-

bearing
bank Lease Other
borrowings liabilities liabilities

Es
IRITERR HE&R HthaR|
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT AREBTRT

At 1 January 2023 7 2023F1H1H 2,327,899 73,824 30,151
New leases HEE = 121,314 =
Changes from financing EEHERED

cash flows (218,813) (46,468) =
Foreign exchange bE 2 B Ef

movement 53,634 - -
Interest expense FERX 109,810 5,052 1,406
Interest paid classified as D EAZERESRY

financing cash flows BT E (109,810) (5,052) (1,408)
At 31 December 2023 7202312831 H 2,162,720 148,670 30,151
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:

36. AR MEBRRIME @

(c) HERE MR

UTARERERKRPIEIENE
BRSMHRE

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREF T ARETF T

Within operating activities REEHN 8,969 9,403
Within financing activities MEEEFRN 45,575 51,520
54,544 60,923

37. COMMITMENTS

37. A

2024 2023
2024 & 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®¥T T
Contracted, but not provided for: EETANERERE
Property, plant and equipment YIZ - BB R RS 132,683 312,252
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38. FAKt 53 5

B BA T 3R 2 EL (M BB ) PR B 0 4
B EHRRPHEN AEE
ENREMSNEATSNT

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) In addition to the balances, arrangements and (a)
transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following material

transactions with related parties during the year:

2024
2024 5

RMB'000

AR®ET T

2023
20234
RMB'000
AREF T

Healthcare services BERT
Subsidiaries controlled by FEZEHER AR
China Resources (TP EZEET))
Company Limited Zigzaal
("CR Co.")* BB A 0 4,831 2415 A
Hospital management BIREERT
service
Subsidiaries controlled by F [ 2 S Pl 2
CR Co. I B A E) 90,451 58,245 B
An associate i —l/NE 1,351 2,666
Other income Hng A
Subsidiaries controlled by [ 2 S P iR
CR Co. M B A 62,982 23,984 C
Purchases of goods REEm
Subsidiaries controlled by F [B 2E R Piy 2
CR Co. M B A 1,239,075 1,056,968 D
Interest income on bank IRITEMRFI S WA
deposits
Subsidiaries controlled by F [ 2= S P 2
CR Co. R E AT 1 2 E
Other purchases and HiixiERnER
expenses
Subsidiaries controlled by F [ 2= R Pl R
CR Co. B A F] 85,010 76,874 F
Lease expenses HERX
Subsidiaries controlled by A [ 2 R P R
CR Co. M B A 1,485 583 G
@ CR Co. is the ultimate holding company of the Group. @ FEZEHARNERNREIZER AT ©
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b) Outstanding balances with related
parties:

Due from related parties

38. BBt A3 5 @

(b) ELRAEETS BYiE RIEBEEER

FENS It 75 7k IR

2024 2023
2024 4F 2023 £

RMB’000
ARETTT

RMB'000
ARETT

Subsidiaries controlled by R B 2 S P 1 Y
CR Co. B AT

Trade in nature =L 23,434 22,660 H
Non-trade in nature EEZMHE 16,296 9,553 |
39,730 32,213

The amounts due from related parties are unsecured,

interest-free and repayable within one year.

Due to related parties

FEURBIR: D B S BT 22
RABR—FERER -

FEAT B 75 7k B

2024 2023
2024 F 20234

RMB'000 RMB'000

Subsidiaries controlled by FR 3 2 R P R I Y
CR Co. M B AE

ARETT ARBTT

Trade in nature B5HE 399,142 348,674 D
Non-trade in nature JEEZMHE 36,261 20,507 J
435,403 369,181

The amounts due to related parties are unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand.

FEATRAR D MIEAEIER 28
KRB EREE o

ERBRIERARAR —T_NFERS
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. Flt AR 5 @
(continued)
(b) Outstanding balances with related (b) ELRFEK S RIMREESE -
parties: (continued) (&
Bank balances IRIT4EER
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EF T AREF T
Subsidiaries controlled by R B 2 P R 1 BY
CR Co. NN 5,497 1,008 E
The bank balances carried interest at a rate of 0.20% SRITASERTH IR EFZ0.20% (2023
(2023: 0.20%) per annum. F:10.20%) 5 E °
Dividend receivables FEUS IR B
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREEF T ANREETF T
Dividend receivables from B = AT IR E
associates (note 26) (P £ 26) 87,351 =
(c) Compensation of key management (c) ZEEFFTEESEHEABZH
personnel of the Group: B -
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREEFT AREEF T
Short term employee benefits fHREE R 14,430 12,868
Post-employment benefits BEI BB A 591 450
Total compensation paid to key AEEEEAESZEN
management personnel 48 28 15,021 13,318
Further details of directors' and the chief executive’s EERBENNENE—TEB
emoluments are included in note 10 to the financial B SR EMIEE10 ©
statements.
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Notes:

A

The corresponding related party transactions constituted Continuing
Connected Transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
(“Connected Transaction(s)"”) but were fully exempted from the relevant
disclosures and other requirements, including, announcements, circulars
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements and annual
reports in accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) (the “Relevant
Requirements”) pursuant to rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules.

The corresponding related party transactions constituted Continuing
Connected Transactions, which were governed by the Supply Chain
Cooperation Framework Agreement dated 29 December 2022 and its
Supplemental Cooperation Framework Agreement dated 26 April 2024
entered into between the Company and CR Pharmaceutical Group
for fiscal year 2024, and the cooperation agreement dated 12 March
2021 and its supplemental agreement dated 11 March 2024 entered
into between Hubei Runkang Healthcare Management Co.,Ltd. and
Shenzhen Runtou Consulting Co.,Ltd. for fiscal year 2024, and were
subject to Relevant Requirements. The Relevant Requirements with
respect to these transactions had been complied with.

The corresponding related party transactions amounting to
RMB62,799,000 in 2024 (2023: RMB23,984,000) constituted Continuing
Connected Transactions, which were governed by the Sales of Medical
Supplies Framework Agreements dated 8 February 2024 entered
into by the Company and CR Healthcare (excluding the hospitals of
the Group) and the member hospitals of Aerospace Medical for fiscal
year 2024, and were subject to Relevant Requirements. The Relevant
Requirements with respect to these transactions had been complied
with.

The corresponding related party transactions constituted Continuing
Connected Transactions, which were governed by the pharmaceuticals,
medical device and medical consumables supply framework agreement
dated 18 November 2022 and its supplemental framework agreement
dated 26 April 2024 entered into between the Company and China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited for fiscal year 2024, and were
subject to the Relevant Requirements. The Relevant Requirements with
respect to these transactions had been complied with.

The corresponding related party transactions constituted Continuing
Connected Transactions, which were governed by the original strategic
cooperation agreement dated 18 November 2022 entered into between
the Company and China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR
Bank"”) and China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR Trust”) for
fiscal year 2024, and were subject to the Relevant Requirements. The
Relevant Requirements with respect to these transactions had been
complied with.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. Rk A R 57 w

(continued)
Notes: (continued) M (&)
F The corresponding related transactions amounting to RMB26,512,000 F %2024 FEAEA R 26,512,000 7T (20234 :

in 2024 (2023: RMB14,405,000) constituted Continuing Connected
Transactions, which were governed by the 2024 IT Services Annual
Agreement dated 8 February 2024 entered by CR Hospital Investment
and CR Digital for fiscal year 2024, and were subject to the Relevant
Requirements, and such relevant requirements had been complied
with.

The corresponding related transactions amounting to RMB2,654,000
in 2024 (2023: nil) constituted Continuing Connected Transactions,
which were governed by the Logistics Services Framework Agreement
dated 8 February 2024 entered by the Company’s subsidiary, Beijing
Wanrong Yikang Medical Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“"WRYK"), and CR
Pharmaceutical Commercial for fiscal year 2024, and were subject to
the Relevant Requirements, and such relevant requirements had been
complied with.

The corresponding related transactions amounting to RMB4,511,000 in
2024 (2023: nil) constituted Continuing Connected Transactions, which
were governed by the Aerospace Medical Procurement of Consultation
Services Framework Agreement dated 8 February 2024 entered by the
Company and Aerospace Medical for fiscal year 2024, and were subject
to the Relevant Requirements, and such relevant requirements had
been complied with.

The corresponding related transactions amounting to RMB32,164,000
in 2024 constitute Continuing Connected Transactions, which
were governed by the Property Management Services Framework
Agreement dated 25 March 2024 entered by the Company and CR
Mixc Group, and were subject to the Relevant Requirements, and such
relevant requirements had been complied with (2023: RMB8,970,000
governed by Bengang Hospital Property Services Agreement and was
subsequently covered by Property Management Services Framework
Agreement).

G The Group's addition to right-of-use assets as a result of new leases G
entered into with the subsidiaries controlled by CR Co. during the
year amounted to RMB6,281,000. In addition, rental expenses of
RMB1,485,000 was incurred during the year, the amount of which was
not included in the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

H

Among the total outstanding amounts due from related parties as of
31 December 2024 and 2023 which are trade in nature, RMB6,328,000
(2023: RMB8,860,000) were management service charge receivable,
which were governed by the continuing connected transaction
cooperation agreements entered into between the Company and CR
Pharmaceutical Group, and were subject to Relevant Requirements.
The Relevant Requirements with respect to these transactions had
been complied with.

Among the total outstanding amounts due from related parties as of 31
December 2024 which are non-trade in nature, RMB1,291,000 (2023:
RMB755,000) were deposits paid pursuant to the lease agreements
entered into between the CRM Lessees (subsidiaries of the Company)
as lessees and CR Land Hongjing Fengtai Branch (a branch company
of a subsidiary of CR Land) as lessor. The corresponding related party
transactions were subject to the Relevant Requirements but were
exempt from circular and independent shareholders’ approval pursuant
to rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules, and such relevant requirements
had been complied with. Other remaining amounts as of 31 December
2024 were incurred in relation to the transactions with connected
parties of the Company which were fully exempted from the Relevant
Requirements.

Among the total outstanding amounts due to related parties as of
2024 which are non-trade in nature, RMB511,000 (2023: RMB454,000)
was expenditure on property management fees, while the remaining
amounts were incurred in relation to a connected transaction under
the agreement of the Subscription Agreement entered into by Wugang
Hospital and Runjia Property Services (Wuhan) Co., Ltd., which is
subject to the relevant requirements but were exempt from circular
and independent shareholders’ approval pursuant to rule 14A.76(2) of
the Listing Rules, and such relevant requirements had been complied
with. Other remaining amounts as of 31 December 2024 were incurred
in relation to the transactions with connected parties of the Company
which were fully exempted from the Relevant Requirements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (&5 HBEHEIN 0 UARETIR)

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 3. MOEEMIT A
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RREAARZHEINEHM T ENERE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as Le(I
follows:
2024 2024 &
Financial assets THEE

Financial

assets at
FVTPL - Financial
Mandatorily assets
measured  at amortised
as such cost

MAREE

SEAR
A
1B ISR Y
HE—  WAHEN
BRELULHE  eREE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTTE ARBTRE ARETR

Receivables from 10T KEIOTETZ
hospitals FEW B - 8,231 8,231
Trade and bills receivables FEW B 5 7018 K e U
Z5 - 1,412,156 1,412,156

Financial assets included in FTATENRIE s REE K
prepayments, deposits and HhpEY FIE

other receivables NETmEE - 385,910 385,910
Due from related parties & UKt A Bk 75 TR IE - 39,730 39,730
Financial assets at FVTPL MAnBEstEAH

EET ABm
TREE 34,855 - 34,855
Restricted and pledged bank  FR&I4F B3R T

deposits FR - 76,453 76,453

Cash and cash equivalents BERIREEEY - 977,333 977,333

34,855 2,899,813 2,934,668
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 3. HoEEMITHw
CATEGORY (continued)
2024 (continued) 2024 ﬂi (#8)
Financial liabilities THEE
Financial
liabilities
at amortised
cost
stER
TRaE
RMB'000
AREFT
Trade and bills payables BB SRIBREN R 1,696,260
Financial liabilities included in other stAE MBS RIE K T E B
payables and accruals NEmEEs 1,487,474
Due to related parties FE{IRARE 5 718 435,403
Interest-bearing bank borrowings s EIRITER 1,436,417
Lease liabilities HEaE 159,185
5,214,739
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (continued)
2023

Financial assets

2023

THEE
Financial
assets at
FVTPL —
Mandatorily

measured
as such

HUAREE

sEAH
BENA
B ISR

HE—
Sl
RMB’000
ARBF T

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. HoEEMIT Hw

Financial
assets

at amortised
cost

g b
RSt EHY
TREE
RMB’000
ARET T

a3t
RMB'000
ARHETT

Receivables from |OT KB IOTEEZ
hospitals FEW R IE - 37,434 37,434
Trade and bills receivables FEWL & 5 Fh I8 K FE UK
T - 1,535,652 1,535,652
Financial assets included in STATENRIE ~ R E K
prepayments, deposits and H gz IE
other receivables NEREE - 246,737 246,737
Due from related parties & WS B B 5 =B - 32,213 32,213
Financial assets at FVTPL UrnEBEtEEH
E st ABm
THEE 49,084 - 49,084
Restricted and pledged bank  [EIMEH B ERTT
deposits TN - 44,285 44,285
Cash and cash equivalents REMREEEY - 1,236,097 1,236,097
49,084 3,132,418 3,181,502
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)

39. MOEEMIT Ew

2023 (continued) 2023 ﬂi (#8)
Financial liabilities EHERE
Financial
liabilities
at amortised
cost
FHEM
EHMEE
RMB'000
AR¥T T
Trade and bills payables BB SRIBREN R 1,731,495
Financial liabilities included in other FFARMENTIERESER
payables and accruals NEmas 1,657,443
Due to related parties FE{IRARE 5 718 369,181
Interest-bearing bank borrowings stEIRITER 2,162,720
Lease liabilities HEas 148,670
5,969,509

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, restricted and pledged bank deposits,
trade and bills receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, balances
with related parties, the current portion of other financial
assets at amortised cost, trade and bills payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals and
the current portion of interest-bearing bank borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

0. EMIANAREBERAR
BEER

EEEMGTRERBEEFEY R
HEMERFIRITER  BRE S
EREWRRE st ARNRIE  RER
R A FE WG TR RY < BR B 2 £ A e
HEAER S Hith R BIHN A EN S
MEENRRD BNESZREK
PR R IE ~ 5t A EL M B A FRIB K FE 51
ERMNERARUA BRITERN
ey AREBEETRIHARARR
o PRUERARBERIREE -
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
|NSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of receivables from IOT hospitals, the
non-current portion of other financial assets at amortised
cost and interest-bearing bank borrowings have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The directors
of the Company consider there is no significant difference
between the carrying amounts of these financial assets
and financial liabilities and their fair values.

The fair value of the listed financial asset at FVTPL is
based on quoted market prices.

The fair value measurement of the Group's financial
assets at FVTPL at the end of the reporting period falls
into level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets
and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

0. TR TANAREBEERAR

EBEER @

THEENBRNAABERERNR
% GRS E HERN) hE S BE
M T ENEZEEAR - LT AENR
RWMARFHERAERE

B 0T B8 e 2 & WUk IR e H At 3% # 85
A ENERMEERS SRITEMR
RIERBE O AREE  HEHRABA
BRLURR - 58 R KRR &2 A
FRBY T RIRE RIS M RALF AR
RERERSABE - FXATNEEID /X
FTHEERTHEENREERRK
ENARNBELIEEAER -

UrnEBESEEEEHF ABEEDN
EHEREENAABERENRTZERE -

FEBURABESFEEHEFH A
BaNTMEERKRSHRNAAE
Bt EBANBERBBIE K-

1R2024F12 831 H » KEFE W ETM
DARBESENERERE (2023 4F :

-
) o

FRCEMEENETHEEES K
ME_RZBEBAFELABEFEN
B R A H B = RAVER R (2023
FIE) o

» 226 China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise
cash and cash equivalents, restricted and pledged bank
deposits, other financial assets at amortised cost, financial
assets at FVTPL, payables to the Sponsored Hospitals
and interest-bearing bank borrowings. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to finance the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as receivables from IOT hospitals,
trade and bills receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, balances
with related parties, trade and bills payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, and
lease liabilities, which mainly arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

1. BHREEEERREE

AEENTEZESRTAGERESRER
TEHB/Y - [REMEMEILIRRITER
HMRBHEASSHENETHEE U
AnBEFEEHSEHAABTNE
R E - B R MRERMRIBEMNRE
BRITER - BLEEMITENTER
NEAEEBENEZSRHES A&
EEEHMIBEREENER  f
MR B I0T Bl 2 EURUE ~ BRE 5
IR EWERE ~ sTATRNRIR  (ReE
EREMBURBENEREE K58
BMENGEHR BNEBEZREREMRE
BStARMBNRIERESERN
THEE  UAEEER  TEEEK
BHEZEF -

rEETMTEEENEIZAKREN
KREREINERE  EERE  RABE
TEBREDEERR EFEESL
TEEEESER KRB  BEHRL
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT M. BFEEEEREERBE®

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates. The
Group does not use derivative financial instruments to
hedge its interest rate risk. The Group mitigates this risk
by closely monitoring the movements in interest rates and
reviewing its available credit facilities and their utilisation
regularly.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax
(through the impact on interest-bearing bank borrowings).

) 2R [ B

FEBAZNTSNRETRABEE
HEAERBAFHF RGN BIRITE
HAEM-AEBETEERATESRT
BHHMHEMKER - AERBBEZY)
BEENXEHVT EHEEHITAEE
BEREERBERRAEESERER

TRETTEMBHMEERT I E
RERT » ZEBENRATFE (BBF
St RIRTER B XSETEEH
HOSRRKIE ©

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in basis in profit
points before tax
B GIETIEINES
@, CeiZl)  3ghn CRi)
\V/[=0[0[0]
ARET T
2024 2024 &
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEIRITER 50 (3,724)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings st EIRITER (50) 3,724
2023 20234
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEIRITER 50 (10,764)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHEIRITER (50) 10,764
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures mainly arise from operating and financing
transactions of operating units in currencies other than the
unit's functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
HK$ exchange rates, with all other variables held constant,
of the Group's profit before tax (due to changes in the fair
values of monetary assets and liabilities).

HHEREEBEREE @

I EE LB
FERBRE EHER - ILEERE

EREKEEMUUEINEGRE LI
ERETHEENRERS °

TRETTHEMBHMEBERE &
BIERT xEERAMNE (AERE
ENEENRAANEEEE) RREHR
HEATEXSEAEEHBIERIE -

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in HKS rate before tax
BITEX GOEIEIpE!
1w, Gy a0 Gl
% RMB'000
ARETF T
2024 2024 &
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ WA R RBTEE 5 1,070
If the RMB strengthens against the WARERETHE
HK$ (5) (1,070)
2023 20234
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ W A R R B TEE 5 1,011
If the RMB strengthens against the WAREREBTHE
HK$ (5) (1,011)
Credit risk EE R
The Group mainly transacts with recognised and AEBTEHEDBUREERTHNFE=

creditworthy third parties. Receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure
to bad debts increased during the year mainly due to
acquisition/consolidation of hospitals, which are subject to
tighter regulation of medical insurance.

HETRS - BURIBHREAE R B
BEE - MASEENRRERN A& F
TERERWE SHBRMAFEM &
LREHRERSNBRFREEE
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT M. UBRAMEEBEREER @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging Bx 1= [ i e F 425 PR B
The tables below show the credit quality and the TREVNENRAEBEERRNEE
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's BEAeGEERE  TEEN AR
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due B (GRIFEEMER A ERAMHAL
information unless other information is available without ERANBHNERTER » Rit12
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification B3IWHHNEFEEBEDE -MEYHNE
as at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross R REIE RIS EARRRMEE ©

carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2024 52024 F12531H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12188
BHEE
BE 2HRMEEES

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
BB BB FIMEBE  BIERE =E
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEETT AEETR AREFR ARETR ARBTR

Receivables from 10T hospitals REIOTERZ BB

— Not yet past due — HRBEA 8,231 14,443 = = 22,674
Trade receivables* EWEZ7E" - - - 1642018 1,642,018
Bills receivables RlER

— Not yet past due — HRBE 182 = = = 182
Contract assets ANEE - - - 5,093 5,093
Financial assets included in SABMTRIE  FEEK

prepayments, deposits and HitEKBNEREE

other receivables

— Normal** ——fig** 385,910 - - - 385,910

— Doubtful** — RIR* - - 92,966 - 92,966
Due from related parties ks A B

— Normal** ——fig** 16,296 - - 23,434 39,730
Pledged and restricted deposit BREHREIEER

— Not yet past due — HXaH 76,453 - - - 76,453
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY

— Not yet past due — BRBEA 977,333 = = - 977333

1,464,405 14,443 92966 1,670,545 3,242,359
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT M. MERBREEEERBEE®
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging B = [ B e SE 45 B B )

(continued)
As at 31 December 2023 §22023F12531H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12188
I
BB SHBEREERE

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
B1BE  B2BEBE EIBBR  BLRE =
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR AREFR ARBTR

Receivables from 0T hospitals REI0TERR 2 EWE

— Not yet past due — R 37,434 15,541 - - 52,975
Trade receivables* EREZHE" - - - 1,981,230 1981230
Bills receivables EBEE

— Not yet past due — HERBH 132 - - = 132
Contract assets BHEE - = - 21,603 21,603
Financial assets included in SABAHE  REERK

prepayments, deposits and HitERmENEREE

other receivables

— Normal** ——fR** 256,171 - - - 256,171

— Doubtful** —RiEH - - 87,085 - 87,085
Due from related parties e AR

— Normal** ——fg** 9,553 - - 22,660 32,213
Pledged and restricted deposit EEENRAEER

— Not yet past due — HERBH 44,285 - = = 44,285
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREZEY

— Not yet past due — kA 1,236,097 . . 1236097

1,683,672 15,541 87,086 2,025493 3,711,791

o For trade receivables and contract assets to which the Group applies the 2 AL R ERSCRES ANEKE ZRIE
simplified approach for impairment, information based on the provision ENEE > ERBEERNERDBIRE
matrix is disclosed in notes 24 and 25 to the financial statements. SRR MI5E24 K 25 5 ©

BB The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, oG SABNRIE  RESREMEWRIEN &
deposits and other receivables and amounts due from related REEMURERREEASRBN ARG > 1T
companies is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due BREERKRPZTIEEBIBERLUR
and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a EERREZEN EEEEEHRA —
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the B TR tREENGEHEREA R
credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”. b

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's EAEEREWREZRBEBMEEDN

exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are EERBNE—FTECHIBTEMHER

disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements. RMIEE24 HINEE ©

ERBRIERARAR —T_NFERS




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR M EE

0770 = |

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

41.

(FEHAIRABI  LARKEIIT)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage
of funds. The Group's exposure to liquidity risk arises
primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial
assets and liabilities. The Group monitors its risk to a
shortage of funds by considering the maturities of both its
financial liabilities and financial assets. Note 2.1 explains
management’s plan in managing the liquidity needs of the
Group to enable it to continue to meet its obligations as
they fall due.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
borrowings. The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash
and cash equivalents to meet its liquidity requirements.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

41.

On demand/
less than

1 year

BER/
DR
RMB'000
ARETT

HHEEREIEBZEREE @

MENE & A

NBEZRBIEAEBERNE SRR
BUBTHMGEENAR -A&£EE
BHNABESERTIEREETHEE
MaENIRB#EE AEEBEE
FEHeENEHEENZRNARE
EE SRR AR - MizE2.1 RAEE
BEEBAERERDHESRE  HHAE
PR EIHASEERYETE] o

FEBNEREEBEARTHERE
ESHEEMENEE T BRE T -
FEBSHEMEFEANRERRESE
BY > LmeERBEEFENK -

REGRARERCR REPRLKE
EEmaENIBBERNT

2024
2024

1tob5years  Qver b5 years Total

SELE
RMB'000
NS

At
RMB'000
ARET 7T

1254
RMB'000
AEEFT

Trade and bills payables ENEZHERENER 1,696,260 - - 1,696,260

Financial liabilities included in AR MM SIBREST
other payables and accruals ERNSRHERE 1,487,474 - - 1,487,474
Due to related parties FEI R A RV 435,403 - - 435,403
Interest-bearing bank borrowings st B R{T1ERT 734,704 741,739 = 1,476,443
Lease liabilities HEafE 58,459 103,929 11,721 174,109
Others liabilities Hia® - 19,400 6,467 25,867
4,412,300 865,068 18,188 5,295,556
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. BEEEEEEERBE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEBEERR @

2023
20235
On demand/
less than

1 year Ttob5years  QOverb years Total
BEX/
DR E 1255 BEMNE ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE#EFTT ARETR AR®TR AREBTR

Trade and bills payables ENEZHERENER 1,731,495 - - 1,731,495
Financial liabilities included in 5t AT RIB R AER
other payables and accruals ERNEHEE 1,657,443 = = 1,657,443
Due to related parties IR A 369,181 - - 369,181
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5t B3R1T{ERT 1,303,953 910,193 = 2,214,146
Lease liabilities HE&E 37,856 85,684 14,904 138,444
Others liabilities Hias - 19,400 10,347 29,747
4,999,928 1,015,277 25,251 6,040,456
Equity price risk R B A
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity 2 B A% R B 4 FR 5 2 45 AN 1E Y
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of BEEENEHERNERESLAN
equity indices and the value of individual securities. The BETHENER AEBNERERS
Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from an equity R OB B 2024 F12 831 Hst A
investment included in financial assets at FVTPL (note 21) UnnBEFEEHEHESH: T AEBRN
as at 31 December 2024. The Group's listed investment is TMEBENRALE ([H:F21) o A&
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and is valued at BN EMEERSBEAM LM B
a quoted market price at the end of the reporting period. RERSHARUATIZREGE ©
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT M. BFEEEEREERBE®
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

EmEBRERE @

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every TREXRTEMEEMESEREAE
5% change in the fair value of the equity investment, with BB ER  ERXREAKEER
all other variables held constant and before any impact SHAMNEERE X REAKEN A ALE
on tax, based on its carrying amount at the end of the BEEEE5% NFRHED T

reporting period.

Carrying Increase/
amount (decrease)
of equity in profit

investment before tax
RAKEE GIEIEAINES
IREE el
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARETT

2024 2024
Investment listed in: KE > EmR:
Hong Kong - Financial assets at BB —UAnBESER
FVTPL HEHst ABEN
TRIEE 34,855 1,743/(1,743)
2023 20234

Investment listed in:
Hong Kong — Financial assets at
FVTPL

RE > EHR
BE —UAnBESER
HEHt ABEN
TMEE 49,084  2,454/(2,454)
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital Management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by total assets.
The adjusted gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December
2024 was 10.8% (2023: 15.8%).There were no changes in
the Group's approach to capital management for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

41.

iR e MR M EE

(RBEIEIHEI > LUARHTIR)
MR EEBEEREE @

BEARER

FEBESEENTIEZARAERE
EEFEEEREN  HERREELSL
o PURFHEBITRBBEARKREE -

FEBEEERERE  THEFEENR
mHEEHRAREENRERSBFH
SR o D[ERNABRERERE  FEE
AIAERAERARRIKMIRE  REIR
RESHHITHRD ©

AEBRBEEERTERGUBEE
ENLHIEBEEHEEREE  AEER
202412 831 HMRAEBIRLLE A
10.8% (20234 : 15.8%) ° & £ 2024
F£12H31HKk2023F 12831 HIE4E

EHRRERARAR
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42. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

China Resources Hospital
Management & Consulting Co.
Ltd.

ERRREELHERA

Jian Gong Hospital

BBk

S0

WRYK

Beijing Phoenix Jiayi Medical
Devices Co., Ltd.
FRBREHBESMERAT

Beijing Fenghuanglian Medical Supply
Chain Management Co., Ltd
FRBEHBHREEERERAR

Shenzhen Yukangrun Hospital
Management Co., Ltd.
AT REEEREEERA

China Resource Hospital
Investment (China) Co., Ltd.
ERRRERE (TE) BRAF

China Resources Hospital
Management Co., Ltd.
EREREEERAT

Place of

incorporation/
registration

and business
AL/ E
REZHZ

PRC/Chinese
Mainland"®

thiE,/ s st 0

PRC/Chinese
Mainland?

]/ thER

PRC/Chinese
Mainland?

]/ thER

PRC/Chinese
Mainland?

I/ thER

PRC/Chinese
Mainland"®

thiE,/ s st 0

PRC/Chinese
Mainland?

I/ thER

PRC/Chinese
Mainland"®

e/ thE g 0

PRC/Chinese
Mainland?

I/ thER

Paid-up capital/
registered capital
BlEx/
HREX

RMB500,000,000

AE#500,000,0007
RMB420,552,600

A EH420,552,6007
RMB3,000,000
ARH3,000,0007
RMB4,000,000
ARH4,000,0007
RMB5,000,000
ARH5,000,0007
RMB10,000
AR10,0007
RMB256,940,378/
USD100,000,000
NEM256,940,37870/
100,000,000 %7
RMB18,675,000/
USD10,000,000

ARi#18,675,0007T,/
10,000,000 7T

Percentage of equity interest
attributable to
the Company
FABRMEREZ BN

2024 2023

20245 2023
% %

100.00 100.00

80.00 80.00
100.00 100.00
100.00 100.00
100.00 100.00
100.00 100.00
100.00 100.00
100.00 100.00
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Principal activities

IBEH

Investment holding and
hospital management

RERRKEREE

Genergl healthcare
services

REBRRE

GPO business

GPOEH

GPO business

GPOEH

Hospital management

Bir BIRAR

Investment holding

Hospital management

services

Bl E2R%

Hospital management
services

Bl E2R%
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42. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

China Resources Hospital Holding
Company

ERERERERAR

Run Neng

3

Jinan Bei Cheng Hospital

VDl

Huaikuang Hospital*

ERER

Beijing CEEC Hospital*

Pl 2 [y

Guangdong CEEC Power
Hospital*
ERTERENER

Guangxi Hydropower Hospital

ERKEER’

Huai'An Huaiyin Hospital
Investment and Management
Co,, Ltd.

ERmEREREEERE
BRAR

Place of

incorporation/
registration

and business
AR/
REEMZ

PRC/Chinese
Mainland®

e/ HERH?

PRC/Chinese
Mainland?

e/ HERH?

PRC/Chinese
Mainland?

e/ HERH?

PRC/Chinese
Mainland
e,/ HE R

PRC/Chinese
Mainland
e,/ HE R

PRC/Chinese
Mainland
e,/ HE R

PRC/Chinese
Mainland
e,/ HE R

PRC/Chinese
Mainland®

e/ HER?

Paid-up capital/
registered capital
BlEx/
HMER

RMB536,241,800/
RMB752,000,000
AE#536,241,80070,/
AE#752,000,00070

RMB318,818,000
AE1318,818,0007T
RMB338,000,000
AE1£338,000,0007T
RMB118,548,005/
RMB124,700,000
AE1118,548,005 7T/
AE#124,700,000 7
Ni/RMB300,000

5/
AR300,00075

RMB3,500,000/
RMB17,680,000
AE#3500,0007T,/
AR17,680,0007

Nil/
RIMB25,000,000

g
AE#25,000,000 7T

RMB700,000,000

AE#700,000,0007

(#8)

Percentage of equity interest
attributable to
the Company
RAFEMEREZ BN

100.00 100.00
65.00 65.00
100.00 100.00
100.00 100.00
65.00 65.00
65.00 65.00
65.00 65.00
80.00 80.00

42. FAT)EEMBRFNIFE

Principal activities

IBEH

Hospital management
services

BRERRH

Hospital management
services

B ERRH

General healthcare
services

GaBRES

General healthcare
services

GRBRES

General healthcare
services

GaBRES

General healthcare
services

GaBRES

General healthcare
services

BRI

Hospital management
services

BREERS
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42. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Huai'an City Huaiyin Hospital
Company Limited
ExmERERERAR

Guangdong 999 Brain Hospital

ER-NEHER

Xuzhou Mining Hospital*

TR B

CR Wugang

China Resources Wugang General
Hospital*
ERRMAaER

Wuhan Iron and Steel (Group)
Corporation No. 2 Staff
Hospital*

HERE (£E) 25
BRIRR

Liaoning Healthcare Industry Group
Co., Ltd.
RELRBREXEEERAR

Place of

incorporation/
registration

and business
AL/ E
REZHZ

PRC/Chinese
Mainland?

R/ RE e

PRC/Chinese
Mainland
e/ SE R

PRC/Chinese
Mainland
e/ SE R

PRC/Chinese
Mainland?

R/ RE e

PRC/Chinese
Mainland
e/ SE R

PRC/Chinese
Mainland

e/ SE R
PRC/Chinese

Mainland?

R/ RE e

Paid-up capital/
registered capital
BlEgx/
HREX

RMB43,361,500
AR43,361,5007T
RMBS3,600,000/
RMB588,000,000
AR83,600,0007,/
AE588,000,0007
RMB103,000,000/
RMB135,040,000
ARH103,000,0007T,/
AE135,040,0007
RMB433,041,528
AR¥433,041,5287%
RMB10,000,000
AE10,000,0007

RMB10,000,000

AE#10,000,0007

RMB2,737,241,644/
RMB3,090,962,200
AR2,737,241 64473/
ARH3,090,962,200 70

(#8)

Percentage of equity interest
attributable to
the Company
KABRMEREZ BN

80.00 80.00
100.00 100.00
100.00 100.00

51.00 51.00

51.00 51.00

51.00 51.00

76.10 76.10
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Principal activities

IBEH

General healthcare
services

RaBRRE

General healthcare
services

RaBRRE

General healthcare
services

RaBRRE

Hospital management
services

B EBRY
General healthcare
services

RaBRRE

General healthcare
services

RaBRRE

Hospital management

BREE
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42. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL 42. AT EENEATIREE
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY @

(continued)

Percentage of equity interest

attributable to
the Company
RAFEMEREZ BN
Place of
incorporation/
registration Paid-up capital/
and business registered capital Principal activities
AL/ s BlEx/
REEMZ ARER IBEH
Fushun Mining Bureau General PRC/Chinese Nil/ 76.10 76.10 Provision of general
Hospital of Liaoning Health Mainland RMB358,920,000 healthcare services
Industry Group*
FEARRELEMARERR TE/PERN g/ REGSBERY
AE#358,920,0007
Benxi Iron and Steel General PRC/Chinese RMB28,916,602/ 76.10 76.10 Provision of general
Hospital of Liaoning Health Mainland RMB334,430,000 healthcare services
Industry Group*
PEARRELEEAEERR  TE/PERN AR#28916,60275,/ REGSBERY
A E#334,430,0007
Tie Coal Group General Hospital PRC/Chinese RMB451,163,693/ 76.10 76.10 Provision of general
of Liaoning Health Industry Mainland RMB541,770,000 healthcare services
Group®
RELRREXERERARR T8/ RE AR451,163,6937/ REGEERRE
AE#541,770,0007
Liaoning Healthcare Industry PRC/Chinese Nil/ 76.10 76.10 Provision of general
Group Shenmei General Mainland RMB15,180,000 healthcare services
Hospital*
FEARRELEMIEERR:  TE/TERN g/ REGSBERY
AE#15,180,0007%
Fuxin Mining General Hospital of PRC/Chinese RMB128,830,000/ 76.10 76.10 Provision of general
Liaoning Health Industry Group* Mainland RMB566,839,300 healthcare services
REARREXEH "hE/HER AR#128,830,0007/ RUEGSRERS
BHRAER AE#566,839,3007¢
157 Hospital of Liaoning Health PRC/Chinese Nil/ 76.10 76.10 Provision of general
Industry Group* Mainland RMB22,030,000 healthcare services
PEARRELEE-RtER TE/TERN g/ RUGSBRRY
AE#22,030,0007%

ERBRIERARAR —T_NFERS
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42. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

General Hospital of
Pingxiang Mining Industry
Group Co., Ltd

SAREEEEREELT
MR

Fengcheng Mining Bureau
General Hospital®

SHEBREER!

Leping Mining Bureau First Staff
Hospital*

STRERESHIER"

Ruizhou Hospital®

Sl

Place of

incorporation/
registration

and business
AL/ E
REZHZ

PRC/Chinese
Mainland?

thiE /Py

PRC/Chinese
Mainland
B/ ERH

PRC/Chinese
Mainland
B/ ERH

PRC/Chinese
Mainland
B/ ERH

Paid-up capital/
registered capital
BlEgx/
HREX

RMB50,000,000

A EK#50,000,0007

RMB20,000,000
AE#20,000,0007
RMB5,295,712/
RMB50,320,000
ARI5,295,71275/
AR50,320,0007
RMB32,960,000

A EH32,960,0007

42. AT EEMBATRIFS

(#8)

Percentage of equity interest

attributable to
the Company

TAREEREZADL

2023 Principal activities

03F FTEEH
%

80.00 80.00 Provision of general
healthcare services

RIGSERRS

80.00 80.00 Provision of general
healthcare services

REGSERRS

80.00 80.00 Provision of general
healthcare services

REGSERRS

80.00 80.00 Provision of general
healthcare services

REGSERRS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

(1) These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises

under PRC law.

(2) These subsidiaries are registered as companies with limited under PRC
Law.

0 These institutions, as not-for-profit hospitals, cannot be registered
as companies under PRC law. The sponsors of these not-for-profit
hospitals have respective obligations to contribute the start-up capital
to such hospitals. Such start-up capital, once contributed, shall not be
withdrawn by the sponsors. Given the charity nature of the not-for-profit
hospitals, the legal income of such hospitals shall only be used in line
with its purpose and within its business scope, and where applicable, in
accordance with the articles of association of such hospitals, therefore,
the net income is not distributable to its sponsors as dividends, which
is different from a shareholder who owns the equity interests of a
company.

The above subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

After the end of the reporting period, the directors
proposed a final dividend. Further details are disclosed in
note 13.

42.

43.

iR e MR M EE

(5 HREAES » UAREYITR)

AR EEMBRTRIFE

€)

(1) ZEMBRABRBREZEEMAIEEE
o

>E

2 ZEWBARRBFEAFIMABREE
NI

ul]

# ZERBERAIFENREL T RBETEE
BELIEARE - ZFFEFBRNBMA
HREBEBRAZEBEIATNBER - PIRE
R—ECEN > BPAB R RE - B IFE
FBENESEE 2ZBRNEERAR
FAEREENEEBEEN KR WER) RiE
BERBRNEASERMAER Bt A
FEAADKTERAGRRE R —
BABRBEIREARR o

LHANB AT R ABEERE °

IR EERRHIERELERBL
fEF‘%,. BN EEEEFENE

DHEABMBAT - EFTH
?mf,\/\fﬂﬁﬁ‘%“ HBERERERS
RE o

HEHRIFRARER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MR M EE

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RS HEEAEI » UANREESITR)

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  44. A2 BB FBiK R R E
OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position UTAERABDEERSEARZFHER
of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as MERFKRER .
follows:
2024 2023
2024 5 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T AREFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BB R RE 9 14
Investments in subsidiaries KB ABNKE 6,141,740 6,141,740
Right-of-use assets RS E 2,983 =
Due from subsidiaries FE UL Ff 8 A B 7018 3,521,753 1,115,187
Total non-current assets JERENE EARRE 9,666,485 7,256,941
CURRENT ASSET RENEE
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 30,881 49,474
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals HihERIBERESTER 850 9,016
Due to subsidiaries FET I B A B 7018 4,861,570 1,292,436
Interest-bearing bank borrowings st EIRITER = 1,002,500
Lease liabilities iEN=R=N| 1,019 =
Total current liabilities MENEEMEEE 4,863,439 2,303,952
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mMEBEFERE (4,832,558) (2,254,478)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT WEERTBERE
LIABILITIES 4,833,927 5,002,463
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBEE
Lease liabilities HEars 1,973 =
NET ASSETS BEFE 4,831,954 5,002,463
EQUITY Em
Share capital 14 267 267
Reserves (note) fEE (FIEE) 4,831,687 5,002,196
Total equity s 4,831,954 5,002,463
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (F(FHEIEAEIN > UARKETIR)

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 44. A BB R R @
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: B EE -
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: AABTHHEBEDT -
Share Treasury

premium Capital share Accumulated
account reserve reserve losses Total

BERH

ROWEE EEAR i RitE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFRE ARBFT ARBTFT ARETFT ARETR

At 1 January 2023 12023451818 5,614,571 (6,260)  (206,578)  (203,951) 5,197,782
Total comprehensive income FEL2EWALLE

for the year - - - (153,233) (153,233)
Final 2022 dividend 2022 FHREAB A (42,353) = - = (42,353)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023FE 12831 HK

1 January 2024 202441818 5,572,218 (6,260)  (206,578)  (357,184) 5,002,196
Total comprehensive income FE2EWALLE

for the year - - = (31,379) (31,379)
Final 2023 dividend 2023 XK (75,915) - - - (75,915)
Interim dividend FHAR B (63,215) - - - (63,215)
At 31 December 2024 12024412 531 8 5,433,088 (6,260)  (206,578)  (388,563) 4,831,687

45. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 45. BA TR R ;L E

STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised RN 2026F3 20 HEEZEET
for issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2025. HERIZREREY o
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY — IN ACCORDANCE WITH
IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

MHERE — REERMBERS T ER

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS &8 &4&

2024
2024 £

RMB'000
ARETT

For the year ended 31 December
BE12ANBLEE

2023
20234

RMB'000
ARETT

2022
2022
(restated)
)
RMB'000
ARET T

2021
20214

RMB'000
ARETT

2020
20204

RMB'000
ARETT

Revenue W& 9,854,790 10,107,500 7,901,287 4,447 477 2,750,650
Profit before tax GRS 838,670 492,921 422,941 270,475 418,185
Income tax (expenses)/ Fiisi (BR) /

credit % (166,923) (165,031) (94,660) 155,389 (97,864)
Profit for the year EEFE 671,747 327,890 328,281 425,864 320,321
Attributable to: BUR A LFEfL

Owners of the parent ISUN=IE7Z=IN 565,875 257,680 265,855 417,915 310,131

Non-controlling interests R ER 105,872 70,210 62,426 7,949 10,190

671,747 327,890 328,281 425,864 320,321

As at 31 December

®12831H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 2022 20214 20204
(restated)
(E751)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETT AR®Tx ARETT ARETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEKE&E
Total assets MEE 13,318,150 13,654,192 17,817,574 10,467,602 8,963,193
Total liabilities FEA=Y (5,820,082) (6,641,126) (7,163,674) (3,621,157) (2,622,739)
7,498,068 7,013,066 10,653,900 6,846,445 6,340,454
Attributable to: DR AL e :
Owners of the parent BABBEEA 6,213,536 5,312,061 9,506,211 6,450,776 6,105,456
Non-controlling interests JEPERRRE R 1,284,532 1,201,005 1,147,689 395,669 234,998
7,498,068 7,013,066 10,653,900 6,846,445 6,340,454

REEK 2023 FE6 BEME T HEZESTH
(S - HE2022F12831HIEEEN
MBRREKEY > UBEEaHERER
SHEZEH HER (B12022F6 52 H) LUK

GHERE -

The Group completed certain business combinations under
common control in June 2023. The financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022 have been restated to include
the combining entities from the date when the Group and the
combining entities first came under common control (i.e. 2 June
2022).
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“2019 Lease Agreement”

2022 CR Bank Strategic
Cooperation Agreement’’

2022 CR Trust Strategic
Cooperation Agreement’’

"2023 IT Services Annual
Agreement”

"2024 IT Services Annual
Agreement”

“2024 Lease Agreements”

"2025-2027 IT Services Annual
Agreement”

"“Aerospace Medical”

“Aerospace Medical
Procurement of Consultation
Services Framework
Agreement”

"Aerospace Medical Sales of
Medical Supplies Framework

Agreement”

“"Annual Caps”

B&

the lease agreement dated May 23, 2019 entered into between CR
Hospital Management & Consulting and CR Land Hongjing Fengtai
Branch

the strategic cooperation agreement entered into between the
Company and CR Bank on November 18, 2022

the strategic cooperation agreement entered into between the
Company and CR Trust on November 18, 2022

the information technology services annual agreement entered into
between CR Hospital Management & Consulting and CR Digital
Holdings on January 11, 2023, pursuant to which the CR Digital
Holdings together with its subsidiaries should provide the relevant
information technology services to the Group and its Sponsored
Hospitals during the term thereof

the information technology services annual agreement entered
into between CR Hospital Investment and CR Digital Holdings
on February 8, 2024, pursuant to which the CR Digital Holdings
together with its subsidiaries shall provide the relevant information
technology services to the Group and its Sponsored Hospitals during
the term thereof

the CR Hospital Management & Consulting Lease Agreement,
the CR Hospital Management Lease Agreement, the CR Hospital
Investment Lease Agreement, the Runneng Medical Lease
Agreement and the Phoenix Lianyi Lease Agreement. Please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated May 29, 2024 for more
details

the information technology services annual agreement entered
into between CR Hospital Investment and CR Digital Holdings on
December 30, 2024, pursuant to which the CR Digital Group shall
provide the relevant information technology services to the Group
and its Sponsored Hospitals during the term thereof

Beijing Aerospace Medical Co., Ltd.* (It KEEERAF), a
company established in the PRC with limited liability, which CRC
beneficially owns 51% of its equity materials

the consultation services framework agreement entered into
between the Company and Aerospace Medical on February 8, 2024

the sales of medical supplies framework agreement entered into
between the Company and Aerospace Medical on February 8, 2024

the revised annual cap for the year ended December 31, 2024 and
the proposed annual cap for the year ending December 31, 2025 for
the transactions contemplated under the Cooperation Framework
Agreement as agreed in the Supplemental Cooperation Framework
Agreement
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"Articles of Association” or
“Articles”

“Audit Committee”

“Award Shares”

“Bengang Hospital”

“Bengang Property Services
Agreement”

“Board"” or “Board of Directors”

“Business Travel Services
Framework Agreement”

“BVI"

"CG Code”

"Chairman”
"“Chief Executive Officer”
“Chief Financial Officer”

“China” or "PRC"

“China Resources Group”

"Companies Ordinance”

“Company” or “our Company”
or “China Resources Medical”

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

DEFINITIONS
(£

the articles of association of our Company adopted on September
30, 2013 and as amended from time to time

the audit committee of the Board

such Shares awarded pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, the
maximum number of which shall not exceed 5% of the total issued
capital of the Company as at August 31, 2018 and the maximum
number of which to each selected participant is 1% of the total
issued capital of the Company as at August 31, 2018

Liaoning Province Health Industry Group Bengang General Hospital*
(EELEBEEXERKINIZERT) , a Sponsored Hospital under the
Group

the property services agreement entered into between Bengang
Hospital and Runjia Property Service (Shenyang) on July 31, 2023

the board of Directors of our Company

the business travel services framework agreement relating to the
provision of certain business travel services dated December 30,
2024 entered into between the Company and CR Digital

the British Virgin Islands

Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules

the chairman of our Board
the chief executive officer of the Company
the chief financial officer of the Company

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this
report, Taiwan, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Hong
Kong

CRCL and its subsidiaries

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited (ZE & 58 & 1
2B R A F), a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability on February 28, 2013

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules, or where
the context requires, refers to China Resources Company Limited
(FRERZERH B BR/AT) (formerly known as China Resources National
Corporation (FR[E # E 42 /2 F))) or CRH or CR Healthcare (as the
case may be)
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"Cooperation Framework
Agreement”

“CR Bank”

“CRCL"

“CR Digital”

“CR Digital Group”

“CR Digital Holdings”

"CR Healthcare”

"CR Healthcare Sales of
Medical Supplies Framework
Agreement”

“CRH"

“CR Hospital Holdings "

"CR Hospital Investment”

"CR Hospital Management &
Consulting”

DEFINITIONS
(=

the Existing Cooperation Framework Agreement, as supplemented
by the Supplemental Cooperation Framework Agreement

China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., a municipal bank
headquarters in Zhuhai and a subsidiary of China Resources
Company Limited

China Resources Company Limited* (MBI ZEBEBR A F), a
company established in the PRC with limited liability and a state-
owned enterprise under the supervision of the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council in
the PRC

EBHHFRLARAS (China Resources Digital Company
Limited*), formerly known as HEE &4+ 24 (FY) BEREAQF
(Resolink Software Systems (Shenzhen) Company Limited*), a
company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability, and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC

CR Digital Holdings together with its subsidiaries

FEHHAER B E/A S (China Resources Digital Holdings Company
Limited*) (formerly known as & ZR B R A F), a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRCL, the controlling shareholder of CR Digital and
directly holds the entire equity interests in CR Digital

China Resources Healthcare Group Limited, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability, and a subsidiary of CRH

the sales of medical supplies framework agreement entered into
between the Company and CR Healthcare on February 8, 2024

China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, which is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of China Resources Company Limited and the
indirect holding company of CR Healthcare

China Resources Hospital Holdings Company, a company
established in the PRC with limited liability and a subsidiary of the
Company

China Resources Hospital Investment (China) Co., Ltd.* (ZEFE
& (P ) BBR/ATl), a company established in the PRC with limited
liability and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

China Resources Hospital Management & Consulting Co. Ltd.* (&
HEREEZHAABEAT) (formerly known as Beijing Phoenix
United Hospital Management Consulting Co. Ltd., Beijing Phoenix
United Hospital Management Co., Ltd. and Beijing Phoenix United
Hospital Management Joint Stock Co., Ltd.), a limited liability
company established under the laws of the PRC on November 6,
2007, and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
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“CR Land”

"CR Land Hongjing Fengtai
Branch”

“CR Mixc”

“CR Pharmaceutical”

"CR Pharmaceutical
Commercial”

"CR Pharmaceutical
Commercial Group”

"CR Pharmaceutical Group”

“"CRH PMM Framework
Agreement”

“CRH PMM Supplemental
Framework Agreement”

"CR Technology”

"CR Trust”

DEFINITIONS
(=

China Resources Land Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands with limited liability, the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1109), and a
subsidiary of CRH

the Fengtai branch of China Resources Land Hongjing (Beijing) Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (FEEEMSASE (JbR) Bt ERE
BEHEMRAT L A9 AT), a branch established in Fengtai District,
Beijing by China Resources Land Hongjing (Beijing) Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd., which is a subsidiary of CR Land

China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Ltd., a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands with limited liability, the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1209), and a
subsidiary of CR Land as well as CRH

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
3320), and a subsidiary of CRH

China Resources Pharmaceutical Commercial Group Company
Limited, a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability,
which is a subsidiary owned as to approximately 80.13% by CR
Pharmaceutical

CR Pharmaceutical Commercial together with its subsidiaries

CR Pharmaceutical and its subsidiaries

the pharmaceuticals, medical devices and medical consumables
framework agreement entered into between the Company and CRH
on November 18, 2022

the pharmaceuticals, medical devices and medical consumables
supplemental framework agreement entered into between the
Company and CRH on April 26, 2024

China Resources Healthcare Technology Development (China)
Co., Ltd* (EHRBRERKEXZERE(PE)BRAHE), a company
established in the PRC with limited liability and a wholly owned
subsidiary of CR Healthcare

China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd.* (ZEHFHEETERA

B]), a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and a
subsidiary of CRH
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"CRM Lessees”

"Director(s)”

“Eligible Persons”

"Existing Cooperation Framework
Agreement”

“FY2023"
“FY2024" or “Reporting Period”

"Group”, "our Group”,
“we” or “us”

“"HK$" or “"HKD" and
“HK cent(s)” or “cent(s)”

“Hong Kong”
“Huaikuang Hospital”

“Huaiyin Hospital”

“Hubei Runkang”

“IAS”

“IFRSs”

“10T"

"|OT Hospitals”

“Jing Mei Hospital”

U

"“Jing Mei Hospital Group'

“Listing Date”

“Listing Rules”

DEFINITIONS
(=

CR Hospital Management & Consulting, China Resources Hospital
Management Co., Ltd.* (EHEREIEABR 2L F) , CR Hospital
Investment, Runneng Medical Management Co.,Ltd.* CHEERES
A BR/AE)) and Beijing Phoenix Lianyi Supply Chain Management
Co., Ltd.* Jt R B R EBHEERESIERRAR)

the directors of our Company or any of them

any of the (i) key management personnel including the Directors
and senior management of the Group; (ii) employed experts as
nominated by the Board; and (iii) core employees of the Group

the cooperation framework agreement entered into between CR
Pharmaceutical and the Company on December 29, 2022 in respect
of the Supply Chain Management Services

the financial year ended December 31, 2023
the financial year ended December 31, 2024

our Company and its subsidiaries

Hong Kong dollar and cent(s) respectively, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
Huaibei Miner General Hospital* (#3558 T 4282 [5x)

Huai'an City Huaiyin Hospital Company Limited* (/&% iR RA
FR/AF]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability

Hubei Runkang Healthcare Management Company Limited,
a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and a
subsidiary of the Company

International Accounting Standards
International Financial Reporting Standards
the "“invest-operate-transfer” model

third-party hospitals and clinics, which we manage and operate
under the IOT model

Jing Mei Hospital* (16 R R WE &£ B4R B& F)

collectively, Jing Mei Hospital and its affiliated hospitals and
community clinics

the date on which dealings in the Shares first commence on the
Stock Exchange, i.e. November 29, 2013

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
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“Logistics Services Framework
Agreement”

“Model Code”

“New Wugang Property Services
Agreement”

“Nomination Committee”

"QOriginal Wugang Property
Services Agreement”

“OT"

“OT Hospital”

"Parties”

“"PMM"

“"PMM ltems”

"“Properties”

“Property Management Services
Framework Agreement”

"Remuneration Committee”

“RMB”

“Runijia Property Service
(Shenyang)”

“Runijia Property Service
(Wuhan)”

“SAR”

"Selected Participant(s)”

DEFINITIONS
(=

the logistics services framework agreement entered into between
WRYK and CR Pharmaceutical Commercial on February 8, 2024,
pursuant to which the CR Pharmaceutical Commercial Group shall
provide logistics services to the Group during the term thereof

The Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

the property services agreement entered into between Wugang
Hospital and Runjia Property Service (Wuhan) on February 8, 2024

the nomination committee of the Board

the property services agreement entered into between Wugang
Hospital and Runjia Property Service (Wuhan) on November 4, 2022

the “operate-transfer” model

third-party hospital which we manage and operate under the OT
model

CR Pharmaceutical and the Company, being the parties to each
of the Existing Cooperation Framework Agreement and the
Supplemental Cooperation Framework Agreement

pharmaceuticals, medical device and medical consumables

pharmaceuticals, medical device, medical consumables and non-
medical supply

Units 1401, 1403A, 1403, 1405, 1406, 1406A, 1406B, 1406C,
1407, 1407A, 1407B and 1502B on the 14th and 15th floor of China
Resources Kunlun Center Office Building, No. 5, Courtyard No. 9,
Fuyi Street, Fengtai District, Beijing, with a total leasable gross floor
area of 3,193.38 sg. m.

the property management services framework agreement entered
into between the Company and CR Mixc on March 25, 2024

the remuneration committee of the Board

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

Runjia Property Service (Shenyang) Co. Ltd.* CEIN¥YIZARTE (%)
BBR/AT]), a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of CR Mixc

Runijia Property Service (Wuhan) Co. Ltd.* GRS (F2) B
FfR ‘A=) , a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of CR Mixc

Special Administrative Region of the PRC

Eligible Persons selected by the Board in accordance with the terms
of the Share Award Scheme
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“SFO”

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)”

“Share Award Scheme”

"

“Sponsored Hospital(s)

"Stock Exchange”

"Stock Hospitals”

“Supplemental Cooperation
Framework Agreement”

"Supply Chain Cooperation
Framework Agreement”

"Supply Chain Management
Services”

“Supply Chain Management
Services Framework
Agreement”

“U.S. dollar” or “US$"

“WRYK"

“Wugang Hospital”

DEFINITIONS
(=

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time

share(s) with par value of HK$0.00025 each in the capital of our
Company

holder(s) of the Share(s)

the share award scheme of the Company adopted by the Board
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board on July 7, 2014, as
amended by the Board on May 25, 2015 and August 31, 2018,
respectively

the hospital(s) in the PRC whose sponsor is the Company or its
subsidiary(ies)

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

the medical institutions of the Group other than the LH Member
Institutions and the JE Member Medical Institutions

the supplemental cooperation framework agreement entered into
between the Company and CR Pharmaceutical on April 26, 2024 in
respect of supplemental particulars agreed in relation to the Supply
Chain Management Services

the cooperation framework agreement entered into between CR
Pharmaceutical and the Company on December 29, 2022 in respect
of the Supply Chain Management Services

the supply chain management services to be provided by the Group
to CR Pharmaceutical Group under the Cooperation Framework
Agreement

the supply chain management services framework agreement
entered into between the Company and CR Healthcare on February
8, 2024, pursuant to which the Group shall provide supply chain
management services to the hospitals of CR Healthcare (excluding
the hospitals of the Group) during the term thereof

United States dollar, the lawful currency of the United States of
America

ItREH%EREEEER/AT (Beijing Wan Rong Yi Kang Medical Co.
Ltd.*), a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and a

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

China Resources Wugang General Hospital* (£ 5 #4828 f )
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“"Wugang Hospital Group”

“Yan Hua Hospital”

“Yan Hua Hospital Investment
Management Agreement”

“Yan Hua IOT Agreement”

“Yan Hua Phoenix”

*

DEFINITIONS
(=

collectively, Wugang Hospital, Wuhan Iron and Steel (Group)
Corporation No. 2 Staff Hospital* (E EiH# (£E) A ABHE BT 8
F2) and certain affiliated hospitals and community clinics

Yan Hua Hospital* (3t 5 F(CE&Px)

the hospital investment management agreement dated February
4, 2008, which was supplemented in April 2008, December 2010,
June 2011, July 2013, September 2013 and October 2013, and were
entered into between CR Hospital Management & Consulting, Yan
Hua Hospital and Yan Hua Phoenix

the hospital management right and investment framework
agreement dated February 1, 2008 and the hospital investment
management agreement dated February 4, 2008, both of which
were supplemented in April 2008, December 2010, June 2011, June
2013, July 2013, September 2013 and October 2013, entered into
by CR Hospital Management & Consulting with Yan Hua Phoenix
and Yan Hua Hospital Group

Beijing Yan Hua Phoenix Healthcare Asset Management Co., Ltd.*
(IERFRCERBEEESIERR AR, alimited liability company
incorporated under the laws of the PRC on July 18, 2005

Denotes English translation of the name of a Chinese entity is provided for identification purpose only.

In this report, the terms “associate”, “connected person”, “connected transaction”, “subsidiary” and
“substantial shareholder” shall have the same meanings ascribed thereto under in the Listing Rules, unless the

context otherwise requires.
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DEFINITIONS
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